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EXQFRBARREZERNNEERS  YERRREEC@EFRL —RRTEANDEERFEETTZE
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FoEERRBERZENEEZ MM BREBAEFELTR  MERESFH NP BEREBELEER -
METZEBERKSR BRI RBIRESERZ T MIGRT T ER
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D REH R ABERBINEE -

TR EFEZRT REREXEEERAR -ABREAAZMEREEARAR - M KREAARBEERE
B MERENE 28 ARER ERREESFIZBAEE MANEZERIERCEREREZEEE
B BERZEQC RN ANEERTER  YRAKEANEERIBRE2IZE -

EFERRAAREERZER  REZEBER RRVNALKMRER  #ERBNEEE 2 AR EHR
i o

EEZEEXS
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2R 5EE

REAHE

RAMERATZBES  YHRARWNBEEEKEMRH - AANERALIRER YRAREAFTERNEES
RIEZZE - HE2013F3A3MBLEFEAR  ARAMERAHESEI TN 15/ ROBEEXEE - RRWE
MEEHNAEREIA -

BER&ZE

EXREHSECMBHARMMSRRATEE  FRASRER T - REHBE2013F3A31ALF
BHREMBHREAR EFRRBVEREMELE ZGHEE - ESTELZREME IR 2 HE LA LRISER
BREPBHRE - AR ARFLRBEEAAIRE R ARELERNELEATEZ FHATARREREHE

RAZINEZEMETHGTMEBARAREE2013F3 A31 BIEFENI BRI 2 EFEEEASHNAK
FHOBILZBEIRES -
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AF i 201272013




i
o
I}
B
£t
o
W

HEEREXH

R20129F9 A5 ARTZRRBF ARG L BB THINAERANBIERNIGEBESHEETBEHPHKR
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HAABE AL AROFTA T RTERT -

BRI ERZFE - #IARRN2012F8 A24 BT ZBEKA -

BRREF

BRRRBFIAE(RREIAEDRRRREBLEZER

BRESRF6AR NEXEFREEARERTANIRI N Z —ZMHERATBRRARGRERMN 2HRBAZK
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EERBREEERBRERE

BE

HITEE

HREE S51m AATFE  THAENKEERETE  UREHAIRA - HELEMARAZEWEARIZESE -
PEESMESESEE 2 EF MA Cordlife Limited (—MERBMNES RS LT Z AR ZBYLIERITER - H
TEBESEZERRIERE - HEER 198 FEERPEARKMBE([HEDIERE-INEESR 25K
BTHA0FEREEEELSH - HALENREESLPEEIE TR 2GR ERA QAR 2 Bio
Garden Inc. ZME—EF o

BXREXE 615K B2001 FIOARLELRARITES  AERTIBERBEBZ2LE - BLERYEEX
XBEE RKRENEE  ESMRCXREENHLREE - BAAN 200853 ARG RS H T ASBEEN
THEEBRLISM  ZER(AAEEEREASHRCERRBBNERMIT)IELRHX -

TEWMEE 445 B202FIARKERRNTESE  TRARAZAEBREHMERATAMEULATET
MEBARIZES - JTLERR Cordlife Limited 2 FFMITER - WX 2001 FMBEAKE - BEAKE 28 - &
XBEBRRAMESEE - I EERBTEGMAS L EBH MRS ETMmAees8 - ENBEARKEH
TREBRBERE RGN EHATER -

REEERE  445% - B2012F 9 ARBERRINTES  TRAARAIZERFEEE - WN2011F8 AMBERE
CRAEBMESHNFERSRc IHEESETEM  YARBERARNFTEHMAg g8  RME
ATHBE 2 FMEHMUAREASHMAGRABBFTAREHMAGZEREE - MBAAXRKERN  REER
BIRELGAMEBAZERA

FHTEE

BTzt 415 ARZFRTERRRRETHBARAZES  AXEEBERE D HEM - B FRF
B MERREBNITRAL - BEZFEB D MBHOLER - B2 2001 F9AMAKER - R 1996
FEXRPEARKE  ERDESREEABTIRERELT SN -
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B - 6957 MN2004F9 AMALKE  HEARBUINTES FRZESIR  FTHRBERRERZ
BEikE - BHRE UGB - N1983F - EHRMATEEREM S RATRTMStEHE

BXETE 455 R2012F 9 AMAKE - HERRBUIFRTES FMEE S RREZEEIEUANER
ZEEgXE BETRERERECAFAZESINERIEREMBERMBNERAFAZBLES - KL
CRERFELBRABRZRERERTHBR20F - BAER 19N FEXNBHREE="SBASEEX I
R2006 FEBHEARRKEAAERBREARERB LB -

BRERE 735 R2001FIAMARE  RAFEUIFNTES - SELERTEHAREN  LEEREA
RBEHEEREEZESZE NP ELXHZMHEER - RLER 1981 FEERPEH SN BRHT -

BEHE  665% - N2001FIAMARE HEARBUIIRITES  EXLEGKE FHEZEENERIE
FEEENE - BEBER—UEFHXE EVVEREVATFHER  WATBEAILRERTEHE - BHEIT
AEEAEYYIEBI A 788 (International Institute of Biophysics, Germany) 2@ 8 - BEHUR 7 1989 FEH B 7
JEREBE T2 o
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BRREELE 505 ABERERBHEIEE - RN1997F10AMALE  BEZXBNEE  KENE

B-RAENMRETHAEERRBERCLERRN  BRERSE LERFREMHR - RLEEER
IERFE —INEEBRRER ©

gEpEE 595 REBERIEE  SHBEMR(LEB)BERAFTRAZREE LERER EFEREK &
BEEEZHTEELE - WN2008F5 AMALE - RELAEENEEPBERS  BAPIHIAROCEER - A
06N BRENESHETREN 1SFHNEBRERRENEHRELR -

MEAFPRE 475 RTREXBZOTRAER  2EAETREXBNATLEEE - WL 2005F8 AMAL
c AREAERTEM B EEMIARAARARENCERL  HERLERRRRENBERAHRR - BREBE
BEAMERECEREERR  EELENEEEELR -

TEPEE 6457 REFBRELEBR(FBE)ERATIERNITE © BHR2010F4 AMASE - #£19984F
RHEERNBREERETE BEXEASELSMBRAMEIERRAERHE FMEBEEARETER -
WEREREESEINRAEEAMELENMEEMATEIPLEREER - EERPNMEERESLE
iz » FIBEERBRELEE T B o

RBHEELE 95 ABREBEERZOREY  2HAEEREEIMNBEFELEE o HR 201057 AN
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BEZL 495 REARTERBRER - BRI TATERZBRERBBENTAIER ° KN 200847
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1001765% o

FTEXRE
RAIZ EBXHHREER - WEBRARZ T BXHREMABIRYHHRRME 18 -

SEZEXER  af  BENABZREDBAOMBRMBEHRRME 14 -

FEEFRMER
SENAHBRFEZEBEF REEEA IR BBERRBRFEZERMT -

HEESEC B
HER REHE
BRAEF 15%
AAREFEA 26%
RAHIER 8%
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SEBE2013F3IANBLEFE2ENRRSR  URARIREERZB ZHERRBERAFRE 47 £5 168
BZHBRE -

ERRE

DA FH ARG H 135,660,000/8 7L (2012 6 : 152,877,000/ 8 T ) EEBZEHE - RERAEE 2 Hib
REZHHERAFRESBEEMAAZGAREEDHRA -

HZE2013F3A31H » AR ANk EEE2,575,444,0007%8 752012 4 : 2,371,942,000587T) °
EEEHRNEZ2013F3A31BLEFE 2 RBESR1.3BWQ2012F - 1MW) -
RERGELTREURSIABRREARBR W ARRE([ABRKRELZH]) - UBRRBELZHZ TIIFTRR
MREERERAEFAE FIEEZSABRERABRRELHE : RQ)FBHARXSAR D RHLEREARA S

RHERCERBITNHMRMD LT EES « MRS ZHENS TTFERRABEA ©

EERX

FREBELEZSBRASTHEIT(2012F : TET) °

EE&E
Bl BT 2 HERN S HRERM 5 -

[LEIN

BIEBEA20129 8 A24 BB BZA QB M Hope Sky Investments Limited ([Hope Sky|) Y& AT #2 i 4% 2 15
0 REIR2012%9 A 13 BECE R 317279,344, 444 R F B D 1E AR B {D F Hope Sky ° 1B LM A AR
20128 A24 AT Z s o

BREATINR2012E10 ASBZ AW » AFIR2012E 11 A 20 BARE AR B 521347 3,462,032 R B o
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BRELE
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FHHTEE
BT+ (7201248 A23 BFMFE)

BUHBATEE
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BEHUR
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HiBTEEC R BEARIREAH - 200554 A1 BFBAER  HEaEFasE—FRs—H%
HERALIOBZEmMBME LAY AL -

FHTEE
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BUHHATEE
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EERTRAZRARREABEIEROREBERO P 2 EER AR

M2013F3A310  RAEFRTHAHRREELRLMEGRIIETRHFET7 RE 85 R AR SEMEAEE
B(EEREFMMERIE T CBANRAR R - (WFRBEAITET ) AERO RESF+ %
BzEam kR (BREREESLPBGRIZZFRTERRRSIGERA 2B ORR) - AMBRFIARIEES
KEIEIRPIF 352 1R T AFEZ B MR - SREFETA(LBNE QR KB ES R EINMT -

(a) 2a
e
EREBE1BIZEERYA
BREE BERASTE EAHE
018712 TERERE BRITRA
BEER3 BORERME ZERYE R zEH AR ZHBNEDL
HREE EEEIBEA 442,948,000 - 442,948,000 19.50%
ERBEA - 67,006,245@ 67,006,245 2.95%
BREEE ERBAA - 6,000,0002 6,000,000 0.26%
TIenEE BEnBAA - 8,700,000? 8,700,000 0.38%
Tt ELBEAA - 7,600,000? 7,600,000 0.33%
B3t

(1) REBELEBMEEI - HRELFEEAEABO Garden Inc. ([Bio Garden))  —XRHBELZHE([EBELEHE])
AMRZZ AR EZHMERTRAZETE2EITAAZEMA MWK AR 2013F3 A31HEBio GardenEm#A 2
442,948,000 IR (B i o
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EERTRASRARREAEZIERD R EERG P 2 BB R AR (#)
(b) FEEFMELEZE ([ FEETHE]) (R2013F3531 ABRAH—EB2 )

ERMEME0.0001 ET2EBREE
SREE F (5] S 4 I B
FHE 0.0001 T2 BRITRA
BEEHR Mg TEREE mEx Z#BMNEI
HRALE EREEA 357,331 357,331 0.49%
TamEE EREAA 282,193 282,193 0.39%
BT 404 EnEEA 1,071,994 1,071,994 1.47%

B EXFTHERSN - R2013F3A31 0 RAREFHTHARIEZBEZHEALREREREES K
MEGPFE+RMET RN MANGRAI MR Z AR  AEEMHEEZE(EERESRPE KIS
TRz - (W REAITETR)HER N MES 2 TRERS0XR (BREREES SR Z %
ERERBRIRERE 2BESAR) » RVAFIARBESFRPEIRPFE 352G TAFEZELMA -
FARE E MR RIAAEZARE T RINARE AR MBS R P2 (IR AR
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BT 8
RAIZBRETE

RAIBBRES S EERFTRECMBHNPHRRMEI7 - AFEREFSLERLRLEE ZBRERE
ZEFBRE - BLERMERBALDATRZBREMNS - ZFEREHERBRE S FREEN MR Z
BUAl FATHE ©

DEBRET RO ZBREZSHHRMT

REZ

R2012E 20138 R2013F

4818 38318 3A31H

AT LLEERE  WROHE
pd - 1Y RER RER  2BRE ZBRE REH
HBERG HEf B1 HBRG  BERA Rz
ESREE#E RHUAH 8B  @rEz  Htdhl i = Z8EB 168 BRYE
B B
HREE 20056383081 63,206,245 - - - 63,206,245 1.76 1.56
200944 2780 3,800,000 - - - 3,800,000 1.15 1.14
SHRTLY 200954 2780 3,800,000 - (3,800,000) - - 1.15 1.14
BRELE 20053848 400,000 - - - 400,000 1.60 1.60
200944 2780 5,600,000 - - - 5,600,000 1.15 1.14
TIEREES 200543A4R2 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 1.60 1.60
20094 2780 - 6,700,000 - - 6,700,000 1.15 114
it 200543F482 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 1.60 1.60
20094 F 2780 5,600,000 - - - 5,600,000 1.15 114
2HES 2005%3F482 11,870,000 - (2,000,000) - 9,870,000 1.60 1.60
(BB 2009448278 26,533,000 3,800,000  (6,700,000) - 23,633,000 1.15 1.14

122,809,245 12,500,000 (12,500,000) - 122,809,245

AESREZBREDAZSEFIAREL  XSESTRBRECESHEBA
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ATEZ BT

(i) MNEBEXLABHEAREZE20%;

(i) MEBFHEHIBEARRZE60% :

(i) REBERHEEH0MEEEZEI00% &

(iv) BEPHEASA2015F 3 A3 HZEEBHEREEM -

BT R ERER L B3 EAREEITE - LR 201592 A28 AEF A A RBEY -

ATEZ BT

() NERERLAPREZEIS

(i) REBFHEH6EARRZEC0%

(i) MEBFHAH12EARKZZEI00%: &

(iv)  BEPRHEASN 2019F 4 B26 B2 B HEREEM -

SELZTEN2012F9A 2 BRERRIZATES - REBBREFIR TR AL ZBRE  RNEAREERMDATE - ZER
BREFANCREF BRI Z2BIEES 145

IEWMEENR2012FIR 2B ERARBIZHITES - ZERERFREHEN D EAIES HEA -

BSOS NEE2013F3 A31 BIEFEN - BEREARBREN B D 2 EABRIEETE  EHERRK -

EERBERONEEFNEF

b bt BB HERTEISN  REFER - RARETAMBARLETLERMEZH  WERARNETRITRAH - HE
AREFEBRTN\RAT 2 FR - FEBEQRREFMEMEABR RO I (T REARITET ) BEEK
MREFMETERD - EFRITHAY - IEARFZEBRTNARA T 2T BEERETMEN - LRE
RERMDHEEES - ARERNFRTEEIMERER -
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FTERRNRAAROREBARG 2BER KR

R201343A31 0 RR(AFRAFAZEETHITRAH) HARBEEF LALERIE+RHFE 2 RFE3DFAH
GRARERMN - WRBRARRIRERE M EGRYIF 336 RFEZBECMN AR REEMERER(AFE
FRAERME+REE T 2RE) 2 MARRR O BRRBNT -

(a) TERRZHE
B#T/ GLRAESBRTRE

&% B RERNEE HERDHE ZHBHABED
Bio Garden EnEA 442,948,000¢ 19.50%
Credit Suisse Trust Limited® XA 442,948,000¥ 19.50%
Fiducia Suisse SA (BIE[KF Suisse SA])®  ZFEA 442,948,000¢ 19.50%
David Henry Christopher Hill f£4 ® g NI £ 442,948,000¢ 19.50%
Rebecca Ann Hill KK ® K 18 A F & 442,948,000¢ 19.50%
A8
Kent C. McCarthy £ £ © REKE 431,228,702 18.98%
New Horizon Capital Ill, L.P.© e IUNG A £ 411,101,200 18.10%
New Horizon Capital Partners Il Limited® 5242|282 % 411,101,200 18.10%
Hope Sky Investments Limited ERBEBA 279,344,444 12.30%

(THope Sky | )®
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FTERRRAAROGREABRG 2BER KR (&)

(b) BHER

BEZREMALZHE

BERB5% EiHz B#1T/ EOFAERITRA

HATERE BORESEME HERDEE ZHHRED L

Jayhawk Private Equity Fund I, L.P. REKE 220,023,098 9.68%
([Jayhawk | )®

Top Strength Holdings Limited R AR 2 R 131,756,756 5.80%

([Top Strength ] )®

GEE

(M

)

Bio Garden B — RN AEBR LA BHEMM L ZILEERAE - ZARHERELANRZETRREETR2EHES

HR¥ Credit Suisse Trust Limited 3R> 2% F ZIREBAER - Gold Rich Investment Limited ([Gold Richl) % Gold
View Investment Limited ([Gold View]) 7201343 A31H & £ # ABio GardenZ36% ##m  MEEEm kA
442,948,000 %A% 15 ° Gold Rich % Gold View i Credit Suisse Trust Limited JA_L3C (1) Frilts F 2 #EE 2 ZEA T

NEEE2EES - At - RIEFHF RS D) - Credit Suisse Trust Limited 317 A7 Bio Garden #5752 442,948,000 fi%
BRiD PG e

MR Fiducia Suisse SARRZ M EFEMEBAAETR - HX201343 A31 B ABio GardenZ 64% 1 #&
6 442,948,000 iz 10 ° Fiducia Suisse SARLEX(NFrE T2RERZZEAT N - B RIFEZ R BE K
7 - Fiducia Suisse SA#R /AR Bio Garden$H 7 442,948,000 B fX{n th #E A 125 © Fiducia Suisse SA & David Henry
Christopher HillJE4£2&HE © RIEES LEEES] - David Henry Christopher Hill 64 & Rebecca Ann Hill KK (&
David Henry Christopher Hill 54 2 B2 48 ) #48 & Fiducia Suisse SAT5H 2 442,948,000 B it 15 G #E a5 o

= e
-

ZERBERRR—HEL -

B8 Jayhawk SR 7 PE T BRBBAZETR © Kent C. McCarthy e 52 BB Jayhawk BEEZIEHIA - B - 1RIEE
# RERGED] - Kent C. McCarthy e £ #4R /R 5 Jayhawk #5746 2 220,023,098 IR iR A A i 4 + H 1 29,002,098 %
HERMF S RARTETAZITE -

Hope Sky % Top Strength AR RBRELZESEMA LN AE - TEBN B ELRER - 9 I New Horizon Capital
ll, LP.2&%H - New Horizon Capital Ill, L.P. REFIEFR BN FREMLEREES - New Horizon Capital Partners
Il Limited A& New Horizon Capital Ill, L.P. Z#Z#| A

B LRI EE S -
BRI RR BT

G B AR A R A R

20133 H31H -

REFMAE  BEECAEMBALTHIRAR
PRAN5% SHIA £ 2 SR TORR
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RBERARANESZAFAERERARZEREMM A2012F4 81 BEERAFRTERY - RAISDRI#ER L
MHRBFTRE 2 RARFFAE °

EERNENh 2R

RAZEEHERARSIEMENB AR UNAFEERBLAFEEAREBRZEMNERGNTHER
B -

FTEARREMEER
EERARINR2013F3A31 B2t B EBERREMERE 2F BN T HREME28 2930 32K33 -
EIREHE

SE 2RI EIFBEN M BRERM T4 -

L FERBEHRE

SEATREVRFE 2 EREERBBEMEHNAFIRE 169 XE170E °

TEER
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

16 BREE

£E
EER% i 45 1 [
=¥ L ek =
T FT T

A
R2011EFE4 81 BEES) 880,921 201,346 1,082,267
RIS 34,450 6,249 40,699
MN2012F3A31HK4A1B(EES]) 915,371 207,595 1,122,966
RIS 2,718 1,438 4,156
M2013F3H31H 918,089 209,033 1,127,122
S ol
R2011F4 81 B(EEG) 51,387 22,913 74,300
0E 5 2,085 73 2,158
TN R 5 30,437 6,847 37,284
MN201263A31HR4A1B(RES) 83,909 29,833 113,742
0E W 426 247 673
IR E B 5 30,426 6,927 37,353
M2013F3H31H 114,761 37,007 151,768
BREE :
M2013%F3B31H 803,328 172,026 975,354
201293 A31H(&EE5) 831,462 177,762 1,009,224
P2011F4 /81 H(KE7) 829,534 178,433 1,007,967

KEZEVEEREERGAOEMETNELLHE - RBEE2013FR201293A31 ALFRE ZE#HE
EBRERERERMFHERAA -
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

17 B8
£H
2013 & 2012 %
T T
K&
A
REYI(KLET]) 569,844 513,689
[ 55 1,378 17,462
Uk BE BT 2 B (B RE 36(c)) — 38,693
REE 571,222 569,844
BEHECESELEVHERNR
BENEEATNEBRCELEM([BEELSEM]) -
2013 £ 20124 2011 E4R81H
Trx FT T
KBS K&
BEERE 506 506 506
P #s I JE 66,663 66,663 66,663
B 465,360 463,982 446,520
BT 38,693 38,693 —
571,222 569,844 513,689

EROELBM Y ARELBLREEAEET EIRET - kHESREANERERB RS
EEAEEY B REEN « BEMMNZ B RE 2L TIAH LR Y - REXTERBEEALE
AR EEEH EETHEES .
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

17 EEE)
BEHECHELENRERE)
EREESE R T EHE

2013 F 20124
% %
K E5|
EFE
EEX 63.0 62.0
RS I & 76.0 74.0
BhEE 76.0 73.0
BiigE 57.0 56.0
BRE
BEXRE 8.7 10.0
RS I & 9.4 9.4
BirEE 8.7 8.7
BiiE 3.9 4.1
EE
BERE 16.4 16.9
FE A 1 & 15.7 15.7
BiER 14.0 14.0
BligE 14.0 14.0

EEEREAEERAEBHNSERETEEENE - ARRAKRRANRE  ARREBEHZHEE
R o

ReEABUZARESRREEREEAREFENSNEREE  RUBENGARERILEHEERR
18 -
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A EHEM T
(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

18 RMBARZER
(a) REBARIZRE

NG
2013 £ 20124
Fr Frx
JE_ETRRD (3R AN) 669,566 451,532
FEURBT B A RIZIB(FEE) 2,060,479 2,577,771
P B A )BT 2 AT AR =48 (BT 32(b) () M (i) 697,106 —
3,427,151 3,029,303

RUHEARFASERR 28 RTEETERY  EXERPENRENRE-FNBE - BF
I 78 A S RE

(b) FEfTRIE L A5E
FEAMEBARFESERMR 28 RYEEFEERY  HYERHERBEMRE—FRBE -

108 EX R £ R A



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

18 RMIBARIZER(H)
(c) ETEHBRAZEHE
TREFVNHRARZLE BEXABERFTEYEYWBLD B2 S -

REEDI
A mAE  AKELF BRf1/
k2 Rty ERER 2] 2] HRER  IEER
FERREBREERAA() HE 95.09% - 100.00% 10,100,000 HEREE
EST 1
E@ErRaR AR ([E84) B 95.09% 95.09% — 149407 AR
GM Hospital Group Limited ([ GMHG ) EERGHE 75.00% 75.00% - 100%T  RARE
SEBRER(FE)ERAF HE 75.00% - 100.00% ARE REERER
(TGMHM () |)) 380000000 i
GM Investment Company Limited B 100.00% 100.00% - 1T REBRK
HEBRAEEERLA il 100.00% - 100.00% ARE wEEY
(==L Gl 150,000,000 & B
RiE
LEERERER( LERAARER i) PE 42.00% — 56.00% 5250000E7w/ EREs
9,800,000
BAERERRRAT(DEN )i HE 43.43% - 82.73% ARE  Bhge
150,000,000 77
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

18 RMBARIZERZ(E)
(c) TEWBARATZFEIEE)

REE2I
@2 BAE  HNELF B8/
NER RIBY BRER 2] BE HREk TEER
SEBENK(LE)BRAF B 100.00% - 100.00% 10,000,000 B3R R
AT BEBNAE
EHEREEERE(PE)RRAA() A 70.00% —  10000% 128525%%/ REERRRE
1500000057  EBRHS
hEEENECEEE(CCBC)) Y — HEHRE 41.95% — 41.95% 134ET KA
FRERLENRIERAT () mE 41.95% - 100.00% ARE  REEBOERK
280,000,000 7
ENTATADEYIRERLAR()  #E 41.95% — 100.00% ARE REEBOERE
50,290,1837/
AR
90,000,000 7
HTEEENRTERA (i) BE 37.76% - 90.00% ARE  REEBOERK
50,000,000 7
() ZENBRARYAINEBELE -

(i) LERTBERBRATFINAESLELE ZERRAKEES  SEAKEET—RKHBELRF
A

s

(i) ZEMBARATEBEANRE -
(v, BEEEB200957A1HEFRURELAINIHZRER EFCETEEEARCBC

MERZHE ERURBEARNESRKRERSAEAGRSS  AYETRBRUHSRRER
BASBITEERERE -
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18 RMBARIZERZ(E)
(d) BB REHIFEIEEIMER

TREZETHERERDBRZH

MRS

R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BHFBEHES » BRI ETIT)

C REBEMB AR 2 S EE AN IEEHIME s ([ FREH 1R )

2013 &
At AR
FEAZ
ZEHA GMHG CCBC R 2 st
T Tr T T T
FEHMERERE R 4.91% 56.97% 58.05%
FRBEE 1,368,379 2,699,415 1,727,637
REEE 323,274 239,240 2,052,323
EnBaf (344,903) (519,493)  (1,758,795)
HHEE (477,091)  (1,280,531) (370,708)
FEE 869,659 1,138,631 1,650,457
e ESRERE 42,700 648,670 958,090 11,440 1,660,900
WA 277,242 126,930 647,265
wF,/ (&B8) 121,981 (61,233) 125,501
2HEBABE 115,493 (59,057) 125,017
DEBIEHIER BT/ (BEB) 18,770 (15,503) 73,173 (3,333) 73,107
L EEmE/ (A Re T8 108,326 (23,338) 704,614
REEHHE/ (R REFE 76,906 (227,453) (593,761)
BEEE(MA)/ EREFE
- MBAE T ER
HEmRs a0 (689,613) 234,558 755,598
BEETDHMEESFE
— BT ER 2 RERE - - -
AERBSZENRY) /EmBE (504,381) (16,233) 866,451
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A EHEM T
(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

18 RMBARIZERZ(E)
(d) KB AR aHFErEE 1R ()

20124
Hiw @R
TEAZ
EHE GMHG CCBC HEAR st
Fr T T T T
FEFGERERERL 23.88% 54.89% 58.64%
ERBEE 779,829 2,613,056 1,139,724
RBEE 804,850 254,654 1,123,754
ERBEE (350,497) (493,405) (454,970)
RBaE (479,484)  (1,166,086) (283,110)
FEE 754,698 1,208,219 1,525,398
S ERERE 180,222 663,235 894,494 58,673 1,796,624
WA 257,812 147,110 462,647
il 130,949 7,543 157,693
2ERANEE 188,789 42,711 254,034
DEAIFEHI RS 257,/ (F8) 31,271 8,715 94,730 (9,433) 125,283
ML THMEREFE 105,498 2,902 422,022
REEZBNSE/ (A REFE 2,359 73,413 (136,133)
BEEDMARSFE
— NGRS
BelkEH (109,775) (5,336) (55,991)
BEEDMEREFE
— BT ER 2B RE - - -
BERBSEEWRY) /B (1,918) 70,979 229,898
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

19 REELQT2ER

£E
2013 F 20124 2011 E4 810
T FiL FiL
KET K&
EIHEEFE 601,420 600,755 638,262
GES 191,460 191,460 211,178
792,880 792,215 849,440

TEIEHEBR RERBEERTE CMABE QR 215

HEERELZ BR#fT/

BENTER ERRBRYS  RUBE FEEERE AL HMER TEEE

Fortress Group Limited ([ Fortress ) A FREHS 29.4% 10X PHEZE
BAETER

hERBERMERAG(TCMC)(EW)  #BRkT HE TER AR HERSH

131,970,000 BE#HE
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(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

19 REEZEDTI2EZ S

TREFEEEZHEATZER  CHEMBEZRELRR YO RBREURDEARNEERZ R
AR AIRREE - AR E A RN ME G E AR A2 ERA (RHIRTIER) -

2013
Fortress CMIC &ar
Fr Fx Fr

EF %0000 s H
EEA 29.4%  0.0% (HizE (i)
ERBEE 2,923,316
REEE 5,895,564
e IR (2,042,578)
REEE (4,732,046)
EEFE 2,044,256
SEELEEFE 601,420 - 601,420
GES 191,460 - 191,460
PR AT AR R 2 REE 792,880 - 792,880
WA 12,245,510 717,728
St ) 284,548 6,991
HEib2mEWA 7,145 -
2EBAELE 291,693 6,991
EEB R T 83,714 1,608 85,322
EEEGEER AL 85,816 1,608 87,424
B kA B - - -
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A %

(BIHEZEREE - BALETIT)

19 REEZEDTI2EZ S
2012 F (&£ E75)

Fortress CMIC A=t
FIT FT T
EMHE A R E
EZA 29.4% 23.0% (M3t ()
EREEE 2,600,557 225,533
RENEE 4,268,532 1,479,715
EnEaE (2,047,955) (230,793)
REEE (3,051,379) (1,126,223)
EEFE 1,769,755 348,232
EEELEEFE 520,662 80,093 600,755
EES 191,460 - 191,460
RERE iRk s 2 REE 712,122 80,093 792,215
WA 11,177,937 2,511,229
bl 340,307 49,491
Hip 2@ A 72,787 13,193
EHURAEEE 413,094 62,684
LB RS T 94,509 11,384 105,893
EEELEEBALTE 110,211 14,417 124,628
B B - — —
()  R2012F6R 128 fEATEEEEEANR(EEANRDII—HHEHEERCMICZ 2% BeNRE
A ANER 63,454,000 7T (FAE 72 79,435,000 7T ) © Atk » 10,793,000 T2 B E L HEE SO ERZEIB - AMRE

8,527,000 L2 Wizt ABE 2013 F3 A31 HIFFEBEZ »
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

20 RA—EeEL¥zER

£H
2013 & 2012 %
T FiL
EREEFE 62,951 62,981
TREFEEEEEREEERTENEELEZFE
E3 HEEREZ BRfT/

BRELELE 2REEA fodok:ck's EEREEIL BRELX TEEEK
Capital Ally Investments Limited Bl RBRAHE 50.00% 10,000%T HRERR
—HAECEZHBENBE(UEB ERERTE) !

2013 & 2012 %

T FIL

EEEH 50.0% 50.0%
EREEE 41,027 41,027
HREEE(BERS RIES B 298,000 (20124F : 358,0007T)) 134,406 134,466
REEE (49,531) (49,531)
EEFE 125,902 125,962
ESEEGEEEFEMNGEUBRERPHERERE 62,951 62,981
WA _ _
&8 (60) (268)
HEp 2w A — 4,038
2HE(EE) WABE (60) 3,770
EEEGERE (30) (134)
SEEG2E(BER)WARSE (30) 1,885
B B — _
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21

R E M T

(BIHEZEREE - BALETIT)

it HERS
£E

2013 & 20124 201154 /18
Tr T FT
K K&

N
REBREI T 109,384 120,668 71,585
LT 368,695 312,556 296,949
478,079 433,224 368,534

BREF
LM 1,950 1,950 —
480,029 435,174 368,534

REZE2013FR2012F3A31HILFE @ TERGRES WEREREM AT HERAREREHRER

18 e

AF i 201272013
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A EHEM T
(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

22 FE
(a) REEHENRIFEEXAZFECH .
£H

2013 F 20124 201147818
Fr T Tt
KE K&

IR B
BN ESmABREEENANE M 48,482 41,908 37,516

B

R 15,640 9,507 9,273
EEM 4,309 4,899 2,408
2K 5 11,596 17,479 13,225
31,545 31,885 24,906
80,027 73,793 62,422

SEWE AR RREBFRENESMERRNBESIATAEARRER -

FRIERBEAESMAARMRE AR MM TRATIERNMORTEE - WA BCE 18 B A0 % 5 0 5 752
WA R AR AR

(b) BEABXUHZFELHEIHUT -

£E
2013 & 20125
Tx T
K&
BEEFEZERmE 256,831 218,716
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

23 FERENEUWARR R H fth FE Wk

£E
2013 & 20124 2011 E4 810
T T T
LB KB
JEUBR FR (P 5E 25) 308,551 312,405 286,065
Y EHE () 263,000 — 961,368
AR EEMES 94 3,518 9,228
571,645 315,923 1,256,661

() SEFIMNEBELERELNTELD ZHES AR 210,000,000 7T (FHE 7 263,000,0007T) ©
IEREEWBRRZ BT MERDT

£H

2013 & 20124 2011 E4 810
T T T
EE| KE|

HEIANNBIBMHREER
20134 — — 27,882
20144 — 37,152 27,882
20154 42,455 36,771 27,882
2016 4 42,068 35,624 27,882
2017 F R EZ (B 2011 FME) 40,909 31,752 221,974
2018 F R EZ(F2012F M F) 32,126 218,574 -
2019F R EHZ(F2013FME) 195,983 — -
W REEIREAE (MTE 25(b)) (44,990) (47,468) (47,437)
308,551 312,405 286,065

24 XERH%E
1 A
2013 & 20124 2011471 H 2013 & 2012 F
T Fr Fr Fr FT
E7| i E|

RES LT ZRAES 118,155 117,341 169,550 — —
REB LM 2 EBES 94,247 435 593 94,247 —
212,402 117,776 170,143 94,247 —

2013438318 » EEEFRE(EA94,247,000T(2012F : B )2 ETEBES  EA KRBT
BYIEBEZETERZEBR(RMEE29) °
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

25 FEWRFRE A EWR

£H

2013 & 20124 201154810
Fr FT FT
K& KET
JFE Us BR 30 718,558 704,778 597,234
W REIREME (MTE 25(b)) (63,826) (72,252) (54,761)
654,732 632,526 542,473

A :
SERBE D (M5 23) 308,551 312,405 286,065
REEE 7 346,181 320,121 256,408
FERT A R iR E 7,470 8,448 8,986
Hfth fE UK 35,876 39,584 30,280
T B e U BR A K LA U SR 4R EE 389,527 368,153 295,674

NG|

2013 £ 2012 %
Fr FT
HAth e R 6,573 6,207

B B R AR AR X e Ht R TR A — kel -
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

25 EWRFREMERRKE)
(a) BB
3 35 A AR sk SR RE 2 FE R 2 (N RIER RS 2 BRI ST SIS 10T

E
2013 & 20124 201154810
Fr Ft T
KE5| KET

I = s B s R (E 457,666 467,797 387,286
BB R E
NME AR 58,582 72,553 41,224
+Z=+={@A 66,977 58,327 68,567
—F F 71,507 33,849 45,396
R, 197,066 164,729 155,187

654,732 632,526 542,473
EEZ EEBRHAME38() °
W B R E 2 ERER TS ML W BB NS EAEF -
B ERE EBUWERTEEN —HEEEERITRIEHE I BYRFE AR EEEXRTESEX

P LARDER AT EERE - RIBEELR  EEEAEYELERZTERIELRERE -
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

25 EWRFEEMERR @)
(b) FEWEEFRE

IR EBEE R ABERA  RIFEEZRSAKRESEN A EEN - ERERT - BEERE
5 B 5 B WA SR PO S (LB RE 2()(7))

FARERBEHEELHOT -
58
2013 £ 20124
Fr Fr
&5
REA] 72,252 54,761
BH#ERREEE 9,155 15,607
i E RN (17,940) —
P& 5 SR 359 1,884
RER 63,826 72,252
26 EHER
201343 A31 B Z8R1717563,102,00075(2012 4 : 49,346,000 7T) 2 REIEAH A/EA
27 RERBEEEEY
(a) BEREZZEYEHR .
KB YN
2013 & 20124 201154 /81H 2013 & 2012 %
T FIT FT T T
KE K&
BOIFREFERSE 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,445 20,823 7,813
B SRER A2
ReEMREFEY 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,445 20,823 7,813
R178 S (FI5E29) — — (141)
RARERERALZ
ReRBE2EED 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,304
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

27 BERBITERE)
(b) BB SFIBAEE TR EE Sk :

liFs 2013 & 20124
AP T
KB
BB A R 298,731 323,082
AT )& HFE -
N R IE BB B 1B 7(c) 9,155 15,607
ME - BERRBITE 15(a) 78,948 74,538
M 1 15 (E 5 15(a) 38,100 19,575
B EESE 16 37,353 37,284
RITERABHA 5 (11,306) (9,430)
RHBEHFREWA 5 (3,115) (1,433)
AIHHEEFREBA 5 (5,756) (8,775)
HEAHEEES 2 Wa 6 — (1,114)
RHBEHDEBERREHR (W), EEFE 6 (2,517) 52,017
HEME - BERREZER (W) FE 6 1,140 (68)
MEER 7(a) 57,080 9,987
BARBEAABRE . EREBBELAREBEEERY 32 21,469 32,506
JE (L Bst & X ) g A 19 (85,322) (105,893)
BiE—MaEhEER 20 30 134
H S B N B R 2 W 19 (8,527) (41,436)
HNEEFE R 2 B 543 (1,182)
RITEEESRBA 2 RERA 426,006 395,399
JRE 5 B TR % EL A JE LSRR8 AN (29,438) (41,716)
FEEM (5,755) (8,074)
FERTRR R E e BTG a0, ORl 2>) 71,842 (47,626)
BEFE WAL AN 356,629 203,792
RETHABRE 819,284 501,775
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

28 BNHRARHEMEMNRK

£E
2013 & 20124 2011 E4 810
FTrx FT Tt
KT K&
JERE
FEfTRIER A — 92,600 —
HisEN R R TERE A 132,589 74,244 35,659
132,589 166,844 35,659
RE
JERTERER 115,317 122,077 125,002
JEA RN 94,204 125,483 1,473
BT R B 2 B 3 (BT sE 36(a)) 150,177 — —
Hu s RTERRE B 157,756 121,998 173,656
517,454 369,558 300,131
650,043 536,402 335,790
NG|
2013 & 20125
Fr Fr
BT R0 B 2 FE AR (P 5 36(a)) 150,177 —
Hip e R R TEIRE A 10,734 9,437
160,911 9,437
FrIEREEMNEFREMENRERN —FALE -
EE-REEHEEEE-—Z=ZEAZEEN - BNERZEREDTFBOT :
%M@
20135 20124 2011 E4 810
Fr FT Fr
K& KET
R=1{E A R E Bk P B A B R 115,317 122,077 125,002
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

29 FHERMER

R2013F K 2012F3A31H » st BETIRUATEE :

£E NG|
2013 & 20124 201154810 2013 F 2012 %
Fr FiT FT Fr FT
KBS KES
AR—FRNHREKEE 498,888 362,596 172,288 52,260 233,898
R—FEREREFA 362,749 — 233,428 362,749 —
861,637 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898
M2013FK2012F3 8310 » st BERZEHNT -
£E NG|
2013 & 20124 20114 /81H 2013 F 20124
Fr FiT FT Fx Fr
Ey KET
EIRIRERTTIE S (KsE 27(a)) — — 141 — —
BITER
—BHEH 600,606 128,698 172,147 415,009 —
—EI R — 233,898 233,428 — 233,898
600,606 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898
REFEZHRERIFER 261,031 — — = —
861,637 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898

MR2013%F3 8318 ETHERAR ZEITE 185,597,000 (20124 : 128,698,000 7T ) 2 B IHER
Mzt 15(c) 2 A E ik M FHESERIKIF

NAZRITE 362,749,000 75(20124F + T yr) JhH CCBC 3 77 B 450,000,000 E JT 2 A 2 i = 4%
MEMBEAIHRRER Z GEREBAHRZER - CCBCAIARETTZ CCBCEBREAEI (M 32(b)
(ii)) o ZEFTIREHER A (CHBRRZIHA)GE o

ANAElZRITEF52,260,00075(2012F : BL)MHAARFEZR HEHEBER (M 24) -
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(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

29

30

FFEEBRE)

R2012F3A31 B @ st AKBRARIRITER 233,898,000 T AJE - REIHF LIZHIE 52 # F5t
B ERHAMAAMKXLETR - HERMNEREF0% E13% c RARTELAKRRETIBEKSL
EERE -  ERAMZEHKATTELN 2012F 6 ATHEE -

SERARZRITEFAE 362,749,000 7T (2012 5 : 233,898,000 70 ) BFEITE TR E 26 MBARR
BRZMEVBLENRE R TS LB RRMBEEEBRE BT - MEEZRIEN@E 2%
#HAREREEEN SETHERETZERAIER c R20134 k2012438310 - TERER
FERAIRIANE 2 Bk - SEERREE AR 2 — P IBHN M 38(b)

MEHETEME
PRER  EENARANTNEEBEZMEMETEM
58
2013 F 2012 %
REHEE BREHEE HERE RERE
R 2BE RES L NHzRE NS
Fr Fr Ft Fr
—FR 1,254 1,385 1,767 1,927
—FRERMERN 1,306 1,385 1,128 1,232
MERERAFA 1,179 1,216 2,004 2,075
2,485 2,601 3,132 3,307
3,739 3,986 4,899 5,234
B ARRF B AT AR (247) (335)
HMEETsBRE 3,739 4,899
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30

31

R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

MEHETSEE(E)
NG|
2013 F 20124
BIERAE BEHE HERE RERE
R ZBRE RREEE MRz RE NS
Tt Fr Tt T
—FR — — 682 695
B RRF BT ARE — (13)
HEETZRE — 682
BEMBMRRFERF ZMER
(a) HEBHBMBHEES S ABHEE -
EJ
2013 & 20124 2011 E4R81H
Fr FT T
KET KET
JES R B FT ISR 75,739 66,959 47,665
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

31 ZEMBRABRFZFAEHR &)
(b) EBZZEEHELRE (LE):
() EREARBRRERRZETHIEAR, (EE)ZEARDHRIVERNZSBHNT

&8
e/ %
B
B A REZ
FE/ 8% BVEE  REREE g8 Hit B
T T Fr T T T
RETHEEE
EHE
R2011 %4718
(m=5)) 161,655 210,515 (13,791) 14,182 (6,087) 366,474
(3t A)/ kA
AMER (HE8() (8,081) (7,102) (2,261) (14,182) 475 (31,151)
EHEE 6,675 8,053 (542) — (627) 13,559
2012437318
(fmE3) 160,249 211,466 (16,594) — (6,239) 348,882
R201254818
(BE7)) 160,249 211,466 (16,594) - (6,239) 348,882
(3t A)/ kA
RAlER (HE8() (4,065) (7,607) 3,056 — (830) (9,446)
EHEE 442 598 (90) - (47) 903
R2013F3831R 156,626 204,457 (13,628) - (7,116) 340,339
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

31 REUBRRBRPZFABHR (&)
(b) ERZZEEHBEER (KE): (&)
(i) BEAMBRREE Y HE

£EF
2013 F 20124 2011 E4 810
Fr T T
KE K&
RERE BB RE T E R
FIRELEREE (29,169) (31,215) (26,488)
REFA T AR IR P B R
FIRELEFHEE 369,508 380,097 392,962
340,339 348,882 366,474

() *EFZBEHEELE -

IRIEPEE 2(0) PR B ETIHR - B AR Rt HIEE 18 439,771,000 7T(2012 4 - 373,488,000 7T)
BRELCHEEE  RERA BB AERE KA AT KA 88 E £ A R B R B F 2R AR EE
18 o WIRRITR M - 322,685,0007C(20124F : 305,671,00070) 2 B HIBEEW R EERZ
HARR o RIBIRITRIAEAH] > 117,086,0007C(20124F : 67,817,0007T) 2 Bt HIBEEIE SR AFEE
/H\]q o

(d) AERZELZHERE -

R2013F3A31H EBRANMINB AR KRS iR 2 &K Z £ 45883,657,0007(2012 4 -
693,653,0007C) - AR ARIERZEMB AR R EREXERECEEB AR AIFERRKAKT
EHEEF - MY BRAEZERBEFBEZN 2 HEERIELETIE S & 88,366,000 7T(2012 4 -
69,365,000 7T) °
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

32 EAREEFAREZEMAR
() ERGARBRAXERZEAABEFABEZSREBZARBHOT

£E NG|
2013 & 20124 2013 & 20125
T FT Tx T
EIEYEE
—HARET 53,202 56,177 53,202 56,177
— MK B A EET 560,765 285,540 — —
613,967 341,717 53,202 56,177
A Al —EH B AR Z 3k
o R BT
SRR K (8 HA R
___(_Hﬁ?}g(ga_)_) _________________ — — 75,561 131,987
st 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164
A :
JERENRS 560,765 — — —
TRENER D 53,202 341,717 128,763 188,164
st 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

32 BAREBEHAEEZEHEEH)

(ii)

(a)

FARAABEFABSZSRAGEEHNT ¢

55 YN
2013 F 2012 F 2013 F 2012 4F
Fr F Fr FT
REHD 341,717 322,578 188,164 234,976
WR AR R —TEMEAR
BITH A R R
(BI&E32(0)(0)) (251,411) — — —
B — M B A R ETT
AR & (5 32(b)(ii)) 507,000 — — —
RAMBRRREENZFE (4,808) (13,367) (2,475) (2,480)
BRRETZ
o B K (B AR
ZATEEMD — — (232,220) —
BRAREBEFAERZ
Gl y=NEd
R BEE 21,469 32,506 175,294 (44,332)
REXR 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164

201338318 RS HRABRANIEREBEET 2 RRZENABREEAABEBAR
18 60,803,0007T (2012 4F : 59,400,000 70) 2 &85 D IEIE B 14 R TER o

HRAARITZ TRRRERZREE

7200967 B20B %9 A9H * Arl%RIZITHEERE 10,000,000 X T (B %) 78,000,000 7T) ([ 7
A%471) % 15,200,000 7T (BZE R4 118,560,000 ) ([9 A%4/T N 2 Al Ei - R A DR A
20145 7H20HK2014F 9890 - ZEZBEMREFE3I% BB EKIT -

MR RER 2GR RGHER - 7 AT EBREABRERARREBETTRRERELEHE
100% 2 B17{8 » BITRASER%E 1,000,000 E L (F% 5 7,800,000 L) Z BINAT R R HF - I
AR 2009 7 H20 18 5& % 365 B 2 BRI N TR ([ RE AR ]) - #1E2010F 9 A30 B 1ILHIM - R
BHED RN 201096 A 14 BE2HITHE

AF i 201272013
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(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

32 RAARBEFABEZERER &)
(a) HAFRITZTHRBREZERZRERE)
T ASEEERAATIE BRI EFNT

— BERETHRESEARERDIHARERTE o

- NEBEHSBEATEEBRREE  AARENSHZRER0.1601ETT(AIREITRKRER 2 ETIK
ARGEHEERARIRIMNERR - KARRERFEANRE  EREERREG 2 AEERR
201241 A 20 B&:T -

BRIEERCHBEO S EHR - [RI7TABRTRIAZTZARREEREN20145F7 A208 k201445
IAIRKREEER - RBFTMBRZER 2GR ERFAEAAEERARMN2013F1 20 BEBA
BRERE - LLAEERIEN2013F1 A3B2E5]  E2014561 8208 « At - BE2013F K
20123 A31 B RRBETHARREBRREESBARBEE -

RERBEITABRKEEE  QARERABRZETHIAMEESEAZTRERESE  BEUASRIRE
19,080,000 fi% 52 29,002,000 S & EE 0.1 T2 AR E@I - 1TEEAERR0.1747 F 7T - RREE
ATRZEEAE AEEDRIN2014F7 A20H & 20149 A9 HAIFER1T(E -

2010F 6 14 B TEREIER - QARIEITAL 4% 1,000,000 F T (HER4)7,800,0007T) 2
BN ZSE - WERER 2 MRIGFIRA R T A RN A ZIEEE AR ITRREE - #EUARE
1,908,000 f% 2 A A& @A -

M2013F3A31H  KE&£5410,600,0003F 02 AR ZEHE AR L (20124 10,600,000 3%
JT) °

AR ERRRREZRATERERGIRIGHE 2B 2#E— P BEI AN B EA2009F 4 A 30
H 200998 A24H 201292 A3HK2013F 1 A4 B ZRaIAMH o
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

32 BAREBEHAEEZEHEEH)
(b) BIHBATRTZ HRRERE

(1)

GMHG #7727 A[ 2R Z 1%

M 20094 10 A30H * GMHG /T {E % 28,000,000 & 7T (1 72 47218,400,000 7T ) 2 Al 4
REE - BIBHA2014F10A308 - ZERBETVRFNES%FTE - WARFHRE 2 ERIE
IR o

ZEFHEABRBEERLGMHG TR ZENMT
MR ER mRER A ARERDIHIRTRER T -

—  HRESBEATEERERE - AIGMHG B SR EREMD 1,778.10 KT (AIRE AT AAE
B2 E TR RARELAE) R GMHG E@MK -

20116 A28H ' GMHGEERIFE AR BB AT BBRERE 2 & TIERRAGHE - TIirERE
HEMR1,778. 10X T AEEEM 1,673.00% T °

BrIESCATE IR sk EEih - BTRITTRBRZIEKMR 2014F 10 A30 BIREEER - RIFATRKRE
B2BER EESBARENTKBE(AI2009F 10 A308) % $37@A 28 B 2
BMAREKGMHGER AT - FHitt - B E2012F3 A31H * GMHG #1TH A R ZER
HESBERRDEE -

A201248 A 248 - ANAF)EL Hope Sky Investments Limited ([Hope Skyl) &I 2% - Wik
GMHG #7172 2% 28,000,000 E 7T 2 AT R RIE - R AIH T2 279,344,444 L BARVE R
BRI EER I AE - BEZSRAENIREL 55,399,000 7T © BIRR 5 AT L@ KA]
BREBNDAABEZEZE  CHERALINARARBENABEZZSHABZ AN BEEE -
Bt © HGMHGEITZ AR B 2 REED MR E MBI R ET 2N -

ERAMFBRRFRRS  HAIRREEZ2SARHE AR 2z - M2013F3A318 ' ©¥
MABERABERATNIERBBEET 2 EREREAABEBIBR 5E55,399,0007T(2012 F :
T ) 2N CIEL R B RER -

R EE - TRRERERRGEEZEBITARRRKRBIRRER 2 E—FFE I HIEHIR
BHIA2009F9 4308 20116 A28 AK201248 824 B 2 Ral A ff o

AF i 201272013
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(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

32 BAREBEHAEEZEHEEH)
(b) BIMBATRTZ IRREREE)

(1)

CCBC #7712 A /R 15

M2012F4 427 8K 2012F9 A18H * CCBC o FIMKKR China Healthcare Investment Limited
(TKKRJ) K2 R] % 17 [ & 65,000,000 3% 7T (8 % 74 4 507,000,000 7T ) £ 50,000,000 3 7T (48 %5 7
#7390,000,0007T) 2 AT R R - BIBIB DRI R2017F4 27 B R 20179 A 180 - 2EFE
BTIREFE 7% 518 B W EHI -

EBRFBEABRBERBCBCEBRZENNT
- PBRERETHEERENEERHAERSTTE -

- WEBFBEATEERRE  RICCBCANTRERKR?2.838XT(AIRBAIRKER
ZE TR SRR T8 22 CCBC H3@A »

BRIELRIEWIEED s - KKRRARF B Z I RIREEEHBIR2017F4 827 BK2017F
SR 18 HITMEED -

NERA 2 THRBREEZ REEE NG MBI RRET 2 8 -

FERRMBMEARRBERS  REEZARREEZ2NERMB AR Z# - H2013F3 A
318 RS HRABRETUEREBET 2 ERER R AAEBEL N 56,404,000 7T
(2012%F : Bn) 2 AP BRI B &K MER -

AR RBGER R G 2 E—SFEHN B A2012F9 18 H 2 AR ©

G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

33 RO EBEE

B EBETRMEE —MBARZG (R 36(a)) ARG 1 G H R B EL 2 BT
BRI - RN EBEEFAZEHMT

2013 F 20125

Ft Tz

REH] 554,167 511,791
BT HE MR 26,316 42,376
BT 2 R H B (M 5E 36(a)) (450,255) —
REE 130,228 554,167

HZE2013F3A31HILFE  BROHLIEEETZ 8K AEE)26,316,00070(2012 4 : 42,376,000 T) B
BEENERAER -
34 EEWA

BREWAEMEPHR 2 BENETI#ARGRES REREFE  BHAEREEEGEMERREERA
HiRER —FARBB —FRiEEM -

£

2013 2012 201144818
Fr FT Fr
LB LE|
= PR RE RS N R 18 AR S e AT 2 TR FUB 116,961 63,489 54,148
FERBWAZHEE 752,882 444,133 237,296
869,843 507,622 291,444

m ..
IERE D 656,098 376,670 193,123
RENER 213,745 130,952 98,321
869,843 507,622 291,444
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(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

35 BA - ERKRE
(a) BEEMAEBTZEE
KRGS EaSARBO BB RER L HEHNEEERZHR - AR ZERDZAKI D RFEL)

EERMEHFHBOT -
B
fizE Bx  ROBE EBEGE EARE  REER Bm
Fr Fr Fr r T T
R2011E3A318RK
4R1B &% 188,903 1,441,870 5,368 30,172 757,852 2,424,665
HZ201263A3181L
FEZEREE:
EREFIRZANALE 1 - - — — 31,339 31,339
YRR B A ] 35(b)(i) 2,635 31,621 — - - 34,256
B SER I 35(0)(i) 13,176 158,108 — — — 171,284
EiEE FHRH 35(b)iii) (5,811)  (43,037) 5,811 — (5,811)  (48,848)
R2012F3A318kK
4A1B2&E 198,903 1,588,562 11,679 30,172 783,380 2,612,696
HZ2013F3A31B1L
FEZEREE .
EREFRZANALE 11 - — - - 96 96
BRAEDR-—RNBARRTZ
TRREFMETRS 35(h)(iv) 27,935 223,476 - - — 25141
RER LR EMET2BRH 35(b)(v) 346 2,614 - —  (22,688)  (19,724)
R2013E3A31 B2 227,184 1,814,652 11,679 30,172 760,792 2,844,479
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

35 BRA - BRERKRE ®)

(b) R
2013 F 20124
BisE IR & 5 et ©F
(FR) Fr (FR) Fit
EERE
BREEO0 Tz T 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
BEITRHE
REH] 1,989,032 198,903 1,889,028 188,903
U BE BT B A 0) — — 26,351 2,635
WA B FEPE I M A 2 (ii) — — 131,757 13,176
EEA=EEgE0) (iii) — — (58,104) (5,811)
WREEDR —HWNBARETZ
GIE:Y &8 (iv) 279,344 27,935 — —
BOIRORBRERE (v) 3,462 346 — —
REE 2,271,838 227,184 1,989,032 198,903

e
SS

ERBRFAAGRERTEEIRZBE  YRNATBRERAS L RERBROHFAE-—ENREE - A
TARRARFBEETHER < HEHE -

4E ¥ 2012/2013 137



138

A EHEM T

(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

35 BRA - BRERKRE ®)
(b) K% (%)

BieE

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

PAUTE T 2 R ST

R2011F6A288  RARAIK—MEBZWBARIGMHGHI Y EE & BE2012F3A31BLLEFEWR
B USHME R EKHIB 2 Al ([USHME R E |) 2 2 3Rk (R TE36(0) - tERRBREZ — 35 RAMEH %
726,351,000 % i@k - RERE RS Bk H 2 M 1E34,256,0007T5 & « At 2,635,000 5 AR AR &
31,621,000 7Lat AR s (B ER o

PAUR IR SF 12 I I A e B BT AR D

201146 A28H + ABEIE] M % M GMHG — % FEIE AR AR UL HE GMHG S 4N 15% AXHE o 2 A) A JEIE IR i R

BITAR131,757,000 R E@BAERWERE  EREZRBEZEBRM ZME 171,284,000 LT £  Et -

13,176,000 yTiF ABRAS % 158,108,000 Tt AR5 @ (B o

@88 &k

REZE20129F3 A31HILFE - £ $£58,104,000 i {7 1A 48,848,000 7T 2 A EHE M - % B €75229,0007C
Z AR -

BERMOEHE At ARIEBTRARZERD 2EERETRD - REMSBEARNEFEITG) K BHE
REE RO EES,811,000 L2 RBCRBEFEB AL LB FE - ©NBEEMKRG 2%EE 43,037,000 L8
R BRIk o

WS AER A —fHBARET 2 T RRRE

201248 H24 B - RE]H Hope Sky&I i - BEBRMNAR S A HIE1T 279,344,444 R A RIETIR (D 1E R B DAY
f% 28,000,000 7L GMHG # HH AT IR E= R (R HTEE32(b) - ZERERD HIEX S B2 mEFE - Bt -
27,935,000 7Tt AR A K2 223,476,000 7Tt AR B ER o

RERESBE MEIT 2B

R2012F 11 A20H - REIMRIE2012F10 A5 A2 A B AMHE#TT 3,462,032 [N E A 0.855 L 2 I AELE
Bt - 346,000 TTEH ABRA K 2,614,000 FTa ABR D8 B BRFTIA (R HIFE35(d)) -

G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

35 BRA - BRERKRE ®)
(c) f#fE
BEEEER A -

() R E
RERASESRADA(2004 FEFMNR) - RAIRMNEBRANZES A DR T RARBR - EEE
BREOKBERR  ARARENEEENAEXEBBETEIHZER -

(i) BB
BABRREGEMBELRND <EE  MERRDcESRUERRZAIDIKRET B

(iii) B lF
BEAGBERRTRERARBEZCARTERER ERSUEFHEZLAEBE  MEERAR
{BIETYIRBIRE 2(s)(ii) Pt AR D A B0 2 SR R b 2 S AT IR ERR -

() BHEE
BHRESHATRENBARBRAZAEERARARIZERAMBITRG CABEREZZE

(v) [EZEE

EHFERSHMBRREEBUIINEBUBRRELZEN =5 - ZFEEBERME2wW) EzE
FTRIREE o
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A EHEM T

(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

35 RE - REBERKRE(#®)

(c) f#fE(E)
(i) ZErEE
BEFEEERUNESN  BEFHBRAREREETFE2EEBR  BARRBHEETHBER
RTEZBBEF10% BARGFHG  EEZRBe A El S5 adMELRZ50% A
b MPBEETBREDNEEBARNMNECEZTEEBeTRAILTERHER - Hi%
EENMEBRETMNIVE - ARHEEIBABMEEE 2EE  siBURITAR - HERET
Aig  BBRESESDHEF25% ArEMER -
(vii) R IEEFE
AABEEEL SN REPRBZEZUHBEREF LA BEZEFEETFE KW T 209) FTE
ZERTBRERE
wviii) BhlEE
ITIEB MR, AEMERS
(1) WESEEFIMES BEREBLEEMEAFEEZEREZ & ¢
(2) EBER—MHBRAR ZEREMN, BB RKEIESEMERH WSS ER
(3) BHEBEBETHERAZES -
(d) ZEFE

M2013F3R8318 A FRAKMFEE A ZFH LT K2575444,0007T(2012 4F -
2,371,942,00070) e RBREH%Z  EFTEZRNBRZEEAR0.0137C(2012F : 0.0170) * &
29,534,000 70(2012 % : 19,890,000 7T ) Z REARR B - RIREEIR - BRARERERABE -

HREBZ2012F3A31BIEFE  EFERIRNE 22,684,000 2 RERE - ZE/RER 2012
FOAARTZMEBRFRE B EHRE - IREA ,\?%Wi@mbsﬁﬂxﬁ*éfﬁéuﬁﬂéi%ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
—HHEEH N BHA2012F 10816 B2 RGEEHA o

G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

35 BA& - RBERERE (#)
(e) BEXEHE

SEEREAZERARDRESEEHEERESELEARLE  tMEBERARKFRLEEZ
EmMREEBARESAERAZBE  #BARRAEDR L AN EAME TR -

SERELEHHEARBRRRYREE  UEBRSERREBER T EHEZRSEEKTER
W2 BERMNERZ R MR BES T - T RBEERR S EERREELHE -

MEMREZE %  SENREEALREREREAZEE - FALEN  KERTEEREMER
LEH  MEHETEEREAABEFABRSCERAE - EXABHMBAREBDEK

REZE2013F3A3MBIEFE  EEFA 20N F2RE  #EFAEEALINETEHE - AR
WAL R - EEAEEARMBERIRN 2B FIE « HITHRD - FREEREERN - RAFRLE K
HEEENRKERE -

MN2013F K 2012F3A31BEZBEEARLENT ¢

M B
B 5T 2013 & 20124 2013 F 20125
Fx Tt Tt T
RE

TR EMERR 28 150,177 — 150,177 —
FTBER 29 861,637 362,596 415,009 233,898
MEMETET 30 3,739 4,899 — 682
BARBEAAEGZSRAR 32 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164
BERAsE 1,629,520 709,212 693,949 422,744
AR 6,126,341 5,860,116 2,844,479 2,612,696
BEERLR 26.60% 12.10% 24.40% 16.18%

DEHEMBRR T FEINFEHIEARRK - HIEE29 Rt ERRID

44 2012/2013 141



(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

36 WERHEHELH
(a) HERWKIE—FHEL A7 B

20108 A2708 ' RRAIBEARBERBRMN7UTRAETREAHERERZ2EWB LA EEE
239% M- FEBLERD - ARIMIREER TR ARG EIE ) K& B ([ E B
) - MERA 2R AKREE2010F 8 A27 HEMFARBEBHIMER - REERHANELFR
S GRAIAERE RN AFRERMS ) LAT{E 280,000,000 3 7t (% 7 2,184,000,000 7T ) 5E X
B LW ARREEIER FIREER  TERARIRERRN 1588 TEMBEMEEE 2 EEE
Wtn o MEMER TREEESD  IEZRDRMBREESZNEE - MEERIZRET(E 280,000,000
EL(HEE R 2,184,000,00070) R EHARE T A ARBEEROEZEETE(ME X AHAEES
2010F8 A27EMGENEE) 2 ZEBFE - HEB A UTER AR ER QR BITHESE - W
ERE—  ARRHERZGRBRHEREYREEEN - FIABEREZBEWTHAT - BHAR
HERERAREBEASRIEZET  REAHBHKRBRS 25 ARG EEE T (FH:E33) -

(VER/RZ 8N 2 RGPEEEER () BEERHECEEFE BEBLHEEARTD
fEa 2 K 8314,696,000 T2 2 REABRREMREREN - AR QRN 5 & RE EEL 225

& BN BRI EER L E R0 s 2 aEE -

R2012F 88268  EHAI VRN AEREBHIHMER MTERKBNELERHTIUATE
280,000,000 E T (8% 12 2,184,000,000 70) e B £ » AL - HEEIABRKEEEAITER
THERRE R BSR A AR BN 15.88 TLRIBEFT A O & 2 HEEAIAZ D -

201268268  ARIEIREEEKB AT - RER20.55% 2 BRGHRER % (817,332,808
REmREEARMN4.91% ERAIRAER ) BBEEAMERB AR 201248 A26 HERZE 2014
F2A26H REMEREZAEREALNHAERTSHBEZOEREELI MBI MEFLER
SFATER B ET ([EARREEE]) - RARARKREESNE 201268 A27 BRHEITHLH
BRHHRE L 2 ER S o AR IEGS TIREEZRATI 116,445,000 T2 RERED L
EZEHBIRG - SIMIEB2012F8 A27 AR EQRI TR EBEZEELERD L HEFE -
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

36 WERHEMBAR (&)
(a) HERWKHE KBRS (E)
R2012E9AE 11 A @ AFIRREEERBNBR BRI TEREBENT -

() M2012F9H27H ' 20.55% Z B HERHERY (7 (BN 7,332,800 A 2= EL g X 3B A% 5 4.91% M
Bl AR ) B EREITE c HRE 116,445,000 TR 2012F 10 A2 8RS XN - BE2
RTHEROERNENBEEET AR -

(i) M2012F9H18H - 17.8% Z #RE EARE AR 1 (BN 6,355,100 % 2 B &l E i@ AR 51 4.25% 2 &
FERAER)BEZHTE - AAASAZNRE - R201269AK2013F3 A+ ERH
EZME - DRINAIREXF50% Kk 25% B (E - 4857 50,459,000 7T K 27,122,000 7T ° #& T
25% - Eﬂzg 014,000 T2 M EREBHR2013FI AN BHERGHAERN SR ERER B
HEETA

(i) M2012F 11 A16 8 - 41.1% 2 AR L HAER D (B 14,665,617 IREH AL MRS 9.81% 2 &
FARAER) D ERETR - REAS B ARE - R2012F11 AR2013F5 7 - @R
EZAE - DRIARE X[ 50% & 25% #IR(E » 1857 116,445,000 7T K 66,956,000 7T © &R T
25% -+ B166,956,000 7T 2 M S REHH 2013 F 11 A -

ERRAOMBEMRARES  E—RHHBARROCEB R THEREEREZI AR AL BER
AEmzEeREE (EUWBZ) PR TFER 2 A 72 BB 167,000,000 7T » RELZ 201343 A 31
BEE @ BT 2 R4 R EIRE(79.45% (20124 : 0%)) R ARITE 2 3874 BARE 2 48 (8 HA
1#(20.55% (20124 : 100%)) B A # B 1E £ 7 127,356,000 0(2012 F : Z 1) K 48,438,000 7T
(20124 : RABETE 29,178,000 7T) EHRE A 7] 2182 o

W HHE B A o B SR HHE I A SR R SR A 2 R S R DA M — R R ) RIS 20107 8 A
20 - 201068 A26H 20124697188 - 2012$9H 27 AK2012F 11 16 BZ AR R ©

4E ¥ 2012/2013 143



144

(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

36 WBERLEHMBAR (&)
(b) WIEME A2 5EMER

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

AP FE32(b) AT - 201258 A24H - ARIKREH GMHGETTZ AT ARER - RIFEFAK
ZHRZ R - AT R R AT R GMHG 3T IR 17+ 15 GMHG Z &8 KB BT IR AL
14.34% » MR AREERA A RRZRER S GMHGH D - £ BN GMHG 2 #a7 i
75% 35 E4)78.58% ©

201268 A15H  CCBCEABREBAEEHME ([ FHEEE] - China Stem Cells (South)
Company Limited ([ CSC ) B 3E35 $l 1IR3 ) A IR (5 B BE 155 + DA 16,841,000 £ L (%
7#1130,045,000 ) 2 B REWRBEBBRER B 10%CSCRAR#E ° RUILRE - CCBCH
REABNERAT -REASSE(REEE DT —BRMHDE G - BiEZBE - RE
SEAEIES B 20,845,000 T (HHE R4 161,193,0007T) - BERCCBCATREBIEAETR
Fx 787,314,015k CCBC F @Ak (BB CCBC BT L MARA 10%) ©

P2012F 11 A12 B LR P15 - EREEKEE 10% 2 CCBCEETE B - CSCRIRKA
CCBCHI—ZREENBARR - HEZIRERXFHIAFE 4,004,000 F T (FHEH 31,148,000 7T ) 4
E o

Ean

REZE2013F R2012F3A31IEEE - £E I 1,123,000 T (FHE R 48,759,000 7T )
51,983,000 3 7T (FEE 49 15,464,000 7T ) 2 B & B U EE CCBC HUBBAMNIR HE o

G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

36 WIERLHENBAR (&)
(c) U.S. Healthcare Management Enterprise Inc. ([USHME ) & B /18 4 &]

20117 A27H - —EEBE 2B RE GMHG FERMEE R USHME 100% 2 I » USHMEF B R E
R BB BT 56% 2 IR HE o UL (B /& 73,256,000 7T 35BN A1 %17 26,351,000 J& T i@ AR &
334 5,000,000 ZE 7T (FZ 7 39,000,000 7T) 2 H RELS -

EERFERER T Z2LENTE BN —RER - BARKECIABREELLDH - RAFE
A ERBWA BRI ER 2 BRI ERHTE 14 -

PR FEEZFHITI T

BREE AREE
T
B BREE -

& & 2 (FaE 15(a)) 5,548 5,548
"E 1,000 1,000
HipEUK ~ e MBI 7,770 7,770
ReMREEEY 41,949 41,949
TEHTF R 21,765 21,765
HEtEM g RTERE A (17,817) (17,817)
g FEE 60,215
SEPE MR RS (25,652)
WEEEE 2 EmEEBE (T 17) 38,693
ENABEE UWRSKRAES 73,256

ERUBEHNBLARZRERRESEEYRATZEIN
FiT
BEEE(E 73,256
FEEBENR (21,567)
FrasiTEBElRz AR BE (34,256)
FIERZEE MRS EEY (41,949)
(24,516)
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

36 WBERLEHMBAR (&)
(d) IREZELHELEEEERAT(EEL N ) RENBAT

2011 F 128268 —EEEZHERT GMHM (P H) AU BIZE M 70% 2 IR HE - BIZENHD
B 82.73% Z fk#E - #(E600,000,000 TTAIREEF o

KRB - RER B TARFEEELE  ERVEERAMBZ AR RN PEER L E
ZBRERRER - At ERERA/EENMLEANKBEMMERER  AZUBRREBEE
FEE - BEMNMEBEAZIREERFEHET RS NPEIEREZZ BRET -

TRBAATRIEE ER A RS B A 2 BfE -

B
Tt
& & & (FaE 15(a)) 1,662,731
Hip R ~ & MBI 37,150
ReRBEEEED 3,546
BT S EARE 1,703,427
HEtEMgkERER (649,754)
JEPE IR S (453,673)
T FEE 600,000
BERBLAE UAFECHNBESEN 600,000
ERUEHBARZRER RS EEBYRAZEIN
FT
FENiE =g 600,000
FEEENR (600,000)
FrERZEE MRS EEY 3,546
3,546
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

(a) REBRETEEERIZBLENT -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

ANAIA2002F7 B30 BIRAMEREEI([2002 F 521 ) - AR]FE BN 200543 A 30 HET
ZBREFRAE LRBZRFRER - RAFERET B ([RIT518]] - ER 2002 F518 - [#%
SHERESTE]) - WERIE2002 F5TE] o AR T EEBIRIE 2002 F 5T 8% B M BB ARE - RITET
EIEAARMRMPA 200996 A 16 HEREB X ATAIEREE ER Em 4L 1L o 3 & H A0 B AR g
ARRIRATRIEIIRE - A - RAAARKIERBMAFTEZEBRERNS - D& T17
6 - MEZRIESF 2002 Fat B BRATETEI(QEA) B 53 o

200255 BIZ ANRBBRBRETARSAEMNMBAR 2 2BESR - UERRSERNKBL
AT RBYIFMITESR([2002 F2EE DIESHBRINOE - USRrTREFZER -

BRITA B BN EBRBRETARXEBB AR ZITRAR - BE EX(BRIFNTE=S
RBUIFATES)  ER -  BRAKRE(RELEE] ER[2002F28%F | G BRE
28E IERERBROH  URFREZER -

BITEREZSEREFSGARE ZMERBREMAERITZIRNEE - AT EBRBATF
200563 A30 A (FRMBTEI 2 B B EHTRMNAEZ 2 10% - RAFRAE - R E
BREMTREBEZEZBREAERE - ATEREZSEREAIEREERRITREZAEER
MBIz ROBE - TEBABRRTHEEITRMNZ30% °.

RIBE2002 5 I MRTFE - FHITEREERBRENBHMZEMN+ —EARES R T IS
RYIZE2EEZMEBRE(RRESTERAMARTRZEBRE)ME BT RETET RN E
g NMEHBARBHRHEBITRNZ 1% °
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(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

37 BRE e
RABREH B TERGHENT : (£)

(a)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

RE 2002 5t 8 - BEBRARNESENEARAZ PRAER TATE - EXEHRTEER
2002512 A27 HAIRE - HAGEBARNAHEF 2 +F - £2013F3A31 0 - ZFBR
DB -

RIERTHE - BRETAEFENSREAZMMARE TATE - ETFABBZHAME
izt

BIE2002 F5H B RR1TAHE  EFSRMEAERRBES ZEAHERLGEH TR L 2 BK
8 BRREFHERER S 2 AR R X ATEIRRE 7 E T ARAIPTARR -

B1%2002 58 RIRITE S ARALBRBHOAMEEARREMBHZE R - ERNAR
BRBHAZ 1 TESIEAZRRH ZR(E - BREAXM -

RI%2002 518 RRTATE - (THEERHESSET  BETBERU T =ZFHZ2ERE ¢

(1) RA—R22EEXTEBREZOEA(LAS—BELXR)EBMIAERREXRMIIKD 2
WmiE :

(2) EERRTBRREZNEANLEZXBENBIMEARERMIIRNZFHRTE : &

) EipzmfE -
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37 BRE®)

(BIHEZEREE - BALETIT)

R E M T

(b) UTBEXFEEFRIBREZEIRIMKN - FEBRESEBEEXTROGE

BREHE BEAH

BRESHER

RTESZBRE

—R2005%3 741
([E—TBERE])

—72005%F3 A30H
([E-EBRE])

~1R200954 427 H
(TE=TERE )

4,400,000 —ZRERTASHEA3MEA

63,206,245 —ZRER BB 6 AR

£%E20%

- BRI R BEs 18 EAKR

5%E60%

- BRI PRI 30EA%

&%1E100%

21,700,000 —EZRERH B HE

55E30%
-ZRRL AR EAR
F5E60%

-ZRRLAHE 12EA%

£%E100%

2015627288
LEBREREER

M201543A3H
LERBERBER

201954 A26H
LERRERBER
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(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

37 BRE®)
(b) UTREXEEYZHIEBREIRLRIFH  FEBRESEFEEESIRAEE : (£)

HE BREZE BEHR4G BREANHR
T

BRFEEZBRE:

—R2005%3 741 16 9,870,000 —ZRERLAHE3EA 7201562 A28 H
([E—TBERE]) BERBERRER
—720094 A 27 B 115 23,633,000 —ERERLAHARZE0% 12019%4F26H
([E=EBRE]) ~ZRERHBSR6EA% LEBRLEREER

5%E60%

-ZRERLAHE 12EAR

£%E100%

122,809,245

BOERER THEARMNAIRBE - RAREEM -

201393 B 31 BHEARITERAI AT TEAEIRES122,809,24515 (2012 F : 122,809,2451%) ° 1A
201353 A3 BAITHEZBRIEZTEEA1.15TE1.76 7T(2012F 1 1.15TE1.76 7T) - BiNfE
TR T EUEAR A3.46 F(20124F 4465 ) ©
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38 CREREERAAEE

FE RPES MERERRARRAESEEFR EFERTEL SETEUENEMERZBARE
ZBERREBESTRRZBEAABENBREZEITE -

SEERAFERRNMEETRLFRMAAZBEREEZBRXERHM AL

(a) FEmRAE
SEZEERRIBARUESREMBUIRMESL - ERECHERK  EERR - UHZEEE

R R B ELAE o

REMEALEMEKENS - S BLETEESR EPETENEERE - SREREEL
FRUFEBZEERR  SEST YRR ZMN - BERED 802 YR RAR # ik
BHEORE180 ANERER - ARG IMED & 2 BUKIA - 52 2151 B TR R 8B 2 (9 3R ]
K REMEENBZRUESRME - BRUEFREMXNRIERREE S - SREREZEER
% SESHAMTUARNEREZLRERER - ROTRSREMFRIFTRECEFRER 2BE
RUBHRERN SEERSUEHRBIEY AR -

SENERARIBEREESERAGERENTE - BETNE.D 8 2 BARGURRRIEUR 2 ik
NHARE c EPREMETERERZBREARTHEERRERTE

RREHER FEZIETEEZEERR  AAEEE 15% (20124F : 15%) % 36% (2012 4F :
34%) 2 ERER D RIRAEBZHEARFPRAEZRATE -

K5 B EBRIAL & MR R AE BB ERBR C BRMBEE Z REERT  BRANH
FAOETEBENHBHERI  RELERFEENEMESEEAZEERRZER - KRENHEH
AUABZEUBEERMEAHZAZEERBRIHE40HE -

HREEEHREBUER EERRMECE-SEBCRBEINME23 125
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

38 CREREERAAEBE )
(b) FEBELEE

SEETHEIEEEMSEAEAGZRSER  BREREEBCEBRERAERNERREF K
BE SE/BRETHERARLAEHZADESTE  WERBEBERZES  tlEREE 2T
MBRE  RETEUHEEZAGERERTE  LENE  RETHESTE -

RBERR - TRABEERDANUITOARBRRERERER  SRBE(BFERSHM XL (W
BFEIRBEREMRBOIINEAE NS ZHBROTESY - UREELARAEBEREARIAZ
BRBREE
£HF
WBE W2E
ARALERLTE ANKERRERE(HEN)
-Fhg -FAE WEME —“EfE -ENE RENME
5 BER RIRRE BOREE B85 BEE  RER BORWE  BOREE g% EER
i i i i i i i i i i

EEHRABENR 2 530203 132,589 — 66279 60043 369558 166,84 — 640 53640
HEER %9 533433 16,180 398250  oA78T2 86163 3683 - — N 5%
REHETRA 30 1,385 1385 1,216 3,986 3739 1,927 1232 2075 5,034 4,899
THREE ) 120650 35490 613470 769610 613967 350,15 - — R0 3T
RiAEEEHE 3 137,405 - — 137405 130228 56669 - — 6699 554167
Efpkinang - M5 - 45 45 - 413 43 43

1323076 186,068 1,012,936 2,522,080 2,260,029 1,656,659 168,489 2075 187,003 1,800,19%
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cREREERAABE®)
(b) FTHELEE ()

NE|
WBE 0ME
ANRERRLRE ANFERESRE
-EjE -ENE ENLE —Ehg —ENE WEME
fis REX  BONRE [BONEE 4E RAEE B2k BOMME  BONERE #E BAE
i i i n Tz T T T T I
HHERR 28 173,660 - — 173660 160911 9437 - - 9437 9437
HEEN 29 68,487 16,189 398250 482,926 415000 233898 - — 1388 1338%
HERETAR 30 - - - - - 695 - - 695 682
TERER 3 85,160 - — 85160 53202 58657 - — BT 077
A REESE 3 137,405 - — 137405 75561 566,699 - — 6699 131,987
164,712 16,189 398250 879,151 704683 869386 - — 869386 432,181
BREHEER:
EERSELE 40 - - - - - — 18400 — 18400 -
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38 SRIEMEERAAERE H)
(c) FEmB
EMEHFRERTIBRERTER  HEEXRBERETEL - WIDNEBEEHN R EY
SRIAFEESRASESRENEARR AL BENEAR - EEMEYH RS Y HTHRKS

BRRABBEIFEMELZ AABENERR -ZERBERTR  FETHREENEZEREER
B c EEZFAEMAHEERBER - WHNTX() -

() FIEBR
TRADEE LR RNRE PR Z M EHR

&8 27
013% 2012 F(RE7) 2013 20124
BRAZ ERFIE BRAZ ERFIE

% 7 % S % 7 % S

BEFZEE/(BE):
FHEER 3.00 (261,031) - - - - — —
BAFREBE KRR 19.50  (150,177) — - 19.50  (150,177) — -
RO EBEET 6.18  (130,228) 828  (554,167) - - — —
BERETEL 431 (3.739) 4.05 (4,899) - — 5.43 (682)
(545,175) (559,066) (150,177) (682)

BHNREE/(BE):
EHER 305 63,102 305 49346 — — — —
A RREEEN 035 2,101,322 0.49 1,746,669 0.10 20,823 0.06 7,813
FHEBER 482 (600,606) 270 (362,59) 277 (415,009) 020 (233,898)
1,563,818 1,433,419 (394,186) (226,085)

154 G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

38 SREREERAAEMEH)
(c) F|EEfEE)
(i) BRFEESHT
FEET R 2013F3 A31 BMFREBE LA/ THI100EEY  MAAEMAIERESFIE
EEEEHFMNEDRIR D, H1%9,621,0007T,79,621,0007T * 1R B 5% D BIE 4/ hn
#79,557,0007T /9,557,000 7T K JE 1% # 4 & 2 5 Bl AL 2 & 164,000 7T 64,000 70 (2012
o EERMNEE DRI, B4 11,675,0007T, 11,675,000 7T 4R B I BIE A0, 6
10,409,000 7T,/ 10,409,000 7T K FE22 Il 1 4 25 9 B 42 o0, @i 2 49 1,266,000 7T,/ 1,266,000
JT) o
RALEBBRESNETR  BRAREPRANEXBLEE MREFFEEEANBREEREFLZ
mfﬂﬁﬁﬂfﬂ S emIE  SERBEREN(RREBEF)RBHEE RS2 LA
DESELNRES WNEERBEHABE 2 IBFEETETAELEZREREN X
Hrﬂﬁﬁﬁavﬂ%@&%m@mﬁu( REBHEF) RIS 2 AR D) 2 HETIERZEFIR
ZHEHFEFS T HRBA 2 FEMEITHET - ZBEHMEIRE 2012 FHRZ EEET -
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38 SRIEMEERAAERE H)

(d) HHmEpeEs
Bl EETEXBABENERR Y WHEE SEIRNSEEAARE  BT(ETRET
([£7])) - BRIMARBRANUAREES - MEELARYHER  REEMERS FFREAZ 2 HME
RS I8 A EM -
EMPNFEET BT - B8 ARE FIBTRFAEABRIETRE  ERER - R5
S RBTSZAMATEERER - MEABTERETHY  AFBEPET, BTEXFe LBAAE
KEE

() EHZEERER
TREFEERARARBEHRMEYREAAHER 2GR N 2 HtEBFHEZ O
REENABRELZEHER

S EBe (BB T5R)

&£E

2013 2012
(&)
B0 AEH B FhER A S N AL FIET A
T T T T T T T T T T

Bmas 11,242 1217 15,775 162 1,149 7597 1,301 1973 - 49
HHEES 143,65 226,989 - 99,134 10250 154987 159,519 — 109,860 10,808
At = - - - - - - - 1,083 -
255 49,412 44,775 - - - - - - - -
FEER (415,009)  (261,031) - - — (23389 - - - -
THREE

AEE (613,967) - - - - 3a) - - - -
SERREE (824,606) 11,950 15,775 99,296 11399 (413,031) 160,820 1973 110,943 11,237
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38 SRIEMERERAAEE®S
(d) EHEE )
() EHZEREEE)
SN (B THIR) ()

AT
2013 F 20124
Ep ARY =TT AR #
T T T T
BITRE 5,999 857 293 1,301
R PEH 49,472 44,775 — —
MK B AREITZ
BT e 697,106 — — —
EER (415,009) — (233,898) —
A AR A5 X R AR 7 (128,763) — (188,164) —
BERMTE 208,805 45,632 (421,769) 1,301
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(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

38 2REMREERAAEBE E)
(d) EMmEpEE)

(1)

R

TRIGEREMREEBEEATE ZINEERHREE - RRMAEMCRARERETT
2 SEZBEBRREN(RREEN) G S C HARSBO K EL ZBIEEE - glitm
o REBRRBTRETZHEEX S TG I L AMER I MERLH 2 EATE -

20136 2012 E

HNE HRBE HNE HErH&
ExEn BIRRE YESHMG B RFIRRE  HERHEM
JRY) BRzEE Hozgg (B EizgE HHrz¥E

ARE 5% (13,849) 14,043 5% 65 9,840
(5%) 13,849 (14,083) (5%) (65) (9,840)
BT 5% 789 - 5% 99 —
(5%) (789) - (5%) (99) —
T 5% 51 4,957 5% 54 5,504
(5%) (51) (4,957) (5%) (54) (5,504)
BT 5% 465 512 5% 21 540
(5%) (465) (512) (5%) 21 (540)

ERAAZINZAMEREREESARIAERNEERTEGLZRENNE - CRBSHRZIE
KRBT ZBRKEF EEm 2 NS E -

BRESMIBRREXEHERANETIEEERNRER RS Az EREERRZERTAY
EERARK - ZANM T BEEEENIMEEER 2 M RRERAEEEREE MR EZR -
ZENWOIRE 2012 FRR 2 EEH#T -

G B AR A R A R



R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

38 SREMREERAAEE S
(e) HKEREE
EEEELSEE(AHE24) RAHEZA(AME2NELRELDEAR - REESRAR 2
FREEI  EREANS FTELRE o

REBARBHRZEFNERTEHERENES LABESREMITERERZBHRR - UkE
BHRBESNRR - (ERAHBERBEARANLTESFREDRRIERENWE - Y EHE
REXAREHETER -

SEMEFLTREDNFKERMRIEAE - RESBEMSERER  ZROU LT EBORREIEL
MEFREETED —FMRZHE - INEBF A LHRSFREELNARERIREE -

SEMEERRE—HNBARZREZ S EHEB I RRERE RZRIEEMEEZRERR
BREBPR2013F3 A3 HEBREN I TEHFZAABELA/THK10% @ MEMAIEREEZRELR

B EB 7 FEENNRREREMNBE N, 421,240,000 7T (2012 4F  11,734,00070) @ MEE
iR A R AR R D g, A 49 11,133,000 7T (2012 4F © 12,284,0007T) °

B MN2013F3A31AAAIR—EHBARIZRE LA/ THI0%  MEMAZRXRRET
g HeSYENA SR TRRERRARES  MEBZFEEMNED RGN, 54
29,782,0007T,/ 27,602,000 7£(2012 4F : 2,678,000 7T,/ 2,508,000 7T ) * R &% 79 Bl hn,/ 34
#14,435,000 7T,/ 12,771,000 75 (2012 4F : 1,977,000 7T,/ 1,862,000 7T ) } FE% I 14 # 25 9 Bl 42 A0
/ #215,347,000 7T,/ 14,831,000 7L (2012 4 : 701,000 7T/ 646,000 7T.) °

PREITETR  BENBERRBAEFF A BEERLRE)  URANEN FTERERREHIR
RECHBERERR BT A - SERRBTEEN RRE SN KRS #am c R AR E D K& E £
BEE  HMBRREEZAIHREEREMEARAES 2 AABE TR (FIEEMERESTE) MK
BRBME - ZADTEIRE 2012 FAHR 2 LT -
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38 SRIEMEERAAERE H)
() AfREE
()  URREEIEZSHTA
THRENRBESMERESLENE T HEERMTE : BEIFETY AL BESEHEY = AZH

T RBEMRUAAABEHEZERTAZEAE  BREBTAZARBENDERHER
REBEMEFREAFEIRESRBAETEZENE - ARESHFEOT

- B1RESFR) - IREERTSTHEREBRTAZHRECRERAE)HELAER

- E2H - MAERBRTSTREUSRTARE MEERHADERAHERERAER
MBRB L HEETERAREE

- FIR(REFR)  NREFNEERAAUFERABEMSHEZHELIAEIABE
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38 SRIEMEERAAERE H)
() RAEEE)
()  HUAALBEIEZSHTAE)

2013 &
£E
B 5T 1R B2 E3I4K wmEm
Fr T Fr Fr
BE
AREEES 21 109,384 — 1,950 111,334
RS EH 24 212,402 — — 212,402
321,786 — 1,950 323,736
=N
EIE:i =t 32 — — 613,967 613,967
— — 613,967 613,967
2012 F (8 &75)
=B
B 5T FE1H EE F34 rEs
T FIT Tt FT
BE
Al EE A 21 120,668 — 1,950 122,618
R 5 EFH 24 117,776 — — 117,776
238,444 — 1,950 240,394
=N
GIE:i =t 32 — — 341,717 341,717
— — 341,717 341,717
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(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

38 CREREERAAEBE

&)
(f) AALEEE)
(1) U EEIRZ 2@ TAE)
2013 &
AT
B 5T 1R E24K E3I4K wmEm
Fr T Fr Fr
BE
EIElES S 18(a) — — 697,106 697,106
R G EH 24 94,247 — — 94,247
94,247 — 697,106 791,353
=N
EIE:i =t 32 — — 53,202 53,202
v SR K v 18 HR 32 — — 75,561 75,561
— — 128,763 128,763
20124
NG|
B sE B4 FE2® B34 Pk
FT T Tt T
=
AT E R 32 — — 56,177 56,177
S B K e 18 HR 32 — — 131,987 131,987
— - 188,164 188,164
MENE 1R NRE 2R TAMTEER o
HAEFIRAREBELE

BRE) R BYROBRRE 32(ii) F AT A ©
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
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38 CREREERAAEBE )
() RAALEEE)

(i) KAAREBELEEB IR A EE
R20134F K2012F3A310  MESRTAOUNER DA BEYREAZR SBIIK - #

T ERRIN
(M) EBE/ENEER/RRARZHBARREEARRERBER RERTEETER

H o ERULF R - 1?32 %f)’( AZARBEEEIAKA

(2) FE LA AE S 368,695,000 T(20124F 312,556,000 7T) W & Z BTG 2 T HRE
WMERARBEREATSEHE - NREPER  ZERAELEDNARBKENEE  THERAE
AR B E 1 o

(9) AAEEGE

TXHAEFE T ERMTAERDABERERZERTEREBR
Q) &F

(i) T EEN  BEMERERA MG EEFES
ERnBERAKEREZRE  NEUERTAZREMGRENKTE

(iii)  BIEHER
ETELOMBERZAABEDZZEURBEEERSFAMBRRKNER (NI EEZE
B - 2 ERRZEEG LREAERTEARBNERMRERZEEERTHEER
FEMER B 2 (n5% A KR BT SEdb A4 ED) o
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A EHEM T

(BIHEZE#EY - BAILETIT)

38 SRIEMEERAAERE H)
(g) AREEGHE)
(v) BAREEBHABRZ2HMEE

AR RE L RBEEE G AR BEN TIIREIR ZBARBRAETE

2013 &
H—X
HAR%T HEARRT
BB 0.95 7T 2.93% 7T
T8 8RR 18 36.36% 35.19%
TEHRAR B 1.11% 0%
2 3[R I 0.17% 0.77%
20124

H—=
HARET  WEBAREST
I E 0.997t 1,783 % 7T
TEER R 1R 43.10% 34.04%
TEHARR B 0% 0%
422 [ fip 1) 0.35% 1.30%

T RTE R EEEREE AABEATRFR-_EAYEEAEE
2013 F 201245
A R#T EPNCIE S
I E 8.14 7T 12.537¢
T8 AR 1R 53.59% 46.43%
TEEARR B 0% 0%
17 7 b 1) & 3.77% 2.84%
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R 7% 48 7 Hf &t
(BIEZHHED - BRI BTIIT)

39 RiE
(a) R2013F3F31H » UAHGEHBERRABEEHKEBRERREZEFRENT -
58
2013 F 2012 %
Fr FT
K&
EEES) 405,298 241,827

(b) R2013F3F310  RET THEHELHEEL ARENZRIEBENBARELT .

1 NG|
2013 & 20124 2013 & 20125
T T Trx T
KEY

R—FR 29,398 25,661 8,421 5,667
—FEBBERAER 28,309 38,967 16,140 —
AER — 51,464 — —
57,707 116,092 24,561 5,667

SENEZHENTAERZENE  MELHEE- RS RB—ER0F  YHENE  ERAEGHR
REMBAEHEHE - ELHELIBELAEE

%

ERREEHERA 2 T E 2 KB EAHEMNHEE 15(d) ARE -
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R 7 48 2 M &t
(B IEZHHED - BRI ETIIT)

39 &IE &)
() BtEE

MN2013F3A31H - EB@ A #E—#T56,101,000% 7t(2012 4 : 9,022,000 ) - HE R
47,588,000 70(20124F : 70,372,000 7T) * {EAR—MIE LTI DI AR #HERAFSZLARAK
BEeiE—IRE -

EEE—EETY B ARETNBRARMIEMEZEAEEY - RIEWZE - R 201343 A31
H 2 #ERE A AR 2,000,00070(20124F « AR 2,000,0007T) © #8574 2,475,00070(2012 F -
2,467,0007T) °

SEBEE = VHAAMNETOESEZ & FHE - REBEAFHRE  R2013F3A31BENZ
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Golden Meditech”; 801.HK), together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group™), is a leading integrated healthcare enterprise in China.

Golden Meditech is recognised as a first-mover in China’s healthcare industry. By turning our industry insight
into strategies, we have successfully identified opportunities in the market which allow us to establish dominant
positions in each of the businesses we operate in. Our strengths in innovation, market expertise, stringent
demand on quality, proven strategies and ability to capture emerging market opportunities have enabled us to
unleash the intrinsic values of each business unit and effectively accelerated our business growth.

THE HEALTHCARE SERVICES SEGMENT

Focusing on hospital management and related services, the Group is the first wholly-owned foreign enterprise
licensed as a nationwide hospital management operator in China, currently manages two reputable hospitals
in Beijing and Shanghai. The Shanghai East International Medical Center is a renowned hospital serving high-
end Chinese and foreign expatriates in Shanghai. The new Qinghe Hospital in Beijing specialises in haematology
and houses departments of various medical disciplines such as the In-Vitro Fertilisation (“IVF”) Centre to address
patients with different needs.

GM-Medicare Management (China) Company Limited is the first medical insurance administration, Third-Party
Administration (“TPA") service provider in China, connecting medical insurance companies, hospitals, and end
users by providing claim processing and bill settlement services.

This segment also includes China Cord Blood Corporation (“CCBC"; CO.US), a subsidiary of the Group. CCBC
is the first and largest umbilical cord blood bank operator in China that owns exclusive licenses in Beijing,
Guangdong and Zhejiang Province, and an investment in the exclusive operator in Shandong. CCBC remains a
major shareholder of Cordlife Group Limited (P8A.SGX), the largest cord blood bank operator in Southeast Asia
and Cordlife Limited (CBB.AX).

THE MEDICAL DEVICES SEGMENT

The Group is a pioneer in the development, manufacture, sales and distribution of blood-related medical devices
in China. Our domestically developed products are specialised in blood recovery, purification and treatment.
Our flagship product Autologous Blood Recovery System (“ABRS"”) was the first domestically developed device
to obtain approval from the State Food and Drug Administration (“SFDA").

VISION AND MISSION

The Group is committed to achieving long-term sustainable growth through unremittingly cultivating our
healthcare services and medical devices operations. We are investing in the healthcare industry with prominent
market potentials, limited competition, and high investment returns in order to continuously enhance our
shareholders’ value.

We are striving to maintain our leading position in China’s integrated healthcare industry, create a balanced
portfolio and enable each business operation to be a leader in their respective market. We endeavor to
benchmark ourselves alongside the global industry leaders in both quality and standards.

GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CORPORATE HISTORY AND MILESTONES

> New hospital facility with over 600 beds in Beijing’s Haidian District is scheduled for opening by
third quarter of 2013

> The Group invested US$50 million in China Cord Blood Corporation (“CCBC"; CO.US) through
the subscription of 7% convertible notes due 2017

> The medical devices segment has established a new distribution business for imported high-end
overseas medical devices

> Became the first healthcare enterprise from Mainland China to successfully list its depositary
receipts on the Taiwan Stock Exchange

> Acquired Shanghai East International Medical Center (“SEIMC") to enter into premium healthcare
services

> (CCBC secured an exclusive license to operate cord blood bank business in Zhejiang Province

> The Group disposed 3% interest in Fortress Group Limited (“Fortress”) for US$15 million, which
wholly-owns the privatised FunTalk China Holdings Limited (“FunTalk China”) after a successful
de-listing from NASDAQ

> Changed its name to “Golden Meditech Holdings Limited”, to better reflect the Group’s
integrated business model, multiple revenues streams and depth exposure in China’s healthcare
industry

> Launched China’s first third-party medical insurance administration, GM-Medicare Management
(China) Company Limited, as a joint venture with two leading US-based health maintenance
organisations (HMOs)

> New cord blood storage facility, then the largest cord blood storage facility in the world in terms
of capacity and daily processing volume, commenced operation in Beijing

> Transferred listing from the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") onto the Main Board of The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange Limited (801.HK)

> Completed the acquisition of the hospital management business

> CCBC successfully listed on New York Stock Exchange

> FunTalk China successfully listed on NASDAQ (later became Fortress)

> New cord blood storage facilities in Guangdong Province commenced operation

> Expansion of cord blood bank business into Guangdong Province

> Strategic investment in Pypo Technology (later became FunTalk China and Fortress)

> Strategic investment in Union China National Medical Equipment Corporation Limited (later
became China National Medical Equipment Co. Ltd., a large sino-foreign joint venture and one of
the leading medical device distributors in China)

> Strategic investment in the first cord blood bank in China and commencement of cord blood
bank operation in Beijing

> Medical devices production facility in Beijing obtained GMP certification and commenced
production

> Listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (8180.HK)

GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to announce that the annual results of Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the “Company” or
“Golden Meditech”) for the fiscal year 2012/2013 were in line with management expectations. During the
review period, notwithstanding the sluggish global economies, our seasoned experiences and strengths in
integrated healthcare industry in China have enabled us to implement our long term business strategies for
achieving satisfactory performances for our core businesses and fortifying our leading position in China’s
integrated healthcare industry.

During the review period, Golden Meditech has accomplished a number of significant achievements. For the
healthcare services segment, our newly constructed Qinghe Hospital in Beijing’s Haidian District has begun
its trial run. The Qinghe Hospital specialises not only in haematology, but also houses departments of various
medical disciplines such as the In-Vitro Fertilisation (“IVF”) Centre to address patients with different needs.
The total floor area of the Qinghe Hospital is approximately 75,000 square meters, with over 600 beds which
include 48 beds for the haematology wards. We believe the commencement of the Qinghe Hospital will signify
the next major milestone of our hospital management business and it will diversify our source of income and
strengthen our cash flow.

Leveraging on the existing sales platform of our medical devices segment, we have established a new business
to distribute imported medical devices. In August 2012, we signed a five-year exclusive product purchase and
distribution agreement with ThermoGenesis Corp., a company listed on NASDAQ Stock Market (NASDAQ:KOOL)
for the distribution of the AXP® AutoXpress® System (“AXP System”), an automated device used for the process
of extracting stem cells from cord blood, in China (excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan) and the Asia-Pacific
region once relevant government approval has been obtained in each respective region. This newly developed
distribution business will allow us to fully utilise our existing sales platforms and networks for seizing potential
market demand for premium medical devices in China.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Our total revenue increased by 20.4% to HK$1,079,062,000 compared to HK$895,869,000 for the previous
reporting period. Although the operational performance of the healthcare services segment was affected by the
relocation of our haematology hospital in Beijing, rest of the operations, especially the cord blood bank business
maintained steady growth during the year. Turnover of the medical devices segment sustained satisfactory
growth amid favourable Chinese policies on alleviating surgical blood shortage.

With the Qinghe Hospital scheduled to be opened in the third quarter of 2013, our capital expenditure for
the next fiscal year will be more stable as compared to previous years. Being a company that is striving to
maximise long-term shareholders’ value, the board of directors (the “Board”) has taken into account the return
to shareholders, the Company’s cash flow, the long-term development plan and other capital requirements
and has decided to recommend a final dividend of HK1.3 cents per share (2012: HK1 cent per share). We
acknowledge the continuous support and trust from our shareholders which enable us to stride forward
persistently. We will unremittingly balance our expansion plan and short term shareholders’ returns as we are
dedicated to delivering growth and long-term value to all shareholders.

While we have been striving to maintain our leading position in China’s integrated healthcare industry, we have
prudently explored all possible opportunities to maximise our intrinsic values. We are confident that the demand
for premium medical devices and services will flourish and its full potentials have not yet been reflected. We
believe the separate listing of our various business segments at the appropriate stock exchange would be
beneficial to our shareholders and the Group as a whole.

GROUP OUTLOOK

Despite sluggish global economies, the gross domestic product of Mainland China remained resilient and
grew by 7.8% in 2012. In order to harmonise the society and allow the general public to share its economic
success, the Chinese government has pledged greater support for welfare and decided to invest approximately
RMB400 billion by 2020 to facilitate the healthcare development. With Mainland China being our key sales
market, Golden Meditech should benefit from favourable government policies to improve the overall healthcare
standard in the country. Furthermore, we believe the new government will continue to deepen the healthcare
reform and we will make the best of any emerging opportunities.

We have firmly seized the valuable market opportunities in the medical devices and healthcare services
businesses in the past few years to deepen our business transformation. Not only we have further developed on
the medical devices segment in line with the government policies, we have also proactively expanded into the
healthcare services business. The opening of the Qinghe Hospital will enable our hospital management business
to thrive on, accelerate the optimisation of business structure and enhance our operational and management
capacities. This will further facilitate the integration of our healthcare businesses, maintain the growth
momentum and enhance our competitive strengths.

GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Going forward, we are fully confident in the prospect of Golden Meditech. We will ride on the industry
development trend, in alignment with our leading position in China’s integrated healthcare industry, to create a
competitive edge at our advantage. We will continue to accelerate the development of our medical devices and
healthcare services businesses through leveraging on our strengths in innovation and seasoned experience in
China’s healthcare industry, with a view to maximise our shareholders’ value.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to all our
shareholders and customers for their support. | would also like to express my sincere thanks to my colleagues
for their valuable contribution during the reporting period.

KAM Yuen
Chairman
28 June 2013
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The management is pleased to present the annual results of Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the
“Company” or “Golden Meditech”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2013. During the reporting period,
Golden Meditech has early adopted certain new Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") for the
preparation of financial statements. Considering we have significantly participated in the development of China
Cord Blood Corporation (“CCBC"), we assessed our investment in CCBC under the guidance of the HKFRS 10,
and taken into account Golden Meditech’s de facto control over CCBC; as a result, the financial statements of
the Group have been restated retrospectively with CCBC fully consolidated in the Group's financial statements.
Total revenue for the fiscal year rose by 20.4% to HK$1,079,062,000 as each business segment of the Group
continued to perform in line with management expectations. Revenue from the Group’s healthcare services
business accounted for 71.9% of total revenue while medical devices business accounted for 25.7%.

With our endeavor to success and visionary insight, we have successfully seized the market opportunities and
continued to deepen our business transformation. We have further developed on the medical devices segment
while expanded into the healthcare services business. The new hospital facilities in Beijing has begun its trial run
and is expected to be operational in the third quarter of 2013 which signifies an important milestone for our
hospital management business.

Although the expansion of Beijing hospital facilities during the year had affected the growth in revenue from
hospital management business, we believe the new hospital once opened will contribute a higher level of
revenue, profit and cash flow in the future which prone to enhance the competitiveness of the Group. In

order to fortify our existing competitive advantages in the hospital management business, in August 2012, we
repurchased from New Horizon Capital Ill, L.P. (“New Horizon"), the convertible notes issued by our hospital
management subsidiary, GM Hospital Group Limited ("“GMHG"). Assuming the convertible notes are fully
converted into new GMHG shares, our ownership in the hospital management business will increase from
75.0% to 78.58%. New Horizon in return received 279,344,444 new shares from Golden Meditech at the
issue price of HK$0.9 per share. The investment from New Horizon has demonstrated its long-term support and
confidence in the Group's overall healthcare strategies.

GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Meanwhile, we have strong confidence in the prospects of China’s cord blood banking industry and CCBC's
market leadership; therefore, we invested US$50 million in CCBC through the subscription of its convertible
notes. Our shareholding in CCBC would increase to 53.3% assuming such convertible notes are fully converted
into CCBC new shares. This investment is believed to enhance our share of contribution from CCBC.

The Group’s key revenue derived from the cord blood bank and medical devices businesses. Benefited
from the baby boom in the Chinese year of the dragon, revenue from cord blood bank business recorded
significant growth in the reporting period. In addition, our flagship product, the Autologous Blood Recovery
System (“ABRS") has maintained a stable sales growth as a result of increasing demand and favourable policy
environment.

The healthcare services segment is still in a growth and investment stage, which in turn led to an increase in
selling and administrative expenses. Despite the increase in selling and administrative expenses, our operating
margin raised from 24.4% to 26.3% as compared to the previous year; which was mainly attributable to
the realised and unrealised gain or loss recognised as a result of the changes in market values of the Group’s
securities investments. We believe the operating margin is set to improve as soon as new businesses, specifically
the medical insurance administration business, continue to develop and expand.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company totaled HK$135,660,000, while basic earnings per share
reached HK6.3 cents. Excluding the loss of HK$18,952,000 due to fair values changes of financial assets and
financial liabilities and the gain on the disposal of an associate of HK$8,527,000, our adjusted profit attributable
to shareholders of the Company decreased by 25.5% to HK$146,085,000 as compared to the previous
reporting period.

HEALTHCARE SERVICES SEGMENT

A segmental financial breakdown of the Group’s healthcare services segment (currently consists of cord blood
bank business, hospital management business and medical insurance administration business) is as follows:

FY2012/13 FY2011/12

(HK$'000) (HK$'000)

Restated

Revenue from cord blood bank business 647,265 462,647
Revenue from hospital management business 126,930 147,110
Revenue from medical insurance administration business 2,121 811
Selling and general administrative expenses 372,691 254,135
Profit before interests and tax 219,893 210,852
Profit after tax 71,239 175,579

During the reporting period, revenue from the healthcare services segment increased by 27.1% to
HK$776,316,000. Revenue generated from cord blood bank business, hospital management business and
medical insurance administration business were HK$647,265,000, HK$126,930,000 and HK$2,121,000
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cord Blood Bank Business

The business performance of the Group’s subsidiary, CCBC, has been benefited from the baby boom in the
Chinese year of the dragon and its success in penetrating the high-end market segment, which enabled it
to achieve a record of 72,228 new subscribers and increased its accumulated subscriber base to 311,982
subscribers. Revenue from cord blood bank business increased by a remarkable 39.9% to HK$647,265,000 as
compared to the same period last year. However, as a result of the fair value changes of the convertible notes
issued to Kohlberg Kravis Roberts investment fund in April 2012, which caused profit for the year of CCBC to
decline.

Our growing support for CCBC is believed to generate synergies that allow CCBC to speed up its development.
Although the Chinese market is expected to gradually resume lower normalised birth trends and inflicted some
near-term pressure for achieving subscriber growth target, CCBC intends to reinforce its ability to deepen
market penetration and overcome these challenges through accelerating the expansion of Guangdong storage
capacity and the development of new Zhejiang storage facility. With its new pricing strategy for enhancing cash
flow and offsetting rising production costs in place, we are confident in the prospects of CCBC and believe its
contribution to Golden Meditech will increase in the future which prone to bring in long-term benefits to the
Group and our shareholders.

Hospital Management Business

In tandem with the long term development of the hospital management business, expansion of Beijing
hospital facilities took place during the year temporarily affected its operation and slowed down the overall
growth momentum of the hospital management business, but we believe the new hospital once opened
for business will contribute a higher level of revenue in the future. The Qinghe Hospital is scheduled to be
opened in the third quarter of 2013 which specialises in haematology and will house departments of various
medical disciplines such as IVF Centre. The Qinghe Hospital is located at Haidian District in Beijing with a gross
a floor area of approximately 75,000 square meters with more than 600 beds, which include 48 beds for
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

the haematology wards. Our Shanghai East International Medical Centre (“SEIMC") has continued to deliver
significant contributions to the segment since our acquisition in 2011. This reputable hospital serves the
premium expatriate market in Shanghai and the surrounding neighbourhoods and is expected to deepen its
penetration to the high-end market segment.

Medical Insurance Administration Business

The medical insurance administration business, GM-Medicare Management (China) Company Limited has
achieved satisfactory progress during the reporting period. Though this business remains in the development
stage, it has been appreciated by the market in serving as the missing link between multiple stakeholders in the
medical insurance market in China.

MEDICAL DEVICES SEGMENT

A segmental financial breakdown of the Group’s medical devices segment (currently consists of the
manufacturing and sale of medical devices and related accessories and share of profit from an associate (disposed
during the year)) is as follows:

FY2012/13 FY2011/12

(HK$'000) (HK$'000)
Revenue from medical devices 162,036 153,603
Revenue from medical accessories 115,206 104,209
Selling and general administrative expenses 37,446 35,318
Profit before interests and tax 155,753 149,648
Profit after tax 115,661 124,649
Share of profit from an associate (disposed during the year) 1,608 11,384

Revenue from the Group’s medical devices segment amounted to HK$277,242,000, representing 7.5% increase
relative to the previous corresponding period, accounting for 25.7% of the Group's total revenue.

The government of Mainland China is committed to promoting the quality and standards of the healthcare
system and has recently announced to invest approximately RMB400 billion by 2020 to support the
development of healthcare. In order to alleviate the shortage of surgical blood, the Ministry of Health has
launched a series of measures such as the implementation of the “Level Ill General Hospital Accreditation and
Administration Standards” to encourage the clinical adoption of ABRS. With the new government in power
and favourable policies in place, we believe the market demand for our key products — ABRS will continue to
increase.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In view of the rising demand for prime medical devices, we believe the separate listing of the medical devices
division at the appropriate stock exchange market will be beneficial to the Group and our shareholders in the
long run. The Group thereby repurchased shares of China Bright Group Co. Limited (“China Bright”), a non-
wholly-owned medical devices subsidiary of Golden Meditech. As of today, the Group has increased its stake in
China Bright to 95.09%.

Moreover, we leveraged on our seasoned experience in selling blood related medical devices to establish
imported medical devices distribution business in China. In August 2012, we signed our first distribution
agreement with ThermoGenesis Corp. for the AXP System, an automated device used for the process of
extracting blood stem cells from cord blood. Under the five-year agreement, we have exclusive distribution
rights for the AXP System in China (excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan), and certain other regions in Asia-Pacific
region to meet the growing demand for premium medical devices.

STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

A segmental financial breakdown of the Group’s strategic investments is as follows:

FY2012/13 FY2011/12

(HK$'000) (HK$'000)
Revenue from Chinese herbal medicine business 25,504 27,489
Selling and general administrative expenses 45,842 51,408
Loss before interests and tax (28,407) (31,131)
Loss after tax (24,822) (25,050)
Share of profit from an associate - Fortress Group Limited (”Fortress”) 83,714 94,509

The Group currently holds two strategic investments, a 29.4% stake in Fortress, the special private vehicle
which privatised the previously NASDAQ-listed FunTalk China Holdings Limited (“FunTalk”) in August 2011 and
100% shareholding in Chinese herbal medicine business.

The performance of the underlying FunTalk business was up by 44.7% during the period, compared with the
same period last year. However, Fortress needed to account for non-cash expenses associated with derivatives
on certain financial instruments and as a result our share of profit from Fortress decreased by 11.4% to
HK$83,714,000 compared with the previous reporting period.

The Chinese herbal medicine business consists of a GMP-approved production facility over a site area of 58,000
square meters located in a prime location in Municipal Shanghai. The business itself reported an operating loss
of HK$28,407,000 during the year, and was below management expectations.

With our overall strategy focused on the enhancement of our core healthcare businesses, it is our intention to
consider disposals of strategic investments at appropriate time and any proceeds raised will be allocated among
existing businesses, and our shareholders.
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GROUP STRATEGY AND OUTLOOK

Looking forward, we believe the demand for premium medical devices and healthcare services is prominent
as the Mainland Chinese government has dedicated more resources to enhance the healthcare system. The
commencement of the Beijing Qinghe Hospital should provide fresh momentum for growth and its cash flow
will enable us to capture new business opportunities as well as allow the market to appreciate the intrinsic
values of Golden Meditech.

We are committed to the development of both the medical devices and healthcare services segments, and we
will relentlessly consolidate and strengthen our core competences which allow us to explore new opportunities
in the immense China’s healthcare sector.
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GROUP FINANCIAL REVIEW

Our core businesses reported steady revenue growth for the year ended 31 March 2013 at HK$1,079,062,000,
representing an increase of approximately 20.4%. The healthcare services segment remained the largest
source of revenue and contributed HK$776,316,000, a 27.1% increase year-on-year, equivalent to 71.9% of
the Group's total revenue. Revenue from the medical devices segment amounted to HK$277,242,000, which
accounted for 25.7% of the Group’s total revenue, with a 7.5% growth compared to last year.

Gross Profit

While the Group reported stable revenue growth in all business areas, the Group’s gross profit margin increased
slightly by 0.7 percentage point to 69.8% as compared to last year. The medical devices segment and the
healthcare services segment posted a gross margin of 62.6% and 73.3% respectively.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

The Group enhanced its marketing and business development initiatives across all business segments,
particularly those in its hospital management business and cord blood bank business; and accordingly selling
and administrative expenses incurred for the fiscal year 2013 stood at HK$515,639,000, up 30.4% over the
same period last year.

The management has been rigorous in monitoring expenses while maintaining costs at a reasonable level.

Other Net Loss
During the reporting period, the Group recorded other net loss of HK$708,000.

Profit from Operations

Despite the increase in administrative and selling expenses, the Group’s operating profit reached
HK$283,461,000, representing a 29.8% increase as compared to the previous year. The increase was mainly
attributable to the realised and unrealised gain or loss recognised as a result of the changes in market values of
the Group's securities investments. The Group recognised a realised and unrealised gain of HK$2,517,000 and
a realised and unrealised loss of HK$52,017,000 for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs increased to HK$57,080,000. The significant increase in finance costs was a result of
the Group's focus on long-term financings for future business developments.

Changes in Fair Value of Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded a non-cash financial loss of HK$21,469,000 as a
result of remeasurement of the convertible notes of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Income Tax

The Group's total income tax expense was HK$89,964,000, a 100.3% increased from that of last year. During
the year ended 31 March 2012, certain subsidiaries were granted high and new technology enterprise statuses
which resulted in refunds of income tax paid in previous year.
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Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders

During the reporting period, the Group maintained satisfactory growth across the board. Due to the non-
cash impacts of the fair value changes of financial liabilities, the temporary suspension of our Beijing hospital
facilities, and the increase in selling and administrative expenses, the Group's profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company totaled HK$135,660,000, representing a 11.3% decrease over the previous
corresponding period.

Current Assets and Total Assets

As of 31 March 2013, the Group’s total current assets and total assets were HK$2,797,898,000 and
HK$9,701,460,000 (2012: HK$2,313,829,000 and HK$8,614,988,000), respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As of 31 March 2013, the Group’s cash and bank deposits amounted to HK$2,164,424,000 (2012:
HK$1,796,015,000); total interest-bearing debts stood at HK$1,629,520,000 (2012: HK$709,212,000) and
share repurchase obligations amounted to HK$130,228,000 (2012: HK$554,167,000).

Debt Ratio

On the basis of total interest-bearing liabilities divided by total equity, the Group’s debt ratio was 26.6% as
of 31 March 2013. From a long-term perspective, the management is committed to maintain an optimal and
stable debt ratio, in order to achieve maximum capital efficiency.

Credit and Capital Policies

The Group adopts a relatively prudent approach in treasury policies, through continuous assessment of
customers’ financial status to minimise credit risk. The management closely monitors its cash flow status to
mitigate liquidity risk to ensure the Group’s capital structure should meet its cash flow requirements.

Employees

Excluding associates and joint venture, the Group and its subsidiaries have employed 1,603 full-time staff in
Hong Kong and in the Mainland. During the reporting period, total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration
and contributions to retirement benefit schemes) amounted to HK$240,700,000.

Details of the Group’s Pledged Assets

The Group has pledged certain assets as collaterals for certain bank loans as of 31 March 2013, particulars are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Dividend

At the meeting of the Board held on 28 June 2013, the directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.3 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: HK1 cent per share). Shareholders will be
given an option to receive the final dividend in cash or in lieu of cash by scrip dividend (the “Scrip Dividend
Arrangement”). The Scrip Dividend Arrangement is subject to: (1) the approval of proposed final dividend and
Scrip Dividend Arrangement at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (2) The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited granting the listing of and permission to deal in the new shares to be allotted and issued under
the Scrip Dividend Arrangement. Full details of the Scrip Dividend Arrangement will be set out in a circular to be

dispatched to the shareholders.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the “Company”
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2013.

Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to the Group’s success and development. The
Board is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board recognises
that such commitment is essential in upholding accountability and transparency, enhancing the performance of
the Company and safeguarding the interests of the shareholders.

This report addresses the status of the Company’s compliance with the principles and provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(effective since 1 April 2012).

THE CG CODE

The CG Code sets out the principles of good corporate governance and two levels of corporate governance
practices, namely:

(@) code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) which listed issuers are expected to comply with or give
considered reasons for any deviation therefrom; and

(b) recommended best practices (the “Recommended Best Practices”) for guidance only, which listed issuers
are encouraged to comply with or give considered reasons for deviation therefrom.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG Code and complied with all the Code Provisions
throughout the year ended 31 March 2013, except for Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. It has also put in
place certain Recommended Best Practices. The Board periodically reviews the corporate governance practices
of the Company to ensure that they meet the requirements of the CG Code.

The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for providing effective leadership, and ensuring transparency and
accountability of the Group’s operations. It sets the Company’s values and aims at enhancing shareholders’
value. It formulates the Group's overall strategy and policies; sets corporate and management targets, key
operational initiatives, and policies on risk management pursuant to the Group’s strategic objectives. It also
monitors the Group's operational and financial performance; approves budgets, major capital expenditures,
major investments, as well as material acquisitions and disposals of assets; oversees corporate and financial
restructuring, and significant operational, financial and management matters.
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The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in the annual and interim reports, providing price-sensitive announcements
and other financial disclosures as required under the Listing Rules, as well as supplying to regulators all
information required to be disclosed pursuant to any statutory requirement.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group’s business to the
management of the relevant segments and divisions. The management is responsible for the implementation
and adoption of the Company’s strategies and policies. The delegated functions and tasks are periodically
reviewed by the Board.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board reflects a balance of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the
Company so that independent judgement of the Board can be assured.

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and four Independent Non-
Executive Directors. There are no relationships among members of the Board.

Executive Directors:

Mr. KAM Yuen (Chairman)
Mr. LU Tian Long

Mr. KONG Kam Yu

Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry

Non-Executive Director:
Ms. ZHENG Ting

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Prof. CAO Gang (Chairman of audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and member of remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (“Nomination

Committee ™))

Mr. FENG Wen (Chairman of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and member of Audit
Committee)

Mr. GAO Zong Ze

Prof. GU Qiao (Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee)

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.
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Throughout the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company met the requirement of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors with at least one in possession of
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors a written annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Although Mr. GAO Zong Ze and Prof. GU
Qiao have served as Independent Non-Executive Director for more than nine years, the Directors are of the
opinion that Mr. Gao and Prof. Gu continue to bring relevant experience and knowledge to the Board and that,
notwithstanding their long service, they maintain an independent view of the Company’s affairs. The Company
considers that all Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent under the guidelines set out in rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors possess a wide range of financial and operational expertise and
experience. Their participation in Board and committee meetings helps to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company are taken into account and that key issues vital to the success of the Company
are subjected to independent and objective consideration by the Board.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:
o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

e  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors

Pursuant to the CG Code, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors and plans should be in place for orderly succession for appointments to the Board.

The Board regularly reviews its structure, size and composition to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group.

In the process of selection of Directors, the proposed candidates’ skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments are taken into account having regard to the Company’s needs and
the relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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Each Director shall, after his appointment and on a timely basis thereafter, disclose to the Board the number
and nature of offices held by such Director in other public companies and organisations and any other
significant commitments.

During the year, the Board considered the recommendation of the Nomination Committee in relation to
the appointment of Mr. KONG Kam Yu and Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry as additional Executive Directors
and Mr. FENG Wen as an additional Independent Non-Executive Director and put forward the proposals for
shareholders” approval at the annual general meeting held on 25 September 2012. The appointments were duly
approved by the shareholders at the said meeting.

In accordance with the Company'’s Articles of Association (“Articles of Association”), all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director appointed by the Directors to fill a
causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election at the first annual general meeting
after appointment.

In addition, any new Director appointed by the Company in general meeting to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting.

In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association, Messrs. KONG Kam Yu, YU Kwok Kuen, Harry and
FENG Wen shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 24 September 2013 (the “2013
AGM") and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Prof. CAO Gang and Mr. GAO Zong Ze shall retire
by rotation at the 2013 AGM, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.3
of the CG Code, Mr. GAO Zong Ze has served as Independent Non-Executive Director more than nine years and
his re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders.

The Board recommends the re-appointment of the said Directors, whose biographical details are contained in
the circular to be sent to the shareholders before the 2013 AGM.

Ms. ZHENG Ting, a Non-Executive Director, has terminated her previous service contract with the Company and
entered into a new service contract as a Non-Executive Director with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 23 August 2012 provided that at any time during the term of appointment, either party may
terminate the appointment by giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice in writing.

Each of Mr. KONG Kam Yu and Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry has entered into a service contract with the
Company commencing on 25 September 2012 as an Executive Director and will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than 90 days’ notice in writing.

Each of the other Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing on 1
April 2005 and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than 90 days'’
notice in writing.
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Prof. GU Qiao has entered into a new service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
on 25 September 2012 as an Independent Non-Executive Director and provided that at any time during the
term of appointment, either party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other not less than 30 days'
notice in writing.

Mr. FENG Wen has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
25 September 2012 as an Independent Non-Executive and Director and provided that at any time during the
term of appointment, either party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other not less than 30 days’
notice in writing.

Mr. GAO Zong Ze, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing on 28 December 2004 and continuing thereafter until terminated
by either party giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice in writing.

Prof. CAO Gang, an Independent Non-Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of one year commencing on 23 September 2004 and continuing thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice in writing.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company. Every newly appointed Director is provided with an induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that he/she has adequate understanding of the businesses
and operations of the Group. The Directors are also kept informed on a timely basis of their responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules, as well as other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements. The Company
also encourages its Directors to participate in other continuous professional development programmes for
directors.

During the year, the Company organised an in-house seminar conducted by Minter Ellison Lawyers on the
following topics for the Directors of the Company to attend:

1. Training on corporate governance and regulatory development of the Listing Rules; and

2. Training on Inside Information Disclosure Policy.
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The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) maintains records of training attended by
the Directors. The current Directors have participated in continuous professional development by attending
seminar on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills:

Topics of training

Corporate
governance Inside
and regulatory  information
development of disclosure
Directors the Listing Rules Policy
Executive Directors
Mr. KAM Yuen (Chairman) V v
Mr. LU Tian Long \ V
Mr. KONG Kam Yu v v
Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry v v
Non-Executive Director
Ms. ZHENG Ting \ V
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Prof. CAO Gang v V
Mr. FENG Wen v V
Mr. GAO Zong Ze \ V
Prof. GU Qiao v V

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors
and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the Group under Code
Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. KAM Yuen is the chairman and chief executive of the Company responsible for managing the Board
and the Group’s businesses. The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power and
authority in view of the current composition of the Board, which comprises, inter alia, four Independent Non-
executive Directors who bring strong independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the Board's
deliberations. The Board believes that this structure is conducive to strong and consistent leadership for the
Group, enabling it to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.
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Mr. Kam has been both the chairman and chief executive of the Company since the listing of the Company’s
shares on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (“GEM"). He has substantial experience in the
healthcare industry. The Board and management are of the view that the assumption of these positions by Mr.
Kam is beneficial to the business development of the Group.

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least 4 times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year
ended 31 March 2013, 14 Board meetings were held.

Attendance of each Director at meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and annual general meeting held during the year is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Directors Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Executive Directors:
Mr. KAM Yuen (Chairman) 14114 N/A N/A N/A 17
Mr. LU Tian Long 14114 N/A N/A N/A 171
Ms. JIN Lu (retired on 25 September 2012) 9/9 N/A N/A N/A on
Mr. KONG Kam Yu
(appointed on 25 September 2012) 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 0/0
Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry
(appointed on 25 September 2012) 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 0/0
Non-Executive Director:
Ms. ZHENG Ting
(re-designated on 23 August 2012) 14/14 N/A N/A N/A 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Prof. CAO Gang 14114 2/2 2/2 212 1”1
Mr. FENG Wen (appointed as Independent

Non-Executive Director, chairman of

Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee and member of Audit Committee

on 25 September 2012) 5/5 il 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. GAO Zong Ze (resigned as chairman

of Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee and member of

Audit Committee on 25 September 2012) 14/14 il 212 212 1N
Prof. GU Qiao 14114 212 2/2 212 "
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Conduct of Meetings

In order to ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, all members of the Board have
full and timely access to the latest developments and financial position of the Group and are properly briefed on
issues arising for discussion at Board meetings.

All Directors are notified of regular Board meetings at least 14 days in advance. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Directors are consulted and provided with an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion
at Board and committee meetings. Information packages, including meeting agenda, board papers and all
appropriate information, are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to
enable them to make informed decisions.

The Company Secretary has the responsibility to keep the Directors informed of any new corporate governance
issues and changes in the regulatory regime and ensure Board procedures are in compliance with the CG Code,
and other statutory requirements. All members of the Board have full access to the Company Secretary.

Minutes of Board and committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail and draft minutes are circulated to
all Directors and committee members, as the case may be, for comment before approval. Minutes of Board and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by Directors.

The Board is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and if required, individual Directors may
retain outside advisors, at the Company’s expense, to provide advice on any specific matter.

According to the current Board practice, any transaction which involves a material conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a Director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting instead of by circulation of written resolutions of all Board members. The Articles of Association also
contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee in December 2001 and has formulated its written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
("GEM Listing Rules”) while it was listed on GEM. The Board has reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee after the transfer of listing of the Company’s shares from GEM to Main Board (the “Transfer Date"”)
and confirmed that the terms of reference are in compliance with paragraph C.3.3 of Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (effective until 31 March 2012)(the "“Former
CG Code"). In compliance with the CG Code, the Board has adopted new terms of reference for the Audit
Committee which has been posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Prof. CAO Gang
(Chairman), Mr. FENG Wen and Prof. GU Qiao.
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The Audit Committee’s primary duties include the following:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external
auditors and to assess their independence and performance, and also to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors;

e to review the Company’s financial statements and make sure that they are complete, accurate and fair
before submission to the Board;

o to consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or external auditors;

o to ensure compliance with the applicable accounting standards and regulatory requirements on financial
reporting and disclosure; and

o to ensure effectiveness of the financial reporting process, as well as internal controls and risk management
systems of the Group and to monitor the integrity thereof.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Working closely with the management of the Company,
the Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s annual and interim results, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group; discussed with the Board and management on internal controls, risk
management and financial reporting matters, and reviewed the independence and performance of the external
auditors. The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2013 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Executive Committee

The Company established an executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) in April 2007 for the purpose
of reviewing and approving certain operational matters of the Group in order to enhance the efficiency of
the operation and decision-making process of the Board. Currently, the Executive Committee comprises the
Chairman Mr. KAM Yuen and Mr. LU Tian Long, an Executive Director. The primary functions of the Executive
Committee include the establishment of bank accounts, the issue of shares upon the exercise of options
granted or to be granted under the Company’s share option schemes and the execution of repurchases of the
Company'’s own shares. Meetings of the Executive Committee may be convened by any of its members and
shall be held as its work demands.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in June 2005 with written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph B.1.3 of the principles and provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (effective until 31 March 2012). The Board has reviewed
the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee after the Transfer Date and confirmed that the terms
of reference are in compliance with paragraph B.1.3 of the Former CG Code. In compliance with the CG Code,
the Board has adopted new terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee which has been posted on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. FENG Wen
(Chairman), Prof. CAO Gang and Prof. GU Qiao.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Company;

o to determine the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior management of
the Company and to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Non-Executive
Directors; and

o to establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy and structure and
to ensure that no Director participates in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The emoluments of Directors, including basic salary and performance bonus, are determined by reference to
each Director’s skills, knowledge and level of responsibilities, the Company’s performance and profitability,
remuneration benchmarks in the industry and the prevailing market conditions.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee are held at least once a year and additional meetings may be held
as required. During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings and has assessed the performance
of each of the Executive Directors and certain senior management staff of the Company and made decisions
regarding the payment of discretionary bonus.

The remuneration of the senior management (comprising Executive Directors) of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2013 by band is set out below:

Number
Remuneration band (HK$) of individuals
$1 to $1,000,000 3
$1,000,001 to $2,000,000 4
$2,000,001 to $3,000,000 1
$3,000,001 to $4,000,000 —
$4,000,001 to $5,000,000 1
$5,000,001 to $6,000,000 —
$6,000,001 to $7,000,000 3

Further details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2013 are disclosed in note
9 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee in March 2012 with written terms of reference for
Nomination Committee in compliance with paragraph A.5.1 of the CG Code which has been posted on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. FENG Wen
(Chairman), Prof. CAO Gang and Prof. GU Qiao.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the following:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

e toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

e to assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors;

e  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

e to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to discharge its powers and functions
conferred on it by the Board; and

o to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the Articles of Association or imposed by legislation.

Meetings of the Nomination Committee are held at least once a year and additional meetings may be held as
required. During the year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings and has made recommendations to the
Board regarding the re-appointment of Directors, re-designation of Non-Executive Director and appointments of
new Directors.

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining the Group’s internal controls system and through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews on the effectiveness of the internal controls system at least annually, covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
During the process of annual review, the Board through the Audit Committee performs evaluation of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function to ensure that there is adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of relevant staff, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board is committed to strengthening the Group's internal controls system and improving the workflow
with a view to enhancing efficiency and minimising any significant business risks. Accordingly, the Group has
established a series of internal control rules and procedures covering all key areas of operations such as asset
management, working capital management, investment management, human resources management, etc.
The Group also refines continually the internal organisation structure in pursuit of a more systematic decision-
making process and an efficient and effective operation and control environment.
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Currently, the Group has not established an internal audit function. The Board has reviewed the need for setting
up an internal audit function within the Group, and is of the opinion that in view of the scale and nature of
the operations of the Group, it is more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to carry out
internal audit services for the Group. In this respect, the Board will continue to review the need for an internal
audit function at least annually.

During the year, the Board appointed an international professional consultancy firm — Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Risk Assurance Limited to conduct a review of the internal controls system of the Group which covered a
number of key areas of financial, operational, compliance, and risk management functions, and the results of
the internal control review were submitted to the Audit Committee for consideration. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the results of the internal control review and is satisfied that the Group's system of internal controls is
sound and adequate.

The Board will continue to review and improve the Group’s internal controls system, taking into account
the prevailing regulatory requirements, the Group’s business development, interests of shareholders, and
technological advances.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“the Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries by the Company indicate that all Directors have complied with the required
standard of dealings for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board on
governance matters. The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2013. The biography of the Company Secretary is set out
on page 30 of this annual report.

Accountability and Audit

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group's
financial position and prospects. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently. The Directors have also
made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have prepared the financial statements
on a going concern basis. There are no material uncertainties or events that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

KPMG, the external auditors of the Company, acknowledge their responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2013 in the Independent
Auditor’s Report included in this annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the fees payable to the external auditors for audit services were
HK$12,495,000 and the fees payable for other services were HK$480,000.
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Constitutional Documents

At the annual general meeting held on 25 September 2012, special resolutions were passed (i) to amend the
Articles of Association in order to remove the obsolete requirement for notice of declaration of interim dividend
to be given by advertisement in Hong Kong and (ii) to adopt the new Memorandum and Articles of Association
incorporating and consolidating all previous amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association
adopted and approved by the Company in the past years.

Details of the amendments to the Articles of Association are set out in the circular of the Company dated 24
August 2012.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for convening of an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) and putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong
(48/F, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong). The EGM shall be held within two months
after the deposit of the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within 21
days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquires can be addressed to the Company
Secretary in writing by mail to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 48/F, Bank of China
Tower, 1 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong.
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Investor Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining open dialogue with the investment community in order to increase
understanding of the Company’s strategy, operations and management. To enhance investor relations,
the Company’s senior management participates in regular one-on-one meetings, roadshows and investor
conferences organised by various investment banks during the year. In addition, the Company also hosts
regular investor briefings and tele-conferences, tailored for overseas investors, to keep them up to date with the
Group's business developments.

The Company attaches great importance to communicating with its shareholders and investors. Information on
the Group’s activities, business strategies and developments is provided in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and corporate brochures. During the year, the Chairman of the Board, other members of the Board
and external auditors attend the annual general meeting and answer questions raised by the shareholders on
the performance of the Group. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings of the Company,
which offer a valuable forum for dialogues and interactions between the Chairman, the top management and
the shareholders.

Separate resolutions were proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue. The Company
arranges for the notice to shareholders to be sent in the case of annual general meetings at least 20 clear
business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear business days in the case of all other general
meetings.

In order to promote effective communications and to keep the investors abreast of developments, financial and
other information relating to the Group and its business activities, announcements are posted regularly on the
Company’s website at www.goldenmeditech.com.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. KAM Yuen (HR), aged 51, is the Chairman, Chief Executive and Compliance Officer of the Company, and
the founder of the Group. Mr. Kam is a director of several subsidiaries of the Company, he is also the chairman
of China Cord Blood Corporation, and the non-executive independent chairman of Cordlife Limited, a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He is responsible for the Group’s overall strategic planning. Mr. Kam
graduated from the Beijing Second Foreign Languages Institute, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (At =58
—HMRFEEEPR), in 1985 and has over 20 years of management experience in international business. Mr. Kam is the
sole director of Bio Garden Inc., which has an interest in the share capital of the Company as disclosed under the
provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Mr. LU Tian Long (8 X#E), aged 61, has been an Executive Director of the Company since September 2001.
He is the chairman of the medical devices operation. He has been responsible for the production, operations and
overall management of the medical devices operation for years and has extensive experiences in managing high-
tech firms. He was granted a PhD. degree in business administration by the Victoria University of Switzerland in
March 2008. Besides, he published many research reports and thesis on management of high-tech enterprises,
including one focusing on “applying knowledge management for strategic development among China’s high-
tech firms”.

Mr. KONG Kam Yu (I &%), aged 44, has been an Executive Director of the Company since September 2012.
He is also the Qualified Accountant and Company Secretary of the Company and a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company. He is now a non-executive director of Cordlife Limited. He joined the Group in 2001, and is
responsible for the Group's finances, corporate projects and company secretarial matters. Mr. Kong is a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kong worked with a leading international accounting firm.

Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry (;REI#E), aged 44, has been an Executive Director of the Company since September
2012. He is also the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2011. Mr. Yu has a
master’s degree in Business Administration from Manchester Business School and is an Associate of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a Registered Accountant in Macau Special Administrative Region,
and Fellows of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu was a partner at a leading international accounting firm.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. ZHENG Ting (#8°T), aged 41, is a Non-Executive Director of the Company and a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company. She is an advisor on healthcare services segement of the Group. Ms. Zheng is also the chief
executive officer of China Cord Blood Corporation and is responsible for the strategic management of that
segment. Ms. Zheng joined the Group in September 2001. Ms. Zheng graduated from Renmin University of
China (FBI ARAZ) in 1996 where she subsequently received an EMBA degree.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Prof. CAO Gang (&), aged 69, is an Independent Non-Executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He joined the Group in September
2004. Prof. Cao is a professor of Accountancy. He qualified as one of the first group of registered accountants in
the PRC in 1983 and is currently a committee member of the Examination Committee of the Association of the
Registered Accountants of the PRC.

Mr. FENG Wen (i5X), aged 45, is an Independent Non-Executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He joined the Group in
September 2012. He is currently the secretary to the board of directors of China Investment Development Co.,
Ltd. (F1&EERABREE/AF)]) and an independent director of Beijing Boer Communication Technology Co., Ltd.
Jt FRHERBE R BBRAF]). Mr. Feng had worked for the General Office of the Ministry of Health of the
PRC and a number of military hospitals for over 20 years. Mr. Feng graduated from the Medical Department of the
Third Military Medical University in 1992 and obtained a master’s degree from the School of Public Administration,
Renmin University of China (B AR AKZE) in 2006.

Mr. GAO Zong Ze (& 3R#), aged 73, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. He joined
the Group in September 2001."Mr. Gao is a qualified lawyer in the PRC, and has been a National Committee
member of China’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B A REUA R €5%) and the
president of the All China Lawyers' Association, the PRC (P2 B E). Mr. Gao graduated from the
Graduate School of the China Academy of Social Sciences, the PRC, (R BItt &FIE27T) in 1981,

Prof. GU Qiao (EE#), aged 66, is an Independent Non-Executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He joined the Group in September 2001. Prof.
Gu is a scientist in quantum-optics, biophysics and biological photonics and an Associate Professor of the
Northwest University, the PRC (FREIFEERER). He is also a member of the International Institute of Biophysics,
Germany (&[4 W32 BIFR A 9Eb%). Prof. Gu received his doctoral degree from the Northwest University, the
PRC, in 1989.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Guang Pu (5 *5E), aged 50, Deputy General Manager of the medical devices operation. He joined
the Group in October 1997, and is responsible for the production, operations and overall management of the
medical devices operation. He is also responsible for various aspects of the production technology, including
product standards, production procedures and technological improvements of the medical devices operation.
Mr. Gao graduated from the English Language Department of Bejing Second Foreign Language Institute.

Mr. JING Jian Zhong (&# ), aged 59, is the Vice President of the Group, the chief executive officer of Golden
Meditech (Shanghai) Company Limited and the Chief Representative of the Group’s Office in Shanghai and is
responsible for the overall operation of the Group. He joined the Group in May 2008. He graduated from the
Shanghai University of Chinese Medicines and has 15 years of investment and business development experiences
in healthcare industry in addition to 20 years of clinical practices and teaching.

Mr. SHAO Bao Ping (ABE ), aged 47, chief executive officer of the Chinese herbal medicine operation, is
in charge of the Chinese herbal medicine operation’s daily operations. He joined the Group in August 2005.
Mr. Shao obtained his master’s degree from the Shanghai Institute of Materia Medica, Chinese Academy of
Sciences and has extensive work experience in the fields of pharmacology and herbal medicine. Mr. Shao has
held key position in well-known enterprises in the PRC and has extensive corporate management experience.

Mr. DING Wei Zhong (T 1&), aged 64, is the chief executive officer of GM-Medicare Management (China)
Company Limited, having specialised in the medical and medical insurance management industry since 1998. He
joined the Group in April 2010. Prior to relocating to the United States, Mr. Ding has held senior positions at the
Aviation Industry Office of the Shanghai Municipal Government and China Airlines Group, in addition to serving
as the chief executive officer of the United Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR) — CIFAL Network.
Mr. Ding has a Bachelor’s degree from Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical College and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Fudan University, Shanghai.

Mr. ZHANG Jin Feng (R $88£), aged 49, is the chief executive officer of the hospital management operation
and is responsible for its daily operation and management. He joined the Group in July 2010. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with degree in clinical medicines and has over 20 years of
relevant experiences working as a doctor in a Triple-A hospital and in business management. He used to serve
as Director of Shanghai Center for Clinical Laboratory and Deputy General Manager of a domestically-listed
high-tech firm.

Ms. DUAN Xuan (ERE), aged 49, is the President of Beijing Dao Pei Hospital. Ms. Duan is also the executive
vice-chairman of China Private Hospital Development League (1 EBIR & 5t 2 EEEEE). She joined the Group
in July 2008. Ms. Duan graduated with her BA degree from the Beijing Capital University of Medical Sciences,
and obtained her MBA degree from the Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. She worked for years as a
doctor with Internal Medicine Department of Chao Yang Hospital and Haematology Department of the Peking
University Renmin Hospital. In 2007, she was hired as an expert consultant of China Marrow Donor Program by

Beijing Red Cross Association.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands and has its principal place of business at
No.11 Wan Yuan Street, Beijing Economic Technological Development Area, Beijing, 100176 China.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover, profit, assets and liabilities by operating segments is set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases during the financial year attributable to the major
customers and suppliers, respectively, is as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total

Sales Purchases
The largest customer 15%
Five largest customers in aggregate 26%
The largest supplier 8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 32%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the state of the Company's and
the Group's affairs as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 47 to 168 of this annual
report.

RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Profits attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of HK$135,660,000 (2012: HK$152,877,000) have
been transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 53 to 54 of this annual report.

As at 31 March 2013, the Company's reserves available for distribution amounted to HK$2,575,444,000 (2012:
HK$2,371,942,000).

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.3 cents per share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2013 (2012: HK1 cent per share).

Shareholders will be given an option to receive the final dividend in cash or in lieu of cash by scrip dividend (the
“Scrip Dividend Arrangement”). The Scrip Dividend Arrangement is subject to: (1) the approval of proposed
final dividend and Scrip Dividend Arrangement at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (2) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited granting the listing of and permission to deal in the new shares to be allotted
and issued under the Scrip Dividend Arrangement. Full details of the Scrip Dividend Arrangement will be set out
in a circular to be dispatched to the shareholders.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$ nil (2012: HK$ nil).

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35(b) to the
financial statements.

On 13 September 2012, 279,344,444 new shares were allotted and issued by the Company as consideration
shares to Hope Sky Investments Limited (“Hope Sky"”) in accordance with the agreement in relation to the
acquisition of convertible notes by the Company from Hope Sky dated 24 August 2012. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 24 August 2012.

On 20 November 2012, 3,462,032 scrip shares were issued by the Company in accordance with the scrip
dividend scheme pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 5 October 2012.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2013, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. KAM Yuen (Chairman)

Ms. JIN Lu (retired on 25 September 2012)

Mr. LU Tian Long

Mr. KONG Kam Yu (appointed on 25 September 2012)

Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry (appointed on 25 September 2012)

Non-Executive Director

Ms. ZHENG Ting (re-designated on 23 August 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Prof. CAO Gang

Mr. FENG Wen (appointed on 25 September 2012)
Mr. GAO Zong Ze

Prof. GU Qiao

In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association, Messrs. KONG Kam Yu, YU Kwok Kuen, Harry and
FENG Wen shall retire at the 2013 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Prof. CAO Gang and Mr. GAO Zong
Ze will retire at the 2013 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on pages 30 to 32 of this annual
report. Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 9
and 10 to the financial statements, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Executive Directors

Each of Mr. KONG Kam Yu and Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry has entered into a service contract with the
Company commencing on 25 September 2012 as an Executive Director and will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than 90 days’ notice in writing.

Each of the other Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing on 1
April 2005 and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than 90 days'’
notice in writing.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. ZHENG Ting has terminated her previous service contract with the Company and entered into a new service
contract as a Non-Executive Director with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 23 August
2012 provided that at any time during the term of appointment, either party may terminate the appointment
by giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice in writing.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FENG Wen has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
25 September 2012 as an Independent Non-Executive Director provided that at any time during the term of
appointment, either party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice
in writing.

Prof. GU Qiao has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
25 September 2012 as an Independent Non-Executive Director provided that at any time during the term of
appointment, either party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other not less than 30 days’ notice
in writing.

Mr. GAO Zong Ze has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
28 December 2004 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than 30 days’ notice in writing.

Prof. CAO Gang has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
23 September 2004 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than 30 days’ notice in writing.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in
the shares and, in respect of equity derivatives, underlying shares in, and debentures of, the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"))
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or, which were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

(a) The Company

Long positions
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

Number of
underlying Approximate
shares percentage of
Number of held under the Company's
Capacity and ordinary shares equity issued share
Name of Directors  nature of interests of HK$0.1 each derivatives Total interests capital
Mr. KAM Yuen Founder of trusts 447,948,000 - 447,948,000 19.50%
Beneficial owner - 67,006,245% 67,006,245 2.95%
Mr. LU Tian Long Beneficial owner - 6,000,000? 6,000,000 0.26%
Mr. KONG Kam Yu  Beneficial owner - 8,700,000? 8,700,000 0.38%
Ms. ZHENG Ting Beneficial owner - 7,600,000% 7,600,000 0.33%

Notes:

(1) Mr. KAM Yuen was deemed under the SFO to have an interest in 442,948,000 shares beneficially owned by Bio Garden Inc. (“Bio
Garden”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), as at 31 March 2013 by virtue of his being the founder of
certain discretionary trusts which owned the entire issued share capital of Bio Garden.

(2)  These interests represent the Directors’ beneficial interests in the underlying shares in respect of share options granted by the
Company to the Directors as beneficial owners, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share option schemes” below.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

(continued)

(b) China Cord Blood Corporation (“CCBC”), a subsidiary of the Company as at 31 March 2013
Number of ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each

Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage of

shares of the issued

Capacity and US$0.0001 Total share capital

Name of Directors nature of interests each interests of CCBC
Mr. KAM Yuen Beneficial owner 357,331 357,331 0.49%
Mr. KONG Kam Yu Beneficial owner 282,193 282,193 0.39%
Ms. ZHENG Ting Beneficial owner 1,071,994 1,071,994 1.47%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, none of the Directors or the chief executives of the
Company or their respective associates had any interests or short positions in the shares or, in respect
of equity derivatives, underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or, were
required, pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Share option schemes of the Company

The principal terms of the share option schemes of the Company are summarised in note 37 to the financial
statements. The share option schemes have been terminated and no further share options will be granted under
the schemes. In respect of the share options previously granted and which remained exercisable on or before
the dates of termination, they shall continue to be exercisable subject to the terms of the share option schemes.

A summary of share options granted under the share option schemes of the Company is as follows:

Numbers of
underlying

Number of shares in Number of

underlying respect of underlying

shares in which share shares in

respect of options were respect of

which share Transfer Transfer exercised which share

options were from other to other during  options were
outstanding category category the year outstanding Market value
Name of Directors as at 1 April during during ended 31 March  as at 31 March Exercise per share
and employees Date of grant 2012 the year the year 2013 2013 price  atgrant date
HKS HKS
Mr. KAM Yuen 30 March 2005 63,206,245 - - - 63,200,245 1.76 1.56
27 April 20092 3,800,000 - - - 3,800,000 1.15 1.14
Ms. JIN Lu® 27 April 2009 3,800,000 - (3,800,000) - - 1.15 1.14
Mr. LU Tian Long 4 March 2005% 400,000 - - - 400,000 1.60 1.60
27 April 20092 5,600,000 - - - 5,600,000 1.15 1.14
Mr. KONG Kam Yu® 4 March 2005% - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 1.60 1.60
27 April 20092 - 6,700,000 - - 6,700,000 1.15 1.14
Ms. ZHENG Ting 4 March 2005% 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 1.60 1.60
27 April 20092 5,600,000 - - - 5,600,000 1.15 1.14
Full-time employees 4 March 2005% 11,870,000 - (2,000,000) - 9,870,000 1.60 1.60
(other than Directors) 27 April 20092 26,533,000 3,800,000 (6,700,000) - 23,633,000 1.15 1.14

122,809,245 12,500,000 (12,500,000) - 122,809,245

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of the Directors who are also the beneficial
owners.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share option schemes of the Company (continued)

Notes:
(1) The share options are exercisable as to:
(i) up to 20% immediately after 6 months from the date of grant;
(i) up to 60% immediately after 18 months from the date of grant;
(i)~ upto 100% immediately after 30 months from the date of grant; and
(iv)  the share options will expire at the close of business on 3 March 2015.

(2)  The share options are exercisable in full immediately 3 months after the date of grant and will expire at the close of business on 28 February
2015.

(3) The share options are exercisable as to:
(i) up to 30% immediately after the date of grant;
(i) up to 60% immediately after 6 months from the date of grant;
(i) upto 100% immediately after 12 months from the date of grant; and
(iv)  the share options will expire at the close of business on 26 April 2019.

(4) Ms. JIN Lu retired as an Executive Director of the Company on 25 September 2012. The options granted to Ms. Jin remain exercisable
following her retirement pursuant to the share option scheme. Those options were re-classified to the category of “Full-time employees”
during the year.

(5) Mr. KONG Kam Yu was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 25 September 2012. The options were re-classified to the
category of “Directors” during the year.

(6)  Save as disclosed above, no share options granted under the share option schemes of the Company were exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during the year ended 31 March 2013.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option schemes described above, at no time during the year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or in respect of equity derivatives, underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate and no Directors or chief executives or their respective spouses or their children under eighteen
years of age had been granted any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company, nor had
exercised any such right during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of the shareholders (not being Directors or chief
executives of the Company) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

(a) Long positions of substantial shareholders

Approximate

No. of percentage of
issued shares/ the Company'’s
Capacity and underlying issued share
Name nature of interests shares capital
Bio Garden® Beneficial owner 442,948,000% 19.50%
Credit Suisse Trust Limited@ Trustee 442,948,000% 19.50%
Fiducia Suisse SA (Formerly known Trustee 442,948,000 19.50%
as KF Suisse SA")®
Mr. David Henry Interest of 442,948,000% 19.50%
Christopher Hill® controlled corporation
Mrs. Rebecca Ann Hill® Interest of children 442,948,000% 19.50%
under 18 or spouse
Mr. Kent C. McCarthy® Investment manager 431,228,702 18.98%
New Horizon Capital lll, L.P.® Interest of controlled 411,101,200 18.10%
corporation
New Horizon Capital Partners |l Interest of controlled 411,101,200 18.10%
Limited® corporation
Hope Sky Investments Limited Beneficial owner 279,344,444 12.30%

("Hope Sky")®
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Long positions of other persons who are required to disclose their interests

Approximate

No. of percentage of
Name of other persons issued shares/ the Company'’s
who have more than Capacity and underlying issued share
5% interest nature of interests shares capital
Jayhawk Private Equity Investment manager 220,023,098 9.68%
Fund Il, L.P. ("Jayhawk")®
Top Strength Holdings Limited Interest of controlled 131,756,756 5.80%
("Top Strength”)® corporation
Notes:

)

Bio Garden is an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI. It was wholly-owned by certain discretionary trusts of which
Mr. KAM Yuen was the founder.

The corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by Credit Suisse Trust Limited indicated that Gold Rich Investment Limited (" Gold
Rich”) and Gold View Investment Limited (“Gold View") had, in aggregate, a 36% interest in Bio Garden which beneficially owned
442,948,000 shares as at 31 March 2013. Gold Rich and Gold View were in turn indirectly wholly-owned by Credit Suisse Trust
Limited as trustee of certain discretionary trusts as referred to in (1) above. Accordingly, Credit Suisse Trust Limited was deemed,
under the SFO, to have an interest in the 442,948,000 shares held by Bio Garden.

The corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by Fiducia Suisse SA indicated that it had a 64% interest in Bio Garden which
beneficially owned 442,948,000 shares as at 31 March 2013. Fiducia Suisse SA is a trustee of certain discretionary trusts as referred
to in (1) above. Accordingly, Fiducia Suisse SA was deemed, under the SFO, to have an interest in the 442,948,000 shares held by
Bio Garden. Fiducia Suisse SA was wholly owned by Mr. David Henry Christopher Hill. Mr. David Henry Christopher Hill and Mrs.
Rebecca Ann Hill (being the spouse of Mr. David Henry Christopher Hill) were deemed, under the SFO, to have an interest in the
442,948,000 shares held by Fiducia Suisse SA.

These interests represent the same block of shares of the Company.

The corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by Jayhawk indicated that Mr. Kent C. McCarthy was a controller who held a
100% interest in Jayhawk. Accordingly, Mr. Kent C. McCarthy would be deemed, under the SFO, to have an interest in 220,023,098
shares held by Jayhawk, among which, 29,002,098 shares were long position of equity derivatives in the underlying shares of the
Company.

Each of Hope Sky and Top Strength is an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI, which is wholly owned by New
Horizon Capital lll, L.P., a private equity fund specializing in investments in China. New Horizon Capital Partners Il Limited is a
controller of New Horizon Capital I, L.P..

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2013, the Directors are not aware of any other person or corporation
having an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules since 1 April
2012 and up to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INTEREST-BEARING AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing and other borrowings of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2013 are
set out in notes 28, 29, 30, 32 and 33 to the financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement schemes are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on pages 169 and 170 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages 16 to 29
of this annual report.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There is no change in the information of the Directors since the publication of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 September 2012 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Prof. CAO Gang,
Mr. FENG Wen, Mr. GAO Zong Ze and Prof. GU Qiao an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Although Mr. GAO Zong Ze and Prof. GU Qiao have served for more than nine
years, the Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Gao and Prof. Gu continue to bring relevant experience and
knowledge to the Board and that, notwithstanding their long service, they maintain an independent view of the
Company's affairs. The Company considers that all Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent under
the guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

KAM Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOLDEN MEDITECH
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 47 to 168, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2013 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Turnover 4 1,079,062 895,869
Cost of sales (325,984) (276,542)
Gross profit 753,078 619,327
Other revenue 5 46,730 46,459
Other net loss 6 (708) (52,034)
Selling expenses (146,350) (106,969)
Administrative expenses (369,289) (288,403)
Profit from operations 283,461 218,380
Finance costs 7(a) (57,080) (9,987)
Changes in fair value of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 32 (21,469) (32,506)
Share of profits of associates 19 85,322 105,893
Share of losses of a joint venture 20 (30) (134)
Gain on disposal of interest in associates 19 8,527 41,436
Profit before taxation 7 298,731 323,082
Income tax 8(a) (89,964) (44,922)
Profit for the year 208,767 278,160
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 11 135,660 152,877
Non-controlling interests 73,107 125,283
Profit for the year 208,767 278,160
Earnings per share 13
Basic (in cents) 6.3 7.7
Diluted (in cents) 5.6 6.0

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Profit for the year 208,767 278,160
Other comprehensive income for the year
(after tax and reclassification adjustments)
Exchange reserve: net movement during the year,
net of nil tax 12 5,131 158,270
Fair value reserve: net movement during the year,
net of nil tax 12 (11,284) 58,197
Share of other comprehensive income of associates,
net of nil tax 19 2,102 18,735
Share of other comprehensive income of a joint venture,
net of nil tax — 2,019
Total comprehensive income for the year 204,716 515,381
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 132,779 305,981
Non-controlling interests 71,937 209,400
Total comprehensive income for the year 204,716 515,381

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 March 2013

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 March 31 March 1 April
Note 2013 2012 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Non-current assets
Fixed assets 15(a)
— Property, plant and equipment 1,661,723 1,296,711 599,420
— Interests in leasehold land held for
for own use under operating leases 1,710,107 1,745,964 704,876
3,371,830 3,042,675 1,304,296
Intangible assets 16 975,354 1,009,224 1,007,967
Goodwill 17 571,222 569,844 513,689
Interest in associates 19 792,880 792,215 849,440
Interest in a joint venture 20 62,951 62,981 61,096
Available-for-sale securities 21 480,029 435,174 368,534
Inventories 22 48,482 41,908 37,516
Trade and other receivables 23 571,645 315,923 1,256,661
Deferred tax assets 31(b) 29,169 31,215 26,488
6,903,562 6,301,159 5,425,687
Current assets
Trading securities 24 212,402 117,776 170,143
Inventories 22 31,545 31,885 24,906
Trade and other receivables 25 389,527 368,153 295,674
Time deposits 26 63,102 49,346 —
Cash and cash equivalents 27(a) 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,445
2,797,898 2,313,829 1,987,168
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 517,454 369,558 300,131
Interest-bearing borrowings 29 498,888 362,596 172,288
Obligations under finance leases 30 1,254 1,767 1,809
Current taxation 31(a) 75,739 66,959 47,665
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 32 53,202 341,717 —
Share repurchase obligations 33 130,228 554,167 —
Deferred income 34 213,745 130,952 98,321
1,490,510 1,827,716 620,214
Net current assets 1,307,388 486,113 1,366,954
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 March 31 March 1 April
Note 2013 2012 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Total assets less current liabilities 8,210,950 6,787,272 6,792,641
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 28 132,589 166,844 35,659
Interest-bearing borrowings 29 362,749 — 233,428
Obligations under finance leases 30 2,485 3,132 4,232
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 32 560,765 — 322,578
Share repurchase obligations 33 — — 511,791
Deferred tax liabilities 31(b) 369,508 380,097 392,962
Deferred income 34 656,098 376,670 193,123
Other non-current liabilities 415 413 398
2,084,609 927,156 1,694,171
NET ASSETS 6,126,341 5,860,116 5,098,470
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 35(b) 227,184 198,903 188,903
Reserves 35(c) 4,238,257 3,864,589 3,634,413
Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company 4,465,441 4,063,492 3,823,316
Non-controlling interests 1,660,900 1,796,624 1,275,154
TOTAL EQUITY 6,126,341 5,860,116 5,098,470

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2013.

KAM Yuen LU Tian Long

Director Director

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15(b) 368 1,554
Interests in subsidiaries 18(a) 3,427,151 3,029,303
3,427,519 3,030,857
Current assets
Trading securities 24 94,247 —
Other receivables 25 6,573 6,207
Cash and cash equivalents 27(a) 20,823 7,813
121,643 14,020
Current liabilities
Other payables 28 160,911 9,437
Interest-bearing borrowings 29 52,260 233,898
Obligations under a finance lease 30 — 682
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 32 128,763 188,164
341,934 432,181
Net current liabilities (220,291) (418,161)
Total assets less current liabilities 3,207,228 2,612,696
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 29 362,749 —
362,749 —
NET ASSETS 2,844,479 2,612,696

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 35(b) 227,184 198,903
Reserves 35(c) 2,617,295 2,413,793
TOTAL EQUITY 2,844,479 2,612,696

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2013.

KAM Yuen LU Tian Long

Director Director

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attrutable to equity shareholders of the Company

Capttl Non-
Share Share redemption  Capital  Meger  Bxchange  Suplus  Fairvalue Other  Retained controling Total
Note apitdl pemum e rsene resene resene resene resene resenss o profits Totl iterests ety

§000  §000  foo0  §o00  §000  §000 S0 FOO0  §000 SO0 FOOO  FO0 000

Balance at 1 Aprl 2011 (es previovsy reported) 188903 1,441,870 588 301 418 39821 BT 8513 (388661) 203933 3813458 44289 4256354
Adustments - - - 318 - 07 BB 357 693 (5573 988 818 8dliG
Balance at 1 Apri 2011 (Restated) 183903 1,441,870 5868 33305 54193 588 1T:8 11610 (319418) 193759 3813316 1275154 5098470

Changes in equity for the year ended

31 March 2012:
Profit for the year Restated) - - - - - - - - — 1817 187 158 278160
Other comprehensive income (Restated) - - - - - 1738 - 5% - — 13004 N7 B
Total comprehensive income for the year (Restated) - - - - - 1738 - B5% — 19877 305981 209400 515381
Acquistion of subsidiaries BON&3B 2635 31621 - - - - - - - - UDB6 B2 5998
Acquisiton of assets and libilties

through acquiston of subsidaries 36(d) - - - - - - - - - - - I3 13673
Acquistion of non-controling interests 3ib)i 13176 153108 - - - - - - (66983 — 104301 (104301) -
Reurchase of own shares of the Company 35{b)i (5811 @07 581 - - - - - — (5811 (4884 - (488
Repurchase of own shares by a subsidiary - - - - - - - - 4% — (494 8911 (53865
Acquisiton of additional interest

ina subsiciary 36ib)i - - - - - - - - (14 — (1420 (4083 (15464)
Change in carrying amount of share

Tepurchase obligations B - - - - - - - - (30 - (3 - (3
Transfer to surplus reserve - - - - - - 0 - ) - - -
Share of other resenves of associates - - - - - - - - (106763) - (106763) - (106783)
Balance at 31 March 2012 and

1 Al 2012 (Restated) 198903 1588562 11679 33395 SAIB A% 144669 37466 (541915 2003384 4063492 17%,604 5860116
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Capital Non-
Share  Share redemption  Capital  Merger Exchange  Surplus Fairvalie  Other Retained controlling Total
Note Gapital  premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reseve  reserves profitt  Total interests  equity

S00  S000  §000 S0  S000  S000 S0 S000  S000 S0 S000 SO0 000

Balance at 1 April 2012 (Restated) 198903 1588562 11679 33305 54193 473156 144669 37466 (541915 2063384 406349 1796624 5860116

Changes in equity for the year ended

31 March 2013:
Profit for the year = = = = = = = = — 135660 135660 73107 208767
Other comprehensive income = = = = = 182 - (4705 = - (881 (110 (40s1)
Total comprehensive income for the year - = - - - 18 - (4709 — %660 1M BT 2476
Deemed redemption of 35(0)i)

convertble notes issued by a subsidiary &360b)) 0935 13476 = = = = = = = - 1A - B
Dividends approved in respect of the

revious year 35(0)) & 35(d) 346 2614 = = = = = = — (2688 (19729 - (1979)
Acquistion of non-controling interests by

exercise of put option 360a) - = = - - 0 - - B = 154454 (154454) =
Change in carying amounts of

share reurchase obligations 3 - - - - - - - — (26310 — (26310 — (26316
Repurchase of shares of a subsidary

from non-controling interests 36(0)i) - - - - - - - — (86,134 — (8130  (@3911) (130,045)
Acquistion of addiional interest in a subsidary 360 = = = = = = = = 537 = 57 (92%)  (8759)
Transfer of surplus reserve - - - - - - 0 - - (018 = = =
Share of other reserves of associates - - - - - - - - (50%) - (50%) - (50%)
Balance at 31 March 2013 0T84 181465 11679 33395 54193 485707 16485 32761 (515159) 2156173 446541 1,660,900 6,126341

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 35(d).
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 27(b) 819,284 501,775
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") income tax paid (87,376) (58,945)
Net cash generated from operating activities 731,908 442,830
Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 738 921
Payment for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (552,734) (113,444)
Payment for the acquisition of intangible assets — (97,493)
Net proceeds from disposal of interest in associates 19 75,878 116,525
Proceeds from disposal of trading securities 116,258 785
Proceeds from investment income and disposal of
available-for-sale securities 19,128 10,228
Payment for purchase of trading securities (208,802) —
Payment for purchase of available-for-sale securities (75,169) (17,557)
Payment for investment deposits 23 (263,000) —
Refund of prepayment for acquisition of subsidiaries — 31,454
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 36(c) — 24,516
Net cash inflow from acquisition of assets and
liabilities through acquisition of subsidiaries 36(d) — 3,546
Payment for acquisition of time deposits (63,102) (48,852)
Proceeds from disposal of time deposits 49,346 21,983
Interest received 12,385 9,430
Dividend income from trading securities 5 3,115 1,433
Dividend income from available-for-sale securities 5 5,756 8,775
Net cash used in investing activities (880,203) (47,750)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2013
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Financing activities
Net proceeds from sale of treasury stock of a subsidiary 36(b)(i) 31,148 —
Payment for repurchase of own shares of the Company — (48,848)
Payment for repurchase of own shares of a subsidiary (156,008) (53,865)
Payment for acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 36(b)(iii) (8,759) (15,464)
Proceeds from new interest bearing borrowings 912,421 127,286
Repayment of interest bearing borrowings (409,134) (174,417)
Payment for dividends of the previous year to
equity shareholders of the Company (19,724) —
Payment for exercised put options 36(a) (310,471) —
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible notes 32(b)(ii) 488,208 —
Interest paid on interest-bearing borrowings (31,141) (22,670)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid (163) (215)
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid (1,828) (1,833)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 494,549 (190,026)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 346,254 205,054
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,746,669 1,496,304
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes 8,399 45,311
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 27(a) 2,101,322 1,746,669

The notes on pages 57 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BACKGROUND

Golden Meditech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3
September 2001 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Listing of the Company’s shares on the Growth Enterprise Market
(the "GEM™) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) commenced on 28
December 2001. On 16 June 2009, the listing of the Company’s shares was transferred from the GEM to
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

On 24 January 2011, the Company completed the listing of 90,000,000 units of Taiwan Depositary
Receipts (“TDRs"), representing 180,000,000 shares of the Company, comprising 120,000,000 new shares
allotted and issued by the Company and 60,000,000 shares sold by the Company’s then shareholders, on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (“Taiwan Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group's interests in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except as set out in the accounting policies hereunder.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(¢

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a few amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Company. None of these amendments are relevant to the Company’s
financial statements.

The Company has early adopted HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, HKFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements and HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, as well as the consequential
amendments to HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The major effects of the early adoption of these HKFRSs are summarised as follows:

Subsidiaries

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 10, the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect
to determining whether it has control over and consequently whether it consolidates its investees.
HKFRS 10 introduces a new control model that is applicable to all investees; among other things, it
requires the consolidation of an investee if the Group controls the investee on the basis of de facto
circumstances.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of HKFRS 10, the Group re-assessed the control
conclusion for its investees at 1 April 2012. As a consequence, the Group has changed its control
conclusion in respect of its investment in China Cord Blood Corporation (“CCBC").
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the investee (CCBC) after the
dilution of the Group'’s interest in CCBC on 30 June 2009, the directors have determined that it had
de facto control over CCBC since 1 July 2009, because the Group has held significantly more voting
rights than any other vote holders or organised group of vote holders and the other shareholdings
are widely dispersed. Previously, the investment in CCBC was accounted for as an associate using
the equity method when the Group’s shareholding of CCBC decreased to less than 50% since 1 July
2009.

The following table summarises the adjustments made to the consolidated statements of financial
position at 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012, and the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income and cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2012 as a result of the
consolidation of CCBC.

Consolidated statement of financial position:

1 April 2011

As previously

reported Adjustments As restated

$'000 $'000 $'000
Fixed assets 1,009,041 295,255 1,304,296
Intangible assets 829,534 178,433 1,007,967
Goodwill 447,026 66,663 513,689
Interest in associates 1,426,441 (577,001) 849,440
Available-for-sale securities 146,409 222,125 368,534
Inventories 17,565 44,857 62,422
Deferred tax assets 8,929 17,559 26,488
Trade and other receivables 1,153,917 398,418 1,552,335
Cash and cash equivalents 770,591 725,854 1,496,445
Overall impact on total assets 1,372,163
Trade and other payables 167,439 168,351 335,790
Interest-bearing borrowings 352,291 53,425 405,716
Current taxation 34,420 13,245 47,665
Deferred revenues — 291,444 291,444
Deferred tax liabilities 389,380 3,582 392,962
Overall impact on total liabilities 530,047
Reserves 3,624,555 9,858 3,634,413
Non-controlling interests 442,896 832,258 1,275,154
Overall impact on total equity 842,116
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Consolidated statement of financial position: (continued)

31 March 2012

As previously
reported Adjustments As restated

$'000 $'000 $'000
Fixed assets 2,715,632 327,043 3,042,675
Intangible assets 831,462 177,762 1,009,224
Goodwill 503,181 66,663 569,844
Interest in associates 1,486,742 (694,527) 792,215
Available-for-sale securities 154,987 280,187 435,174
Inventories 23,694 50,099 73,793
Deferred tax assets 8,377 22,838 31,215
Trading securities 117,341 435 117,776
Trade and other receivables 255,015 429,061 684,076
Cash and cash equivalents 770,617 976,052 1,746,669
Overall impact on total assets 1,635,613
Trade and other payables 413,382 123,020 536,402
Interest-bearing borrowings 307,300 55,296 362,596
Current taxation 59,656 7,303 66,959
Deferred revenues — 507,622 507,622
Deferred tax liabilities 376,041 4,056 380,097
Overall impact on total liabilities 697,297
Reserves 3,861,106 3,483 3,864,589
Non-controlling interests 861,791 934,833 1,796,624
Overall impact on total equity 938,316
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Consolidated Income Statement:

For the year ended 31 March 2012

As previously
reported Adjustments As restated

$'000 $'000 $'000
Turnover 433,222 462,647 895,869
Cost of sales (169,899) (106,643) (276,542)
Other revenue 22,375 24,084 46,459
Other net loss (51,298) (736) (52,034)
Selling expenses (31,985) (74,984) (106,969)
Administrative expenses (171,843) (116,560) (288,403)
Finance costs (5,990) (3,997) (9,987)
Share of profits of associates 169,576 (63,683) 105,893
Income tax (31,648) (13,274) (44,922)
Overall impact on profit attributable

to non-controlling interests 106,854

The changes in accounting policy had an immaterial impact on earnings per share for the
comparative period ended 31 March 2012.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2012

As previously
reported  Adjustments As restated

$'000 $'000 $'000
Profit for the year 171,306 106,854 278,160
Exchange reserve: net movement
during the year, net of nil tax 118,559 39,711 158,270
Fair value reserve: net movement
during the year, net of nil tax 135 58,062 58,197
Share of other comprehensive
income of associates, net of nil tax 57,833 (39,098) 18,735
Overall impact on total comprehensive
income attributable to
non-controlling interests 165,529
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Consolidated statement of cash flows:

For the year ended 31 March 2012

As previously
reported Adjustments As restated

$'000 $'000 $'000

Net cash generated from operating activities 20,808 422,022 442,830
Net cash generated from/(used in)

investing activities 72,919 (120,669) (47,750)
Net cash generated used in financing activities (118,571) (71,455) (190,026)
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes 25,011 20,300 45,311
Overall impact on cash and cash equivalents 250,198
Joint arrangements

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 11, the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect
to its interests in joint arrangements.

Under HKFRS 11, the Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as either joint operations
or joint ventures depending on the Group’s rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
of the arrangements. When making this assessment, the Group considers the structure of the
arrangements, the legal form of any separate vehicles, the contractual terms of the arrangements
and other facts and circumstances. Previously, the structure of the arrangement was the sole focus
of classification.

The Group has re-evaluated its involvement in its joint arrangements and has reclassified the
investment in jointly controlled entity to joint venture. Notwithstanding the reclassification, the
investment continues to be accounted for using the equity method and there has been no impact on
the recognised assets, liabilities, income and comprehensive income of the Group.

Except as described above, the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs had no other material
effect on the financial statements of the Group or the Company for the current or comparative
periods.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes 2(0), (p) and (q) depending on the nature of
the liabilities.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

Share repurchase obligations undertaken by the Group to non-controlling interests in respect of
the repurchase of shares of a subsidiary by the Group are initially recognised at the present value of
the repurchase obligations. Subsequent to initial recognition, such share repurchase obligations are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and repurchase
consideration recognised directly in equity over the period of the contractual life of the obligations,
using the effective interest method.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

(e)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see note

2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

Associates and joint arrangements

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised at cost. The
cost of investments includes transaction costs.

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Group has joint control, established by
contracts requiring unanimous consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the
arrangements’ returns. They are classified and accounted for as follows:

— Joint operation — when the Group has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to an arrangement, it accounts for each of its assets, liabilities and transactions,
including its share of those held or incurred jointly, in relation to the joint operation.

— Joint venture — when the Group has rights only to the net assets of the arrangements, it
accounts for its interest using the equity method, as for associates.

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment
(see notes 2(f) and 2(l)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in the consolidated income statement, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Associates and joint arrangements (continued)

()

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates and
joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
investee at the date when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(qg)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see
note 2(1)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the gain or loss on disposal.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction
price unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques whose variables
include only data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss does not include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out in notes 2(v)(iv) and (v).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of financial position at
cost less impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sale securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the fair value reserve, except foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from changes
in the amortised cost of monetary items such as debt securities which are recognised directly in
profit or loss. Dividend income from these investments is recognised in profit or loss in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2(v)(iv) and, where these investments are interest-bearing, interest
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(v)(v). When these investments are derecognised or impaired (see note 2(1)),
the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instrument.The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the reporting period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2(])).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials,
direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

0

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings held for own use 10 - 44 years

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated useful lives and
unexpired terms of the leases

— Machinery 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
— Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 5years

No depreciation is provided for construction in progress.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
The useful life of an asset is reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see note 2(x)).
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see note 2(I)). Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Other intangible asset that is acquired by the Group is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
(where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(I)). Expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Amortisation of intangible asset with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Management service contract rights 30 years
— Operating rights of cord blood banks 30 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an
agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is
made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(1) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which
do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing the
fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of
such assets are included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write
off the cost of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(i). Impairment losses
are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 2(l). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases
so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance
of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease term.

() Impairment of assets

(1)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that
are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

—  For investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture (including those recognised
using the equity method (see note 2(e))), the impairment loss is measured by comparing
the recoverable amount of the investment as a whole with its carrying amount in
accordance with note 2(I)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in
accordance with note 2()(ii).

—  For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset
where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for unquoted equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Impairment of assets (continued)

v

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (continued)

For trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of the asset), where the effect of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed
as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised in the fair
value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognised in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair
value of such assets is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such circumstances are
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for

impairment losses recognised in respect of trade and other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade and other receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the

allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(1)  Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of the reporting period
to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being held under an operating lease;
— intangible assets; and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication
of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro-rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of
the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2(1)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale
equity securities and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-for-sale equity security increases in the
remainder of the annual period, or in any other period subsequently, the increase is recognised
in other comprehensive income and not profit or loss.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories

(n)

(o)

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Inventories that are not expected to be realised within 12 months from the reporting date
are classified as non-current assets.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(l)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are
stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts. Instalments receivables which are due
for repayment in over one year under deferred payment options are classified as non-current trade
receivables.

Convertible notes and warrants

Convertible notes and warrants issued by the Group have been designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. At initial recognition the instruments are measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the instruments are recognised immediately in profit or loss. The instruments
are subsequently remeasured at fair value, with any gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
recognised in profit or loss. When a holder of the instruments exercises the right to convert the
instruments into ordinary shares, the fair value of the related instruments is transferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration for the shares issued. When the instruments are
redeemed by the Group, any difference between the amount paid and the carrying amount of the
instruments is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, such interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using
the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(u)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at the
grant date using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the share options were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of the
share options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss in the year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve.
On the vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¥

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(¥

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(1) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

When the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised
as deferred income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

v

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(ii) if and when it becomes probable that
the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and the amount of
that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

(v) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which is taken
to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax (“VAT") or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(w)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v)

Service income

Revenue is recognised when the related services are rendered and when it is probable that the
economic benefits from the services rendered will flow to the Group and such benefit could be
reliably measured. Service income received in advance is recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and recognised as income on a straight-line basis
over the service periods.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position initially
as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that
the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(x)

(7

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 April 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of an operation outside Hong Kong acquired before 1 April 2005
is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal
is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Related parties (continued)

()

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity is a member).
(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the

Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes

unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Notes 17, 37 and 38(g) contain information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to
goodwill impairment, fair value of share options granted and financial instruments. Other key sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(¢

(d)

Depreciation and amortisation

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depreciated/amortised on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and
residual values of the assets annually in order to determine the amount of depreciation/amortisation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives and residual values are based
on the Group’s technological experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated
technological changes. The depreciation/amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there
are material changes from previous estimates.

Impairment of assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed by the Group at the end of each reporting
period to assess whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs is
estimated to determine impairment losses on the asset. Changes in facts and circumstances may
result in revisions to the conclusion of whether an indication of impairment exists and revised
estimates of recoverable amount, which would affect profit or loss in future years.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually even if there is no indication of impairment.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which arose from deductible temporary differences
as set out in note 31(b). The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether it is
probable that future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will be available against which
the assets can be utilised. In cases where the actual future taxable profits or taxable temporary
differences generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which will
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal takes place.

Valuation of interests in leasehold land and buildings

The interests in leasehold land and buildings acquired from a business combination was initially
recognised at fair value as determined by an independent professional valuer on a market value
basis as at the completion date of the acquisition. Such valuation was based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. Any increase or
decrease in the valuation might affect the Group's results in future years.
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TURNOVER

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of medical devices and related accessories, the provision of cord blood bank service,
the provision of hospital management services and hospital operation, the provision of medical insurance
administration service and the research and development and the manufacture and sale of Chinese herbal
medicines.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers, income from cord blood bank service,
income from hospital management services and hospital operation and income from medical insurance
administration service, less applicable VAT or business tax. The amount of each significant category of
revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Restated

Sales of medical devices and accessories 277,242 257,812
Cord blood bank service income 647,265 462,647
Hospital management service and hospital operation income 126,930 147,110
Medical insurance administration service income 2,121 811
Sales of Chinese herbal medicines 25,504 27,489
1,079,062 895,869

The Group's customer base includes a customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenues. During the year ended 31 March 2013, revenues generated directly and indirectly from
this customer amounted to approximately $162,659,000 (2012: $152,159,000). Details of concentrations
of credit risk arising from the Group's largest customers are set out in note 38(a).

Further details regarding the Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 14 to these financial
statements.
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OTHER REVENUE
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Interest income from bank deposits 11,306 9,430
Interest income from trade receivables 10,695 11,761
VAT refunds 13,542 12,940
Dividend income from available-for-sale securities 5,756 8,775
Dividend income from trading securities 3,115 1,433
Sundry income 2,316 2,120
46,730 46,459

Pursuant to the relevant government policies and approval documents from the local government
authorities, one of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is entitled to a VAT refund which is calculated at
approximately 14% (2012: 14%) of sales of software products embedded in the medical devices.

OTHER NET LOSS
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on trading securities 2,517 (52,017)
Net exchange loss (3,669) (1,682)
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,140) 68
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities — 1,114
Others 1,584 483
(708) (52,034)
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7  PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
(a) Finance costs
Interests on interest-bearing borrowings
wholly repayable within five years 29,102 9,772
Interests on settlement of share repurchase obligations
(note 36(a)) 10,334 —
Transaction costs of issurance of convertible notes
by a subsidiary 17,481 —
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases 163 215
57,080 9,987
(b) Staff costs
Salaries, wages and other benefits 214,152 171,395
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 26,548 19,794
240,700 191,189
(c) Other items
Cost of inventories* 256,831 218,716
Impairment loss on trade receivables 9,155 15,607
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* 78,948 74,538
Amortisation of land lease premium?* 38,100 19,575
Amortisation of intangible assets* 37,353 37,284
Research and development costs 18,563 17,463
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services 12,495 11,776
— other services 480 —
Operating lease charges: minimum lease payments*
— assets held for use under operating leases 25,289 23,692
— other assets 195 178

# Cost of inventories includes $84,600,000 (2012: $79,356,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses and
operating lease charges, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 7(b) for

each of these types of expenses.
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8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
Provision for PRC income tax for the year 89,447 95,445
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 9,963 (19,372)
Subtotal 99,410 76,073
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 31(b)(i)) (9,446) (31,151)
Subtotal (9,446) (31,151)
Total 89,964 44,922
(1)) PRC income tax

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to PRC income tax.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC government enacted the new Enterprise Income Tax law (“EIT
law”), which unified the income tax rate to 25% for all companies incorporated in the PRC.
Accordingly, except for Beijing Jingjing Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. ("Jingjing”), Beijing
Jiachenhong Biological Technologies Co., Ltd (“Jiachenhong”) and Guangzhou Municipality
Tianhe Nuoya Bio-engineering Co., Ltd (“Guangzhou Nuoya”), all PRC subsidiaries of the
Group are subject to income tax at 25% for the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: 25%).

In October 2011, upon the receipt of the notification issued by the local tax bureau, Jingjing
renewed its designation as a high and new technology enterprise (“HNTE"”), and therefore,
qualified to the reduced income tax rate of 15% retrospectively from 1 January 2011 to 31
December 2014.

In February 2012, upon the receipt of the notification issued by the local tax bureau,
Jiachenhong renewed its designation as a HNTE, and therefore, qualified to the reduced
income tax rate of 15% retrospectively from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2013.
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8

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents: (continued)

v

PRC income tax (continued)

In June 2011, Guangzhou Nuoya was initially certified as a HNTE, and therefore, qualified to
the reduced income tax rate of 15% retrospectively from 1 January 2010 to 31 December
2012. Upon the expiry or failure in renewal of HNTE certificate, the tax rate applied to
Guangzhou Nuoya would be 25%. Subject to renewal, Guangzhou Nuoya's HNTE status will
enable it to continue to enjoy the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2013 to
31 December 2015. Management believes that Guangzhou Nuoya meet all the criteria for the
renewal of HNTE status, and therefore, current income tax of the year ended 31 March 2013
was accrued and paid based on the income tax rate of 15%.

The EIT law and its relevant regulations also impose a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced
by a tax treaty/arrangement, on dividend distributions made out of the PRC from earnings
accumulated from 1 January 2008. Undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008
are exempted from such withholding tax.

Under the Arrangement between the Mainland of China and Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect
to Taxes on Income, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is the “beneficial owner”
and holds 25% or more of the equity interest in a PRC-resident enterprise is entitled to a
reduced withholding tax rate of 5% on dividends received. On 27 October 2009, the State
Administration of Taxation issued Guoshuihan [2009] No. 601 (“Circular 601") which clarified
that a “beneficial owner” under a tax treaty is determined not purely by its place of legal
registration but also by other factors which depend on the specific facts and circumstances and
significant judgment may be involved.

Since the Group can control the quantum and timing of distribution of profits of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries, deferred tax liabilities are only provided to the extent that such profits are
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of
the withholding tax payable on the retained profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries generated
subsequent to 1 January 2008 which the directors expect to distribute outside the PRC in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents: (continued)

(i)~ Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the years ended 31 March 2013
and 2012 as the Group did not have any profits assessable to Hong Kong Profits Tax during
the current and prior years.

(i) Cayman Islands tax and British Virgin Islands tax

Under the legislation of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject
to tax on income or capital gains.

(iv)  Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant countries.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Restated

Profit before taxation 298,731 323,082
Notional taxation on profit before taxation, calculated

at the rates applicable to profit in the jurisdictions concerned 114,887 95,560

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,452 2,563

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (14,223) (27,990)

Under/(over)-provision in prior years 9,963 (19,372)

Reduced tax rate approved by tax authorities (45,864) (38,441)

Unused tax losses not recognised 23,749 32,602

Actual tax expense 89,964 44,922
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

9 DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as
follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Executive directors
Mr. KAM Yuen — 2,625 4,000 15 6,640
Ms. JIN Lu
(retired on 25 September 2012) - 956 1,000 23 1,979
Mr. LU Tian Long = 650 500 15 1,165
Mr. KONG Kam Yu
(appointed on 25 September 2012)* = 4,560 2,000 15 6,575
Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry
(appointed on 25 September 2012)* = 5,878 802 15 6,695
Non-executive director
Ms. ZHENG Ting
(re-designated on 23 August 2012) = 2,159 2,000 15 4,174
Independent non-executive directors
Prof. CAO Gang 60 — 100 — 160
Mr. FENG Wen
(appointed on 25 September 2012) 60 = = = 60
Mr. GAO Zong Ze 60 = 200 = 260
Prof. GU Qiao 60 — 100 — 160
240 16,828 10,702 98 27,868
* Remunerations of Mr. KONG Kam Yu and Mr. YU Kwok Kuen, Harry included emoluments paid to them during the year for their

appointments as senior management of the Group prior to their appointments as executive directors of the Company.

BTN GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 (Restated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors' fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Executive directors
Mr. KAM Yuen — 1,950 4,000 12 5,962
Ms. JIN Lu — 650 1,000 12 1,662
Mr. LU Tian Long — 650 500 12 1,162
Ms. ZHENG Ting — 1,563 2,000 12 3,575
Independent non-executive directors
Prof. CAO Gang 60 — 100 — 160
Mr. GAO Zong Ze 60 — 200 — 260
Prof. GU Qiao 60 — 100 — 160
180 4,813 7,900 48 12,941
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2012: two) are directors whose emolument is
disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other (2012: three) individual is as

follows:
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,958 7,250
Discretionary bonuses 2,000 6,438
Share-based payments — —
Retirement scheme contributions 15 31
3,973 13,719

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2013 2012
Restated

Emoluments bands
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 — —
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 — —
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 —_ —
$3,000,001 to $3,500,000 — —
$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 1 1
$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 —_ 1
$4,500,001 to $5,000,000 — —
$5,000,001 to $5,500,000 — —
$5,500,001 to $6,000,000 —_ 1
1 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a loss of $199,904,000
(2012: $18,661,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s profit for the year:

2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Amount of consolidated loss attributable to equity
shareholders dealt with in the Company’s financial statements (199,904) (18,661)
Dividend from subsidiaries attributable to the profits
of the previous financial year, approved during the year 200,000 50,000
Company'’s profit for the year (note 35(a)) 96 31,339

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Reclassification adjustments relating to components of other comprehensive income:

2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Exchange reserve:
Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong 15,924 158,270
Reclassification adjustments for amounts transferred to profit or loss:
— disposal of an associate (note 19) (10,793) —
5,131 158,270
Less: Income tax — —
Net movement in the exchange reserve during the year
recognised in other comprehensive income 5,131 158,270
Fair value reserve:
Changes in fair value recognised during the year (11,284) 59,311
Reclassification adjustments for amounts transferred to profit or loss:
— disposal of available-for-sale securities (note 6) — (1,114)
(11,284) 58,197
Less: Income tax — —
Net movement in the fair value reserve during the year
recognised in other comprehensive income (11,284) 58,197
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on consolidated profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of $135,660,000 (2012: $152,877,000) divided by the weighted
average number of 2,143,349,000 (2012: 1,983,771,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2013 2012
Shares ‘000 Shares ‘000

Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 1,989,032 1,889,028
Effect of issue of shares for acquisition of
subsidiaries (note 35(b)(i)) — 17,927
Effect of issue of shares for acquisition of non-controlling
interests (note 35(b)(ii)) — 92,518
Effect of repurchase of own shares (note 35(b)(iii)) — (15,702)
Effect of issue of shares for deemed redemption of
convertible notes issued by a subsidiary (note 35(b)(iv)) 153,065 —
Effect of issue of shares in lieu of cash dividends (note 35(b)(v)) 1,252 —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2,143,349 1,983,771
2013 2012
$000 $'000
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 135,660 152,877
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 6.3 7.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit attributable to
equity shareholders of $123,775,000 (2012: $122,293,000) and the weighted average number of
2,209,558,000 (2012: 2,049,980,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year after adjusting for the
effects of all dilutive potential shares, calculated as follows:

(1) Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (diluted)

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 135,660 152,877
Dilutive impact on profit from exercise of conversion
options from the holders of convertible notes and
warrants issued by the Company (499) (15,154)
Dilutive impact on profit of dilutive potential
shares of associates (11,386) (15,430)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company (diluted) 123,775 122,293
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
2013 2012

Shares ‘000 Shares ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2,143,349 1,983,771
Effect of conversion of convertible notes 66,209 66,209
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 2,209,558 2,049,980
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 5.6 6.0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (continued)

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) (continued)

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012
has not included the potential effect of deemed issuance of shares under the Company’s share
option scheme during the year as it has an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share
amount for the year.

14 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions, which are organised by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following five reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to
form the following reportable segments.

(i)  Medical devices segment: the development, manufacture and sale of medical devices including
medical devices and medical accessories.

(i)  Cord blood bank segment: the provision of cord blood stem cell examination, processing, separation
and storage services and other related services.

(iii)  Hospital management segment: the provision of management services to hospitals and operating of
hospitals in the PRC.

(iv)  Medical insurance administration segment: the provision of medical insurance administration services
in the PRC.

(v)  Chinese herbal medicine segment: the research and development and the manufacture and sale of
Chinese herbal medicines.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources among segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets with the exception
of interest in associates, interest in joint arrangement, deferred tax assets and inter-company
receivables. Segment liabilities include trade payables, accruals, interest-bearing borrowings, and
other payables attributable to the operating activities of the individual segments with the exception
of interest-bearing borrowings of the Company, deferred tax liabilities and inter-company payables.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is profit from operations.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 is set out below:

Medical insurance
Medical devices Cord blood bank Hospital management administration Chinese herbal medicine Total

013 2012 013 012 013 012 013 2012 013 2012 013 2012

§000 §000 §/000 §000 §/000 §000 §/000 §1000 §000 §000 §1000 §000
Restated Restated

Revenue from external customers 257812 647265 de2edT 16930 147110 21 811 25,504 17489 1079082 895869

Segment profitlloss) 155,753 149,648 1858 187,088 (16,161) 58,120 (1804 (436 (28400 (1131 347239 329,369
Depreciation and amortisation

for the year 1751 12644 38,447 0,147 62,841 45,089 142 79% 19.241 ung w36 120093
Impairment reversal o floss on trade

and other receivables 3 1 9187 15,600 - - - - - - 9,155 15,607
Segment assefs 415185 906392 37691 2307300 3M9092 33880 105875 116014 TMAA0 78R3 8ABAB 74BN
Addtions to fired assets and

intangible assets during the year 23 @85 8115 5015 13860 1797717 m 12453 1,885 % 533 1866722
Seqment iabites WAMT 206269 ATAMA 63240 06807 605,176 m n 11,670 1100 217809 1515779

The Group's turnover and operating profit derived from activities outside the PRC are immaterial.
Therefore, no geographical information is provided.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenues

The total amount of reportable segment revenues is equal to the consolidated turnover for the years

ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

Profit
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Reportable segment profit 347,239 329,369
Finance costs (57,080) (9,987)
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (21,469) (32,506)
Share of profits of associates 85,322 105,893
Share of losses of a joint venture (30) (134)
Gain on disposal of interest in associates 8,527 41,436
Net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on trading securities 2,517 (52,017)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (66,295) (58,972)
Consolidated profit before taxation 298,731 323,082
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

(continued)
Assets and liabilities
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Assets
Reportable segment assets 8,423,273 7,423,926
Interest in associates 792,880 792,215
Interest in a joint venture 62,951 62,981
Available-for-sale securities 143,656 154,987
Trading securities 212,402 117,341
Deferred tax assets 29,169 31,215
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 37,129 32,323
Consolidated total assets 9,701,460 8,614,988
Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 2,178,090 1,515,779
Deferred tax liabilities 369,508 380,097
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 53,202 56,177
Share repurchase obligations 130,228 554,167
Other payables for exercised share repurchase obligations 150,177 —
Interest-bearing borrowings in holding companies 676,040 233,898
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 17,874 14,754
Consolidated total liabilities 3,575,119 2,754,872

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013 I



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 FIXED ASSETS
(a) The Group

Interests in
leasehold land

held for own
Buildings Furniture, use under
held for ~ Leasehold Motor fixturesand  Construction operating
ownuse improvements  Machinery vehicles  equipment in progress Sub-total leases Total
§'000 §'000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000 §000 §1000
Cost:
At 1 April 2012 (Restated) 447,548 108,086 241,049 35,466 1741 724,351 1,673.971 1,776,223 3,450,194
Exchange adjustments 2,076 502 117 i 363 4273 8,513 2,386 10,899
Additions = 2,026 13,954 6,906 13,358 402,869 439113 = 439113
Transfers 46,182 945 15,568 625 (6,186) (57,134) = = =
Disposals = = (3,888) (2.233) @n) = (6,392) = (6,392)
At31March 2013 495,806 111,559 267,860 40,886 124735 104359 2115205 1778609 3893814
Accumulated amortisation
and depreciation:
At 1 Apri 2012 (Restated) 122,260 70,395 97,932 20,291 66,382 = 377,260 30,259 407,519
Exchange adjustments 890 309 313 64 25 = 1,861 143 2,004
Charge for the year 24,680 7,536 26,875 6,520 13,337 = 78,948 38,100 117,048
Written back on disposals - - (2,260) (2,071) (256) - (4,587) - (4,587)
At31March 2013 147,830 78,240 122,920 24,804 79,688 = 453482 68,502 521,984
Net book value:
At31March 2013 347,976 33319 144,940 16,082 45047 1074359 1661723 1710107 3,371,830
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(a) The Group (continued)

Interests in

leasehold land

held for own
Buildings Furniture, Use under
held for Leasehold Motor ~ fixturesand  Construction operating
ownuse  improvements Machinery vehicles ~ equipment in progress Sub-total leases Total
§'000 §000 §'000 §000 §000 §000 §'000 §000 §'000
Cost:
At 1 Apri 2011 (Restated) 410,042 78,882 205,569 29,464 59,565 73,653 857,175 709,454 1,566,629
Exchange adjustments 15,680 3,069 6,738 747 2401 3586 32,221 21802 60,063
Additions - 158 14,84 5,607 123717 78,581 111,565 4,591 116,156
Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 36(c)&(d) 1835 18846 2893 531 22,865 630,566 67753 1,034336 1,711,872
Transfers 19,991 10,113 11,033 - 20,898 (62,035) - - -
Disposals - (2.982) (26) (883) (635) - (4,526) - (4526)
At 31 March 2012 (Restated) 447,548 108,086 241,049 35,466 1TAT1 724,351 1,673,971 1776023 3,450,194
Accumulated amortisation
and depreciation:
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 92,729 44,874 71,863 14338 33,951 - 257,755 4,578 262,333
Exchange adjustments 4113 1,925 2,887 548 1,229 - 10,702 458 11,160
Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 36(c)&(d) - 14,660 1,25 525 21,505 - 37,945 5,648 43593
Charge for the year 25418 11917 21953 549 9,754 - 74,538 19,575 94,113
Written back on disposals - (2,981) (26) (616) (57) - (3,680) - (3,680)
At 31 March 2012 (Restated) 122,260 70,395 97,932 20,291 66,382 = 377,260 30,259 407,519
Net book value:
At 31 March 2012 (Restated) 325,88 37,691 143117 15175 51,089 124351 129,711 1,745,964 3,042,675
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 317313 34,008 133,706 15,126 25614 73,653 599,420 704,876 1,304,29%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(b) The Company

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor  fixtures and
improvements vehicles equipment Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000
Cost:
At 1 April 2012 3,093 5,680 1,471 10,244
Additions — — 37 37
At 31 March 2013 3,093 5,680 1,508 10,281
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2012 3,093 4,355 1,242 8,690
Charge for the year — 1,136 87 1,223
At 31 March 2013 3,093 5,491 1,329 9,913
Net book value:
At 31 March 2013 = 189 179 368
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(b) The Company (continued)

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixtures and
improvements vehicles equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost:
At 1 April 2011 3,093 5,680 1,384 10,157
Additions — — 87 87
At 31 March 2012 3,093 5,680 1,471 10,244
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2011 3,093 3,219 988 7,300
Charge for the year — 1,136 254 1,390
At 31 March 2012 3,093 4,355 1,242 8,690
Net book value:
At 31 March 2012 — 1,325 229 1,554

(c) At 31 March 2013, the Group had pledged interests in leasehold land and buildings with an
aggregated carrying value of $245,267,000 (2012: $262,505,000), as collateral against certain loans
granted to the Group by several banks (see note 29).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(d) The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Outside Hong Kong - under
medium-term lease 2,058,083 2,071,252 1,022,189
Represented by:
Buildings held for own use 347,976 325,288 317,313
Interests in leasehold land held for own use
under operating leases 1,710,107 1,745,964 704,876
2,058,083 2,071,252 1,022,189

(e) Fixed asset held under finance leases

The Group leases three motor vehicles under finance leases expiring in 2.5 years to 4.5 years. At the
end of the lease term, the Group and the Company have the option to purchase the leased motor
vehicles at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. The leases do not include contingent
rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the net book value of motor vehicles held under finance leases of
the Group was $3,962,000 (2012: $5,908,000) and of the Company was $ nil (2012: $1,325,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group
Management Operating
service rights of
contract cord blood
rights banks Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Cost:
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 880,921 201,346 1,082,267
Exchange adjustments 34,450 6,249 40,699
At 31 March and 1 April 2012 (Restated) 915,371 207,595 1,122,966
Exchange adjustments 2,718 1,438 4,156
At 31 March 2013 918,089 209,033 1,127,122
Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 51,387 22,913 74,300
Exchange adjustments 2,085 73 2,158
Charge for the year 30,437 6,847 37,284
At 31 March and 1 April 2012 (Restated) 83,909 29,833 113,742
Exchange adjustments 426 247 673
Charge for the year 30,426 6,927 37,353
At 31 March 2013 114,761 37,007 151,768
Net book value:
At 31 March 2013 803,328 172,026 975,354
At 31 March 2012 (Restated) 831,462 177,762 1,009,224
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 829,534 178,433 1,007,967

The intangible asset of the Group represents the management service contract rights and operating rights
of cord blood banks. The amortisation charges for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 are included
in cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 GOODWILL
The Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Cost:
At beginning of the year (Restated) 569,844 513,689
Exchange adjustments 1,378 17,462
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36(c)) — 38,693
At end of the year 571,222 569,844
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") as follows:
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$°000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Medical devices 506 506 506
Cord blood bank 66,663 66,663 66,663
Hospital management 465,360 463,982 446,520
Hospital operation 38,693 38,693 —
571,222 569,844 513,689

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated rates stated below.
The growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU
operates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill (continued)

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

2013 2012
% %
Restated
Gross margin
Medical devices 63.0 62.0
Cord blood bank 76.0 74.0
Hospital management 76.0 73.0
Hospital operation 57.0 56.0
Growth rate
Medical devices 8.7 10.0
Cord blood bank 9.4 9.4
Hospital management 8.7 8.7
Hospital operation 3.9 4.1
Discount rate
Medical devices 16.4 16.9
Cord blood bank 15.7 15.7
Hospital management 14.0 14.0
Hospital operation 14.0 14.0

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectation for
market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are higher than their carrying amounts based on value-in-use
calculations. Accordingly, no impairment of goodwill is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

The Company
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 669,566 451,532
Amounts due from subsidiaries, net 2,060,479 2,577,771
Convertible notes issued by subsidiaries (notes 32(b)(i)&ii)) 697,106 —
3,427,151 3,029,303

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment
but settlement is not expected within one year at the end of the reporting period. They are neither
past due nor impaired.

(b) Amounts due to subsidiaries

Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of settlement but
settlement is not expected within one year at the end of the reporting period.

BNTE]  GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) Particulars of principal subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Company.

Proportion of ownership interest

Group's Issued/
Place of effective Held by Heldby  registered  Principal
Name of the Company establishment holding the Company  subsidiaries capital  activities
Beijing Jingjing Medical Equipment The PRC 95.09% - 100.00% US§  Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited (i) 10,100,000 medical devices
China Bright Group Co. Limited Hong Kong 95.09% 95.09% —  $1494232  Investment holding

("China Bright")

GM Hospital Group Limited ("GMHG")  British Virgin Islands 75.00% 75.00% US§100  Investment holding

(M Hospital Management The PRC 75.00% - 100.00% RMB Provision of hospital
(China) Company Limited 380,000,000  management service
("GMHM (China)") (i

GM Investment Company Limited Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00% - §1 Investment holding

Shanghai Baisuhang Pharmaceutical ~ The PRC 100.00% - 100.00% RMB  Research and
Company Limited ("SHBSH") (i) 150,000,000 development,

manufacture and sale
of Chinese herbal
medicines

Shanghai East International Medical The PRC 42.00% - 56.00% US$5,250,000/  Hospital operation
Center ("SEIMC") (i 599,800,000

Beijing Qinghe Hospital Company Limited The PRC 43.43% - 82.73% RMB  Hospital operation
("Qinghe") i) 150,000,000
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

Group's Issued/
Place of effective Held by Heldby ~ registered  Principal
Name of the Company establishment holding the Company  subsidiaries capital  activities
(M Shanghai Company Limited Hong Kong 100.00% - 100.00% US§  Software design and
10,000,000 production of medical
equipments
GM Medicare Management The PRC 70.00% - 100.00% US§  Provision of medical
(China) Company Limited (i) 12,852,945/ insurance administration
USS  services
15,000,000
China Cord Blood Corporation Cayman slands 41.95% - 41.95% US§  Investment Holding
("CCBC) (w) 7314
Beijing Jiachenhong Biological The PRC 41.95% - 100.00% RMB  Provision of cord blood
Technologies Company Limited (i) 280,000,000 bank services
Guangzhou Municipality Tianhe Nuoya ~ The PRC 41.95% - 100.00% RMB Provision of cord blood
Bio-engineering Company Limited (i) 50,290,183/ bank services
RMB
90,000,000
Zhejiang Lukou Biotechnology The PRC 37.76% - 90.00% RMB  Provision of cord blood
Company Limited (i 50,000,000 bank services

(i) These subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprises.

(i) SEIMC is a sino-foreign co-operative joint venture. This entity is accounted for as one of the Group's subsidiaries as it is
controlled by the Group.

(i)  These subsidiaries are PRC domestic enterprises.

(iv)  Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of this investee since 1 July 2009, the directors have determined
that the Group has de facto control over CCBC on the basis that the remaining voting rights in the investee are widely
dispersed and that there is no indication that all other shareholders exercise their votes collectively.
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18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(d) Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests (“NCI"), before any intra-group eliminations.

2013
Other
individually
immaterial
China Bright GMHG CCBC  subsidiaries Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NCI effective percentage 4.91% 56.97% 58.05%
Non-current assets 1,368,379 2,699,415 1,727,637
Current assets 323,274 239,240 2,052,323
Non-current liabilities (344,903) (519,493) (1,758,795)
Current liabilities (477,091) (1,280,531) (370,708)
Net assets 869,659 1,138,631 1,650,457
Carrying amount of NCI 42,700 648,670 958,090 11,440 1,660,900
Revenue 277,242 126,930 647,265
Profit/(loss) 121,981 (61,233) 125,501
Total comprehensive income 115,493 (59,057) 125,017
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI 18,770 (15,503) 73,173 (3,333) 73,107
Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 108,326 (23,338) 704,614
Net cash flow from/(used in) investment activities 76,906 (227,453) (593,761)
Net cash flow (used in)/from financing activities -
before cash dividends to NCI (689,613) 234,558 755,598
Net cash flow from financing activities -
cash dividends to NCI — — —
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents (504,381) (16,233) 866,451
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(d) Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (continued)

2012
Other
individually
immaterial
China Bright GMHG CCBC subsidiaries Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
NCI effective percentage 23.88% 54.89% 58.64%
Non-current assets 779,829 2,613,056 1,139,724
Current assets 804,850 254,654 1,123,754
Non-current liabilities (350,497) (493,405) (454,970)
Current liabilities (479,484) (1,166,086) (283,110)
Net assets 754,698 1,208,219 1,525,398
Carrying amount of NCI 180,222 663,235 894,494 58,673 1,796,624
Revenue 257,812 147,110 462,647
Profit 130,949 7,543 157,693
Total comprehensive income 188,789 42,711 254,034
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI 31,271 8,715 94,730 (9,433) 125,283
Net cash flow from operating activities 105,498 2,902 422,022
Net cash flow from/used in investment activities 2,359 73,413 (136,133)
Net cash flow used in financing activities -
before cash dividends to NC| (109,775) (5,336) (55,991)
Net cash flow from financing activities -
cash dividends to NCI — — —
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents (1,918) 70,979 229,898
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES
The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Share of net assets 601,420 600,755 638,262
Goodwill 191,460 191,460 211,178
792,880 792,215 849,440

The following list contains the particulars of all associates which affected the results or assets of the

Group:
Form of Proporation of Issued/
business Place of ownership held registered  Principal
Name of associate structure establishment by the Group capital activities
Fortress Group Limited ("Fortress”) Incorporated Cayman Islands 29.4% US$ 10 Distribution and
retail sale of
personal electronic
goods
China National Medical Equipment Incorporated The PRC Not Applicable RMB131,970,000 Sale and
Co.Ltd. ("CMIC") (note (i) distribution of

medical equipment
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

19 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table summarised the information of each of the Group’s associates, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled the carrying amount of the Group's interest in associates
and the share of profit and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments (net of tax).

2013
Fortress CMIC Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
Place of business The PRC The PRC
Percentage of interest 29.4% 0.0% (note (i))
Non-current assets 2,923,316
Current assets 5,895,564
Non-current liabilities (2,042,578)
Current liabilities (4,732,046)
Net assets 2,044,256
Group's share of net assets 601,420 — 601,420
Goodwill 191,460 = 191,460
Carrying amount in the consolidated statement of
financial position 792,880 = 792,880
Revenue 12,245,510 717,728
Profit 284,548 6,991
Other comprehensive income 7,145 —
Total comprehensive income 291,693 6,991
Group's share of profit 83,714 1,608 85,322
Group's share of total comprehensive income 85,816 1,608 87,424

Dividends received — — —
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INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2012 (Restated)

Fortress CMIC Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
Place of business The PRC The PRC
Percentage of interest 29.4%  23.0%(note (i))
Non-current assets 2,600,557 225,533
Current assets 4,268,532 1,479,715
Non-current liabilities (2,047,955) (230,793)
Current liabilities (3,051,379) (1,126,223)
Net assets 1,769,755 348,232
Group's share of net assets 520,662 80,093 600,755
Goodwill 191,460 — 191,460
Carrying amount in the consolidated statement of
financial position 712,122 80,093 792,215
Revenue 11,177,937 2,511,229
Profit 340,307 49,491
Other comprehensive income 72,787 13,193
Total comprehensive income 413,094 62,684
Group’s share of profit 94,509 11,384 105,893
Group's share of total comprehensive income 110,211 14,417 124,628

Dividends received

(i) On 12 June 2012, the Group entered into an agreement with China National Pharmaceutical Group Corporation (“Sinopharm”) to
sell its entire interest in CMIC with a consideration of RMB63,454,000 (equivalent to $79,435,000). As a result, the related exchange
reserve balance of $10,793,000 was transferred to profit or loss and a gain of $8,527,000 was recorded in profit or loss for the year

ended 31 March 2013.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

20 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

The Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Share of net assets 62,951 62,981

The following list contains the particular of the joint venture which affected the results or assets of the

Group:
Form of Proporation of Issued/
business  Place of ownership held registered  Principal
Name of joint venture structure  establishment by the Group capital activities
Capital Ally Investments Limited Incorporated  British Virgin 50.00% US$10,000  Investment holding
Islands

Summary financial information of a joint venture:

2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Percentage of interest 50.0% 50.0%
Non-current assets 41,027 41,027
Current assets (including cash and cash equivalents amounting
to $298,000 (2012: $358,000)) 134,406 134,466
Current liabilities (49,531) (49,531)
Net assets 125,902 125,962
Group's share of net assets and carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position 62,951 62,981
Revenue _ -
Loss (60) (268)
Other comprehensive income — 4,038
Total comprehensive (loss)/income (60) 3,770
Group's share of loss (30) (134)
Group's share of total comprehensive (loss)/income (30) 1,885

Dividends received — —
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES

The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated

Equity securities
Listed outside Hong Kong 109,384 120,668 71,585
Unlisted 368,695 312,556 296,949
478,079 433,224 368,534

Debt securities

Unlisted 1,950 1,950 —
480,029 435,174 368,534

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, no impairment losses on available-for-sale equity and
debt securities have been recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

22 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Non-current
Processing costs of donated
unbilical cord blood units being capitalised 48,482 41,908 37,516
Current
Raw materials 15,640 9,507 9,273
Work in progress 4,309 4,899 2,408
Finished goods 11,596 17,479 13,225
31,545 31,885 24,906
80,027 73,793 62,422

The Group collects, tests, freezes and stores donated umbilical cord blood for future transplantation
or research purposes in return for a fee.

Collection, testing and processing costs attributable to the processing of donated umbilical cord
blood are capitalised as inventories, and recognised as cost of sales when revenue is recognised
upon successful match of the donated cord blood units.

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Carrying amount of inventories sold 256,831 218,716
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23 NON-CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Trade receivables (note 25) 308,551 312,405 286,065
Investment deposits (i) 263,000 — 961,368
Prepayment and other deposits 924 3,518 9,228
571,645 315,923 1,256,661

(i)  The Group paid RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately $263,000,000) as a refundable
earnest money for potential healthcare investments.

Non-current trade receivables are due for payments as follows:

The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011

$'000 $'000 $'000

Restated Restated

Fiscal years ending 31 March
2013 = — 27,882
2014 = 37,152 27,882
2015 42,455 36,771 27,882
2016 42,068 35,624 27,882
2017 and thereafter (for 2011) 40,909 31,752 221,974
2018 and thereafter (for 2012) 32,126 218,574 —
2019 and thereafter (for 2013) 195,983 — —
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (note 25(b)) (44,990) (47,468) (47,437)
308,551 312,405 286,065
24 TRADING SECURITIES
The Group The Company
2013 2012 1 April 2011 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Restated Restated

Equity securities listed in

Hong Kong 118,155 117,341 169,550 = —
Debt securities listed in Hong Kong 94,247 435 593 94,247 —
212,402 117,776 170,143 94,247 —

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had pledged certain debt securities with an aggregated carrying amount
of $94,247,000 (2012: $nil), as collateral against certain loans granted to the Group by a bank (see note

29).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Trade receivables 718,558 704,778 597,234
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (note 25(b)) (63,826) (72,252) (54,761)
654,732 632,526 542,473
Representing:
Non-current portion (note 23) 308,551 312,405 286,065
Current portion 346,181 320,121 256,408
Prepayment and deposits 7,470 8,448 8,986
Other receivables 35,876 39,584 30,280
Total current trade and other receivables 389,527 368,153 295,674
The Company
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Other receivables 6,573 6,207

All current trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a) Ageing analysis

Details of the ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011

$'000 $'000 $'000

Restated Restated

Neither past due nor impaired 457,666 467,797 387,286
Past due but not impaired

Within six months 58,582 72,553 41,224

Between seven and twelve months 66,977 58,327 68,567

Over one year 71,507 33,849 45,396

197,066 164,729 155,187

654,732 632,526 542,473

The Group's credit policy is set out in note 38(a).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the
Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written
off against trade receivables directly (see note 2(I)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Restated

At beginning of the year 72,252 54,761
Impairment loss recognised 9,155 15,607
Uncollectable amounts written off (17,940) —
Exchange adjustments 359 1,884
At the end of the year 63,826 72,252

26 TIME DEPOSITS

The balance represents bank deposits as at 31 March 2013 of $63,102,000 (2012: $49,346,000) which
have an original maturity of six months.

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 1 April 2011 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Restated Restated

Cash at bank and on hand 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,445 20,823 7,813

Cash and cash equivalents
in the statement of
financial position 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,445 20,823 7,813

Bank overdraft (note 29) — — (141)

Cash and cash equivalents
in the consolidated
cash flow statement 2,101,322 1,746,669 1,496,304
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Note 2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Profit before taxation 298,731 323,082
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss on trade receivables 7(c) 9,155 15,607
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15(a) 78,948 74,538
Amortisation of land lease premium 15(a) 38,100 19,575
Amortisation of intangible asset 16 37,353 37,284
Interest income from bank deposits 5 (11,306) (9,430)
Dividend income from trading securities 5 (3.115) (1,433)
Dividend income from available-for-sale securities 5 (5,756) (8,775)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities 6 — (1,114)
Net realised and unrealised (gain)/loss on trading
securities 6 (2,517) 52,017
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 6 1,140 (68)
Finance costs 7(a) 57,080 9,987
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss 32 21,469 32,506
Share of profits of associates 19 (85,322) (105,893)
Share of losses of a joint venture 20 30 134
Gain on disposal of interest in associates 19 (8,527) (41,436)
Effect of foreign exchange rates 543 (1,182)
Operating profit before changes
in working capital 426,006 395,399
Increase in trade and other receivables (29,438) (41,716)
Increase in inventories (5,755) (8,074)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 71,842 (47,626)
Increase in deferred revenues 356,629 203,792
Cash generated from operations 819,284 501,775
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011
$°000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated

Non-current
Construction costs payables — 92,600 —
Other payables and accrued expenses 132,589 74,244 35,659
132,589 166,844 35,659

Current
Trade payables 115,317 122,077 125,002
Construction costs payables 94,204 125,483 1,473
Payable for exercised put options (note 36(a)) 150,177 — —
Other payables and accrued expenses 157,756 121,998 173,656
517,454 369,558 300,131
650,043 536,402 335,790
The Company

2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Payable for exercised put options (note 36(a)) 150,177 —
Other payables and accrued expenses 10,734 9,437
160,911 9,437

All current trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

The Group is normally granted credit periods of one to three months by its suppliers. Details of the ageing
analysis of trade payables are as follows:

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
Due within three months or on demand 115,317 122,077 125,002
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

At 31 March 2013 and 2012, the interest-bearing borrowings were repayable as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 1 April 2011 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Restated Restated

Within one year or on demand 498,888 362,596 172,288 52,260 233,898
After one year but within five years 362,749 — 233,428 362,749 —

861,637 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898

At 31 March 2013 and 2012, the interest-bearing borrowings were secured as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 1 April 2011 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Restated Restated

Unsecured bank overdrafts

(note 27(a)) — — 141 — —
Bank loans
— Secured 600,606 128,698 172,147 415,009 —
— Unsecured = 233,898 233,428 = 233,898

600,606 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898
Unsecured loan from a third party 261,031 — — = —

861,637 362,596 405,716 415,009 233,898

As 31 March 2013, the bank loans of certain subsidiaries of $185,597,000 (2012: $128,698,000) are
secured by interests in leasehold land and buildings as detailed in note 15(c).

The bank loan of the Company of $362,749,000 (2012: $nil) is secured by the convertible notes of a face
value of US$50,000,000 issued by CCBC and the ordinary shares of CCBC issued to the Company upon
and as a result of any conversion of the convertible notes in accordance with the terms of the convertible
notes (note 32(b)(ii). The loan is measured at amortised cost net of transaction costs paid.

The bank loan of the Company of $52,260,000 (2012: $nil) is secured by the trading securities held by the
Company (note 24).
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29 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 March 2012, included in bank loans of the Group and the Company is a loan of $233,898,000
which was unsecured, had a five-year term and carried interest based on changes in an interest rate index.
The loan contained an embedded interest rate collar such that interest on the loan lied within the range
of 0% to 13% per annum. The embedded derivatives were considered closely related to the host debt
contract. The loan was therefore measured at amortised cost and was fully repaid in June 2012.

Bank loan facilities of the Group and the Company of $362,749,000 (2012: $233,898,000) are subject to
the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
ratios as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were to
breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The Group regularly
monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached. Further details of the Group’'s management of
liquidity risk are set out in note 38(b).

30 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company had obligations under finance leases
repayable as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
Present value Present value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Within one year 1,254 1,385 1,767 1,927
After one year but within two years 1,306 1,385 1,128 1,232
After two years but within five years 1,179 1,216 2,004 2,075
2,485 2,601 3,132 3,307
3,739 3,986 4,899 5,234
Less: Total future interest expenses (247) (335)
Present value of lease obligations 3,739 4,899
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30 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (continued)

The Company

2013 2012
Present value Present value

of the Total of the Total

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

$000 $°000 $'000 $'000

Within one year = = 682 695
Less: Total future interest expenses — (13)
Present value of lease obligations = 682

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated
PRC income tax payable 75,739 66,959 47,665
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised:

(i) The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

The Group
Depreciation/
amortisation
allowance
in excess of
the related Allowance ~ Withholding
depreciation/ Intangible  for doubtful tax on
amortisation assets debts dividends Others Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred tax
arising from:
At 1 April 2011 (Restated) 161,655 210,515 (13,791) 14,182 (6,087) 366,474
(Credited)/charged to
the consolidated
income statement
(note 8(a)) (8,081) (7.102) (2,261) (14,182) 475 (31,151)
Exchange adjustments 6,675 8,053 (542) — (627) 13,559
At 31 March 2012
(Restated) 160,249 211,466 (16,594) - (6,239) 348,882
At 1 April 2012
(Restated) 160,249 211,466 (16,594) - (6,239) 348,882
(Credited)/charged to
the consolidated
income statement
(note 8(a)) (4,065) (7,607) 3,056 = (830) (9,446)
Exchange adjustments a4 598 (90) — (47) 903
At 31 March 2013 156,626 204,457 (13,628) = (7,116) 340,339
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised: (continued)

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

The Group
2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated

Net deferred tax assets recognised in

the consolidated statement of

financial position (29,169) (31,215) (26,488)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in

the consolidated statement of

financial position 369,508 380,097 392,962

340,339 348,882 366,474

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of $439,771,000 (2012: $373,488,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Cumulative tax losses of $322,685,000 (2012: $305,671,000) do
not expire under the current tax legislation while cumulative tax losses amounting to $117,086,000
(2012: $67,817,000) will expire in five years under the current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

At 31 March 2013, temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the
PRC amounted to $883,657,000 (2012: $693,653,000). Deferred tax liabilities of $88,366,000
(2012: $69,365,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(i)  The components of financial liabilities as fair value through profit or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Convertible notes
—issued by the Company 53,202 56,177 53,202 56,177
—issued by subsidiaries 560,765 285,540 — —
613,967 341,717 53,202 56,177
Written put and compensation
options to non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary
issued by the Company
(note 36(a)) = — 75,561 131,987
Total 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164
Representing:
Non-current portion 560,765 — = —
Current portion 53,202 341,717 128,763 188,164
Total 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164
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32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(i) The movements of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss during the year are as

follows:
The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At beginning of the year 341,717 322,578 188,164 234,976

Deemed redemption of

convertible notes issued by

a subsidiary (note 32(b)(i)) (251,411) — — —
Issuance of convertible

notes by a subsidiary

(note 32(b)(ii)) 507,000 — = —
Interest paid on
convertible notes (4,808) (13,367) (2,475) (2,480)

Exercise of a portion of

written put and

Compensation options

issued by the Company = — (232,220) —
Changes in fair value of

financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss 21,469 32,506 175,294 (44,332)

At end of the year 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164

As at 31 March 2013, the excess of the fair value of convertible notes and warrants upon initial
recognition determined using unobservable inputs over the transaction price of $60,803,000 (2012:
$59,400,000) has been deferred and has not yet been recognised.

(a) Convertible notes and warrants issued by the Company

On 20 July and 9 September 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with a face value of
US$10,000,000, equivalent to approximately $78,000,000 (the “July issue”) and US$15,200,000,
equivalent to approximately $118,560,000 (the “September issue”) with maturity dates of 20
July 2014 and 9 September 2014, respectively. The notes bear interest at 3% per annum and are
unsecured.

The terms and conditions of the convertible notes are the same except that the noteholders of
the July issue have an option to require the Company to issue additional convertible notes up to a
further aggregate principal amount of US$1,000,000, equivalent to $7,800,000 at an issue price
of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the relevant convertible notes, exercisable during
the period up to 365 days after 20 July 2009 (”Subscription Option”). The Subscription Option was
exercised in full on 14 June 2010.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013 131




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a) Convertible notes and warrants issued by the Company (continued)

The rights of the noteholders to convert the notes into ordinary shares of the Company are as
follows:

— Conversion rights are exercisable at any time up to maturity at the noteholders’ option.

— If a noteholder exercises his conversion rights, the Company is required to deliver its ordinary
shares initially at US$0.1601 per share, subject to adjustments under certain terms and
conditions of the convertible notes. The terms and conditions of adjustments to the conversion
price were subsequently amended on 20 January 2012, as agreed between the Company and
the noteholders.

Unless previously redeemed or converted, the convertible notes of the July issue and the September
issue will be redeemed at face value on 20 July 2014 and 9 September 2014 respectively. Pursuant
to the terms of convertible notes, the noteholders shall have the right to require the Company to
redeem the convertible notes on 20 January 2013, which was subsequently extended to 20 January
2014 upon the amendment of terms on 3 January 2013. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the
convertible notes issued by the Company is classified as current liability as of 31 March 2013 and
2012.

Upon the closing of the issuance of the convertible notes, the Company has issued, by way of bonus,
warrants to the noteholders to subscribe for 19,080,000 and 29,002,000 ordinary shares of $0.1
each of the Company, at an exercise price of US$0.1747 per share, respectively. The warrants are
exercisable at any time up to 20 July 2014 and 9 September 2014 respectively at the noteholders’
option.

Upon the exercise of the Subscription Option on 14 June 2010, the Company issued additional
convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$1,000,000, equivalent to approximately
$7,800,000 and has also issued by way of bonus, warrants to the notes holders to subscribe for
1,908,000 ordinary shares of the Company, on the same terms as aforementioned.

As at 31 March 2013, convertible notes with a principal amount of US$10,600,000 remained
outstanding (2012: US$10,600,000).

Further details of the convertible notes and warrants and amendments to the terms and conditions
of convertible notes are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 30 April 2009, 24 August
2009, 3 February 2012 and 4 January 2013.
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32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Convertible notes issued by subsidiaries

v

Convertible notes issued by GMHG

On 30 October 2009, GMHG issued convertible notes with a face value of US$28,000,000
(equivalent to approximately $218,400,000) and a maturity date of 30 October 2014. The
notes bear interest at 5% per annum and are secured by the guarantee from the Company.

The rights of the noteholders to convert the notes into ordinary shares of GMHG are as
follows:

—  Conversion rights are exercisable at any time up to maturity at the noteholders’ option.

— If a noteholder exercises his conversion rights, GMHG is required to deliver GMHG's
ordinary shares initially at US$1,778.10 per share, subject to adjustments under certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes.

On 28 June 2011, GMHG and the noteholders agreed to revise certain terms and conditions to
the convertible notes. The initial conversion price was adjusted from US$1,778.10 per share to
US$1,673.00 per share.

Unless previously redeemed or converted, the convertible notes will be redeemed at face
value on 30 October 2014. Pursuant to the terms of convertible notes, the noteholders at any
time starting from the first day of the 37th month after the Completion Date on 30 October
2009, shall have the right to require GMHG to redeem the convertible notes. Accordingly, the
carrying amounts of the convertible notes issued by GMHG is classified as current liability as of
31 March 2012.

On 24 August 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with Hope Sky Investments
Limited (“Hope Sky"”) to acquire the entire US$28,000,000 convertible notes issued by GMHG.
The consideration of the purchase of the convertible notes was settled by the issuance of
279,344,444 newly issued ordinary shares of the Company. A gain on extinguishment of
the financial liabilities of approximately $55,399,000, being the difference of the fair value
of convertible notes and the fair value of issued ordinary shares on the transaction date, was
recognised and included in the changes in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the convertible notes issued by GMHG have
been fully eliminated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the convertible notes have been recognised
as investment in subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2013, the excess of the fair value of convertible
notes upon initial recognition determined using unobservable inputs over the transaction price
of $55,399,000 (2012: $nil) has been deferred and has not yet been recognised.

Further details of the convertible notes, the amendments of terms and conditions to the
convertible notes and the acquisition of the convertible notes by the Company are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 30 September 2009, 28 June 2011 and 24 August 2012
respectively.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

32 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Convertible notes issued by subsidiaries (continued)

(i)

Convertible notes issued by CCBC

On 27 April 2012 and 18 September 2012, CCBC issued convertible notes with a face value of
US$65,000,000 (equivalent to approximately $507,000,000) and US$50,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately $390,000,000) to KKR China Healthcare Investment Limited (“KKR") and to
the Company with a maturity date of 27 April 2017 and 18 September 2017 respectively. Both
notes bear interest at 7% per annum and are unsecured.

The rights of the noteholders to convert the notes into ordinary shares of CCBC are as follows:
—  Conversion rights are exercisable at any time up to maturity at the noteholders’ option.

— If a noteholder exercises his conversion rights, CCBC is required to deliver CCBC's
ordinary shares initially at US$2.838 per share, subject to adjustments under certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes.

Unless previously redeemed or converted, the convertible notes held by KKR and the Company
will be redeemed at face value on 27 April 2017 and 18 September 2017 respectively.

The carrying amount of the convertible notes held by the Company has been fully eliminated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the convertible notes held by the Company
have been recognised as investment in subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2013, the difference of the
fair value of convertible notes upon initial recognition determined using unobservable inputs
less than the transaction price of $6,404,000 (2012: $nil) has been deferred and has not yet
been recognised.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the convertibles notes are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 18 September 2012.
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33 SHARE REPURCHASE OBLIGATIONS

Share repurchase obligations represent the put option written to non-controlling interests for the
repurchase of shares of a subsidiary (see note 36(a)) and are stated at amortised cost. Movement of share
repurchase obligations during the year is as follows:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
At beginning of the year 554,167 511,791
Amortised to other reserves 26,316 42,376
Exercised put options (note 36(a)) (450,255) —
At end of the year 130,228 554,167

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the changes in amortised cost of share repurchased obligations of
$26,316,000 (2012: $42,376,000) has been recognised directly in equity.

34 DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income represents prepaid cord blood stem cell examination, processing and storage fees
received from customers for which the related services are expected to be rendered within one year or
after more than one year from the date of the consolidated statement of the financial position.

The Group

2013 2012 1 April 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000
Restated Restated

Prepayments by customers prior to completion of
cord blood processing services 116,961 63,489 54,148
Unearned storage fees 752,882 444,133 237,296
869,843 507,622 291,444

Representing:

Non-current portion 656,098 376,670 193,123
Current portion 213,745 130,952 98,321
869,843 507,622 291,444
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35 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group's
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:

Capital
Share Share redemption Capital  Retained
Note capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000

Balance at 31 March
and 1 April 2011 188,903 1,441,870 5,868 30,172 757,852 2,424,665

Changes in equity for the

year ended 31 March 2012:
Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year 11 — — — — 31,339 31,339
Acquisition of subsidiaries 35(b)(i) 2,635 31,621 — — — 34,256
Acquisition of non-controlling

interests 35(h)i) 13,176 158,108 — — — 171,284
Repurchase of own shares 35(h)ii) (5,811) (43,037) 5811 — (5,811) (48,843)

Balance at 31 March and
1 April 2012 198,903 1,588,562 11,679 30,172 783,380 2,612,696

Changes in equity for the

year ended 31 March 2013:
Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year 1 - — — — % 9%
Issuance of shares for deemed

redemption of convertible notes

issued by a subsidiary 35(b)iv) 27,935 223,476 — — - 251,411
Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends ~ 35(b)(v) 346 2,614 — — (22,684) (19,724)
Balance at 31 March 2013 227,184 1,814,652 11,679 30,172 760,792 2,844,479
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35 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) Share capital

2013 2012
Note No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
('000) $'000 ('000) $'000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of $0.1 each 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 1,989,032 198,903 1,889,028 188,903
Acquisition of subsidiaries (i) = = 26,351 2,635
Acquisition of non-controlling
interests (i) = = 131,757 13,176
Repurchase of own shares (iii) — — (58,104) (5,811)
Deemed redemption of convertible
notes issued by a subsidiary (iv) 279,344 27,935 — —
Shares issued in lieu
of cash dividends (v) 3,462 346 — —
At the end of the year 2,271,838 227,184 1,989,032 198,903

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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35

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b) Share capital (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Issue of shares for acquisition of subsidiaries

On 28 June 2011, the Company and GMHG, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
acquire all equity interests in USHME and its subsidiaries (“the USHME Group”) (see note 36(c)) during the year ended 31
March 2012. As part of the consideration for the acquisition, the Company issued 26,351,000 ordinary shares to the vendors
and the consideration was measured at the market value of the shares of $34,256,000 as of the date of transfer. Accordingly,
$2,635,000 was credited to share capital and $31,621,000 was credited to the share premium account.

Issue of shares for acquisition of non-controlling interests

On 28 June 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire an additional 15% equity interest in GMHG from a
non-controlling shareholder of GMHG. As the consideration of the acquisition, the Company issued 131,757,000 ordinary
shares of the Company to the non-controlling shareholder and the consideration was measured at the market value of the
shares of $171,284,000 as of the date of transfer. Accordingly, $13,176,000 was credited to share capital and $158,108,000
was credited to share premium account.

Repurchase of own shares

During the year ended 31 March 2012, a total of a 58,104,000 shares were repurchased at an aggregate price paid of
$48,848,000 which includes related expenses of $229,000.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and, accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 37(4) of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, an amount equivalent
to the par value of the shares cancelled of $5,811,000 was transferred from retained profits to the capital redemption
reserve. The premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of $43,037,000 was charged to the share premium account.

Deemed redemption of convertible notes issued by a subsidiary

On 24 August 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with Hope Sky to acquire the US$28,000,000 convertible
notes issued by GMHG (see note 32(b)), by the issuance of 279,344,444 of the Company's new ordinary shares on the
transaction date as a consideration. The consideration shares were measured at market value on the transaction date.
Accordingly, $27,935,000 was credited to share capital and $223,476,000 was credited to share premium account.

Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends

On 20 November 2012, 3,462,032 shares at HK$0.855 per share were issued by the Company as dividends in accordance
with the Company’s announcement on 5 October 2012. Accordingly, $346,000 was credited to share capital and $2,614,000
was credited to share premium account (see note 35(d)).
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35 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Reserves

Nature and purpose of reserves:

v

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium account of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares repurchased which has
been paid out of the distributable reserves of the Company.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual or estimated number of outstanding
share options granted to employees of the Group and the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 2(s)(ii).

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital
of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(w).
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35 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Reserves (continued)

(vi)  Surplus reserve

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, certain subsidiaries are required
to appropriate 10% of after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting principles
and financial regulations applicable to foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, to a surplus
reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of their respective registered capital.
Thereafter, any further appropriations can be made at the directors’ discretion. The surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior year losses, or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares on
condition that the surplus reserve shall be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such issuance.

(vii) ~ Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-
sale securities held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(g).

(vii)  Other reserves

The following are charged/credited to other reserves:

(1) the excess of purchase consideration on acquisition of non-controlling interests over the
carrying value of share of net assets acquired;

(2)  gain or loss on dilution of investment in subsidiaries the Group's interest in a subsidiary is
increased/decreased without losing control; and

(3) changes in amortised costs of share repurchase obligations.

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2013, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was $2,575,444,000 (2012: $2,371,942,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend of $0.013 (2012: $0.01) per ordinary share,
amounting to $29,534,000 (2012: $19,890,000). This dividend has not been recognised as a liability
at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the directors paid an actual final dividend of $22,684,000,
which was approved in the annual general meeting on 25 September 2012. The shareholders of the
Company may elect to receive a cash dividend or a scrip dividend of new shares. Further details are
set out in the Company's circular dated 16 October 2012.
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35 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a debt-to-
capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines debt as total interest-bearing borrowings and debts,
obligations under finance leases and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Capital
comprises all components of equity.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2012,
was to maintain a stable debt-to-capital ratio. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The debt-to-capital ratios at 31 March 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

The Group The Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Restated

Interest-bearing other payables 28 150,177 — 150,177 —

Interest-bearing borrowings 29 861,637 362,596 415,009 233,898

Obligations under finance leases 30 3,739 4,899 = 682
Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss 32 613,967 341,717 128,763 188,164

Total debt 1,629,520 709,212 693,949 422,744

Total equity 6,126,341 5,860,116 2,844,479 2,612,696

Debt-to-capital ratio 26.60% 12.10% 24.40% 16.18%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements except for those as described in note 29.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013 141



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

(a) Disposal and acquisition of partial interests in a subsidiary

On 27 August 2010, the Company sold a 23.9% equity interest in a then wholly owned subsidiary,
China Bright to certain investors, at a consideration of $7.94 per share. In connection with the
sale of shares, the Company wrote a put option (“Put option”) and a compensation option
(“Compensation option”) to the investors. The Put option gives the investors the right to require
the Company to re-acquire the sold shares of China Bright at $15.88 per share if a separate listing
of the shares of China Bright on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, NASDAQ
or the New York Stock Exchange (together referred as “qualified IPO markets”) with a market
capitalisation of US$280,000,000 (equivalent to $2,184,000,000) is not completed within two
years from 27 August 2010. The Compensation option gives the investors the right to require the
Company to pay compensation to the investors determined by any shortfall between a guaranteed
market capitalisation of US$280,000,000 (equivalent to $2,184,000,000) and the actual market
capitalisation of China Bright after the initial public offering of its shares should such an offering
take place within two years from 27 August 2010. The investors can either exercise the Put option
or the Compensation option but not both. As the terms of the Put option are more favourable to
investors than those of the Compensation option, the value of the Compensation option is estimated
to be nil. The Put option is recognised as an obligation of the Group to purchase own equity, and is
presented as share repurchase obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position (note
33).

The excess of the sum of (i) the carrying amount of the Put option recognised as part of the
transaction and (i) the share of net assets of China Bright disposed of, over the consideration for the
disposal of the partial interests in China Bright of $314,696,000 has been debited to other reserves
with equity. No gain or loss on partial disposal is recognised in profit or loss since the Company
retained control over China Bright after the transaction.

On 26 August 2012, a separate listing of China Bright on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, NASDAQ or the New York Stock Exchange with a market capitalisation
of US$280,000,000 (equivalent to $2,184,000,000) was not completed. Accordingly, the
Compensation option became invalid and the investors have the right to exercise the Put option and
require the Company to re-acquire the sold shares of China Bright at $15.88 per share.

On 26 August 2012, the Company reached supplemental agreements with the investors to extend
the expiry date of 20.55% of the total Put option shares, representing 7,332,808 ordinary shares
or 4.91% equity interest of China Bright from 26 August 2012 to 26 February 2014, and include
Taiwan Stock Exchange and Singapore Stock Exchange as qualified IPO market for China Bright to
complete a separate listing (“Adjusted Put option”). The Adjusted Put option gives the investors
the right to require the Company to reacquire the sold shares of China Bright at a consideration
of HK$116,445,000 plus agreed interests for the period from 27 August 2012 and ending on the
closing date of the Company's acquisition of the sold shares.

142 GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (continued)

(a) Disposal and acquisition of partial interests in a subsidiary (continued)

From September to November 2012, the Company reached several agreements with the respective
investors to exercise the Put option as follows:

(i)  On 27 September 2012, 20.55% of the total Put option shares, representing 7,332,809
ordinary shares or 4.91% equity interest of China Bright, were exercised in full. The
consideration of $116,445,000 was fully paid in cash in October 2012, the underlying shares
of the Put option were transferred to the Company on settlement date.

(i)  On 18 September 2012, 17.8% of the total Put option shares, representing 6,355,100 ordinary
shares or 4.25% equity interest of China Bright, were exercised in full. The consideration is
payable by the Company by instalments. 50% and 25% of the total consideration together
with agreed interest of $50,459,000 and $27,122,000 were paid in cash in September 2012
and March 2013 respectively. The remaining 25% consideration with agreed interests of
$29,014,000 will be payable in September 2013, relevant Put option shares shall be transferred
to the Company on the corresponding settlement dates.

(i) On 16 November 2012, 41.1% of the total Put option shares, representing 14,665,617
ordinary shares or 9.81% equity interest of China Bright, were exercised in full. The
consideration is payable by the Company by instalments. 50% and 25% of the total
consideration with agreed interests of $116,445,000 and $66,956,000 were paid in cash in
November 2012 and May 2013 respectively. The remaining 25% consideration with agreed
interests of $66,956,000 will be payable in November 2013.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the Put option and the Compensation option,
which represent obligations in respect of a subsidiary’s shares, have been recognised as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (see note 32), and were initially recognised at fair value
of $167,000,000. The increase in fair value of the exercised Put and Compensation options (79.45%
(2012: 0%)) and the outstanding Put and Compensation options (20.55% (2012: 100%)) for the
year ended 31 March 2013 of $127,356,000 (2012: $nil) and $48,438,000 (2012: a decrease in fair
value of $29,178,000) has been charged/credited to the Company’s profit or loss respectively.

Further details and terms and conditions of the Put option and the Adjusted Put option are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 20 August 2010, 26 August 2010, 18 September 2012, 27
September 2012 and 16 November 2012.
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36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (continued)

(b) Acquistion of additional interests in subsidiaries

)

(ii)

(iii)

As mentioned in note 32(b), on 24 August 2012, the Company acquired the convertible
notes issued by GMHG. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the convertible notes, the
convertible notes are convertible into new GMHG shares representing approximately 14.34%
of the enlarged issued share capital of GMHG. Assuming the Company elects to convert all
the convertible notes into new GMHG shares, the Group's interest in GMHG will increase from
75% to approximately 78.58%.

On 15 August 2012, CCBC entered into a share repurchase agreement with Cordlife (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Cordlife HK"), the non-controlling interest shareholder of China Stem Cells
(South) Company Limited (“CSC"), to acquire the 10% equity interest in CSC hold by Cordlife
HK with a cash consideration of US$16,841,000 (equivalent to approximately $130,045,000).
Simultaneously, CCBC entered into a share repurchase agreement with Cordlife Group Limited
("CGL"), the holding company of Cordlife HK, pursuant to which CGL is obligated to purchase
7,314,015 CCBC's ordinary shares, representing 10% of the issued ordinary shares of CCBC,
owned by CCBC and held as treasury stock, for a cash consideration of US$20,845,000
(equivalent to approximately $161,193,000).

Upon the completion of be above transactions on 12 November 2012, CGL acquired 10%
of the issued ordinary shares of CCBC and CSC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCBC.
The cash considerations were settled in net cash basis of US$4,004,000 (equivalent to
approximately $31,148,000).

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, the Group acquired additional interest in
CCBC for a cash consideration of US$1,123,000 (equivalent to approximately $8,759,000) and
US$1,983,000 (equivalent to approximately $15,464,000), respectively.
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36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (continued)

(c) U.S. Healthcare Management Enterprise Inc. (“USHME") and its subsidiaries

On 27 July 2011, GMHG, a subsidiary of the Group completed the acquisition of the 100% equity
interests in USHME. USHME holds a 56% equity interest in SEIMC. Total consideration for the
acquisition was $73,256,000, satisfied by issuance of 26,351,000 ordinary shares by the Company
and by cash of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to $39,000,000).

The principal activity of SEIMC is the operation of a hospital in Shanghai, the PRC, and such
operation has been included in the operating segment of hospital management. The contribution to
the Group's revenues and profit for the year is disclosed in note 14.

Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

Carrying Fair
amount value
$'000

Net assets acquired:
Fixed assets (note 15(a)) 5,548 5,548
Inventories 1,000 1,000
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 7,770 7,770
Cash and cash equivalents 41,949 41,949
Time deposits 21,765 21,765
Other payables and accruals (17,817) (17,817)
Net assets acquired 60,215
Non-controlling interests (25,652)
Goodwill arising from acquisition (note 17) 38,693
Total purchase price paid, satisfied in cash and shares 73,256

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of

subsidiaries
$'000
Total purchase price 73,256
Amount paid in prior years (21,567)
Fair value of the ordinary shares issued (34,256)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (41,949)
(24,516)
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36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (continued)

(d) Beijing Guohua Jiedi Hospital Management Company Limited (“Guo Hua Jie Di”) and its
subsidiaries

On 26 December 2011, GMHM (China), a subsidiary of the Group completed the acquisition of the
70% equity interests in Guo Hua Jie Di. Guo Hua Jie Di holds a 82.73% equity interests in Qinghe.
The total consideration of $600,000,000 was satisfied in cash.

On the date of acquisition, Guo Hua Jie Di and Qinghe have not yet commenced commercial
operation and lacked several factors required to generate a revenue stream and strategic
management processes for hospital operation in PRC. As a result, the management considers that
Guo Hua Jie Di and Qinghe did not constitute businesses on the acquisition date and the acquisition
is treated as an acquisition of assets and liabilities. The principal assets of Guo Hua Jie Di and Qinghe
are interests in leasehold land and construction in progress of hospital buildings in Beijing, the PRC.

The following table summarises the cost of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition.

Cost

$'000
Fixed assets (note 15(a)) 1,662,731
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 37,150
Cash and cash equivalents 3,546
Total assets acquired 1,703,427
Other payables and accruals (649,754)
Non-controlling interests (453,673)
Net assets acquired 600,000
Total purchase consideration satisfied by cash paid in prior year 600,000

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of

subsidiaries
$'000
Total purchase price 600,000
Amount paid in prior years (600,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3,546
3,546
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37 SHARE OPTIONS

(a) The principal terms of the share option schemes of the Company are summarised as
follows:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 30 July 2002 (the “2002 Scheme”). The
Company by shareholders’ resolutions passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30
March 2005 has adopted a new share option scheme (the “Current Scheme” and, together
with the 2002 Scheme, the “Schemes”) and terminated the 2002 Scheme. No further share
options may be offered under the 2002 Scheme. The Current Scheme was terminated upon
the transfer of the listing of the shares of the Company from the GEM to the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 16 June 2009. No further options may be offered under the Current
Scheme. However, in respect of all options which remained exercisable on the said dates of
termination, they shall continue to be exercisable subject to the provisions of the 2002 Scheme
or the Current Scheme as applicable.

The purpose of the 2002 Scheme was to recognise the contribution of full-time employees of
the Company or any subsidiary and executive and independent non-executive directors of the
Company or any subsidiary (the “2002 Participants”) by granting share options to them as
incentives or rewards.

The purpose of the Current Scheme is to recognise the contribution of the executives,
employees, directors (including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors), consultants, advisers and agents of the Company and its affiliates (the “Current
Participants” and, together with the 2002 Participants, the “Participants”) by granting share
options to them as incentives or rewards.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be
granted under the Schemes each time shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue of the Company as at 30 March 2005, the date on which the Current
Scheme was adopted. As at the date of this annual report, no further options may be offered
under the Schemes. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Schemes must not exceed
30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

Pursuant to each of the 2002 Scheme and the Current Scheme, the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon the exercise of all share options granted and to be granted to
each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the offer date shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the
offer date.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

37 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(a) The principal terms of the share option schemes of the Company are summarised as
follows: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Pursuant to the 2002 Scheme, a share option may be exercised at any time during a period
notified by the Board to the grantee provided that such period shall not commence earlier than
27 December 2002 and shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of offer. These options
have been expired as at 31 March 2013.

Pursuant to the Current Scheme, a share option may be exercised at any time during a period
notified by the Board to the grantee, such period shall not be longer than 10 years from the
date of offer.

Pursuant to each of the 2002 Scheme and the Current Scheme, a share option may be granted
by the Board upon any terms and conditions as it may think fit subject to the rules of the
Schemes and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to each of the 2002 Scheme and the Current Scheme, acceptance of an offer must be
made by the grantee by the date specified in the offer as the last date for acceptance, together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of $1 by way of consideration for the grant.

Pursuant to the 2002 Scheme and the Current Scheme, the exercise price shall be determined
by the Board, but shall not be less than the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on
the date on which an offer is made to a Participant, which must be a business day;

(2) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which an
offer is made; and

(3) the nominal value of the shares.
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(b) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows, whereby
all share options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Number Contract
Exercise  of share life of
price options Vesting conditions share options
$
Share options granted
to directors:
-on 4 March 2005 1.6 4,400,000 -immediately 3 months after the date of grant  Expire at the close of business
("Option 1") on 28 February 2015
- on 30 March 2005 176 63,206,245 - up to 20% immediately after 6 months from  Expire at the close of business
("Option 2") the date of grant on 3 March 2015
- Up to 60% immediately after 18 months from
the date of grant
- Up t0 100% immediately after 30 months from
the date of grant
-on 27 April 2009 1.15 21,700,000 - up to 30% immediately after the date of grant  Expire at the close of business
("Option 3") - Up t0 60% immediately after 6 months from ~ on 26 April 2019
the date of grant
- Up t0 100% immediately after 12 months from
the date of grant
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37 SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows, whereby
all share options are settled by physical delivery of shares: (continued)

Number Contract
Exercise  of share life of
price options Vesting conditions share options
$
Share options granted
to employees:
-on 4 March 2005 16 9,870,000 -immediately 3 months after the date of grant ~ Expire at the close of business
("Option 1") on 28 February 2015
- on 27 April 2009 1.15 23,633,000 - up to 30% immediately after the date of grant ~ Expire at the close of business
("Option 3") - Up 10 60% immediately after 6 months from ~ on 26 April 2019
the date of grant
- up to 100% immediately after 12 months from
the date of grant

122,809,245

Each share option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

There are 122,809,245 options outstanding and exercisable at 31 March 2013 (2012: 122,809,245).
The options outstanding at 31 March 2013 had an exercise price of $1.15 to $1.76 (2012: $1.15 to
$1.76) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.46 years (2012: 4.46 years).
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group's
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities
and the impact of equity prices on the fair value of convertible notes and warrant liabilities.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. The status of the receivables is closely monitored to minimise
any credit risk associated with these receivables. Trade receivables of medical devices segment
are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billing. For trade receivables of cord blood bank
segment, receivables are due in accordance with the payment schedule. For receivables of the other
operating segments, trade receivables are due on goods delivered or services performed, a regular
review is carried out and follow up actions are taken on overdue amounts to minimise the Group’s
exposure to credit risk. Cash at bank and time deposits are placed with licensed financial institutions
with high credit ratings. The Group monitors the exposure to each financial institution.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
debtor with the exception of cord blood bank segment for which outstanding account balances are
reviewed on a pooled basis by ageing of such balances. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 15% (2012:
15%) and 36% (2012: 34%) of the trade receivables were due from the Group's largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance. Except
for the financial guarantees disclosed in note 40, the Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in note 40.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in note 23 and 25.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands. The Group'’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period
of the Group's and the Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group and the Company
can be required to pay:

The Group
2012
013 (Restated)
Contractual undiscounted cash flow Contractual undiscounted cash flow

More than ~ More than Morethan ~ More than

Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Within - Tyearbut ~ 2yearsbut
Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan Carrying ~ Tyearor  lessthan essthan Camying
Note  ondemand 2years 5 years Total amount  on demand 1 years 5 years Total amount
§000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $000 $000 $000 §000 §000
Trade and other payables 8 530,203 132,589 - 662792 650,043 369,558 166,844 - 536,402 536,402
Interest-bearing borrowings 29 533433 16189 398250 947872 861637 36832 - - 383 362,5%
Obligations under finance leases 30 1,385 1,385 1216 3986 3739 1927 13 2075 5234 4,899
Convertible notes 3 120,650 35,490 613,470 769,610 613,967 350,154 - - 350,154 mn7
Share repurchase obligations 3 137,405 = = 137,405 130,228 566,699 - - 566,699 554,167
Other non-current liabilities = 415 = 415 415 - 413 413 413

1323,076 186,068 1012936 252,080 2260029 1,656,659 168,489 2005 182723 1,800,194

GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Company
013 2012
Contractual undiscounted cash flow Contractual undiscounted cash flow
More than ~ More than Morethan  More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Within -~ Tyearbut 2 years but
Tyearor  lessthan lessthan Carying  Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan Carying
Note ondemand 2years 5 years Total  amount  ondemand 2 years 5 years Total amount
§000 §1000 §000 §'000 §'000 $000 $000 §000 §000 §000
Other payables 8 173,660 = - IBSG  160911 9437 - - 9437 9437
Interest-bearing borrowings 09 68,487 16189 398250 482926 415009  2338%8 - - 23B8% 23388
Obligations under a finance lease 30 = = = = = 695 - - 695 682
Convertible notes i 85,160 = = 85,160 53,202 58,657 - - 58,657 5,177
Witten put and compensation
options ) 137,405 = = 137405 75,561 566,699 - — %6669 131,987
464,712 16189 398250 879,151 704683 869,386 - — 893 43181
Financial guarantees issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed 40 = = = = = - 218,400 - 218,400 -
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits with banks, interest-bearing borrowings
and obligations under finance leases. Instruments bearing interest at variable rates and at fixed rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk arising from the impact of interest rate changes
on its convertible notes and warrants. The Group regularly reviews its strategy on interest rate risk
management in the light of the prevailing market conditions. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(1) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group and the Company at the end
of the reporting period:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 (Restated) 2013 2012
Effective Effective Effective Effective
interest interest interest interest
rate rate rate rate
% $'000 % $'000 % $'000 % $'000
Fixed rate assets/(liabilities):
Interest-bearing borrowings 3.00 (261,031) — - — - - —
Payable for exercised put option 19.50  (150,177) — — 19.50  (150,177) — —
Share repurchase obligations 6.18  (130,228) 828  (554,167) = = — —
Obligations under finance leases 431 (3.739) 4.05 (4,899 = = 543 (682)
(545,175) (559,066) (150,177) (682)
Variable rate assets/(liabilities):
Time deposits 3.05 63,102 3.05 49,346 = = — -
Cash and cash equivalents 035 2,101,322 049 1,746,669 0.10 20,823 0.06 7813
Interest-bearing borrowings 482  (600,606) 270 (362,596) 2.77  (415,009) 020 (233,89
1,563,818 1,433,419 (394,186) (226,085)
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at 31 March
2013, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group's profit
after taxation by approximately $9,621,000/$9,621,000, retained profits by approximately
$9,557,000/$9,557,000 and non-controlling interests by $64,000/$64,000 respectively
(2012: increased/decreased profit after taxation by approximately $11,675,000/$11,675,000,
retained profits by approximately $10,409,000/$10,409,000 and non-controlling interests by
approximately $1,266,000/$1,266,000 respectively).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's profit after tax
(and retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at the end of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis has been
performed on the same basis for 2012.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(d) Currency risk

There is currently no hedging policy adopted by the Group with respect to its foreign exchange
exposure. The Group's transactions are in Chinese Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars (“"HKD") and the
United States Dollars (“USD"). With the natural hedging of the revenue and costs denominated in
Chinese Renminbi, the Group’s foreign exchange exposure is considered to be insignificant.

The Group is exposed to currency risk through certain investments, receivables, bank deposits and
bank loans which are denominated in USD, Australian Dollars, British Pounds Sterling, Chinese
Renminbi, Singaporean Dollars and New Taiwan Dollars. As HKD is pegged to USD, the Company
does not expect any significant movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate.

(1) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's and the Company’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Group
2013 2012
Restated
United United
States Chinese  HongKong  Singaporea  Australian States Chinese ~ HongKong  Singaporea  Australian
Dollars  Renminbi Dollars Dollars Dollars Dolars Renminbi Dollars Dollars Dolars
§000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §000 §'000 $000 §'000 $'000 §'000
Cash at bank 1282 1217 15,775 162 1,149 7597 1,301 1973 - 429
Available-for-sale
equity securities 143,656 226,989 - 99,134 10,250 154,987 159,519 - 109,860 10,808
Other receivables = = = = = — - - 1,083 -
Trading Securities 49,472 44,775 = = = - - - -
Interest-bearing
borrowings (415,009)  (261,031) — — - (2338%) - - - -
Convertible notes and
warrants (613,967) - - - - (341,717) — — — -
Overall net exposure — (824,606) 11,950 15,775 99,296 1139 (413,031) 160,820 1973 110,943 11,237
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

(1) Exposure to currency risk (continued)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (continued)

The Company

2013 2012
United United
States Chinese States Chinese
Dollars Renminbi Dollars Renminbi
$°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank 5,999 857 293 1,301
Trading securities 49,472 44,775 — —
Convertible notes issued
by subsidiaries 697,106 — — —
Interest-bearing
borrowings (415,009) — (233,898) —
Convertible notes and
warrants (128,763) — (188,164) —
Overall net exposure 208,805 45,632 (421,769) 1,301
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's profit after tax (and
retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it
is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong Dollars and the United States Dollars
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States
Dollars against other currencies.

2013 2012

Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decease)in  profit after Effecton  (decease)in profit after Effect on
foreign  taxation and other foreign  taxation and other
exchange retained  components exchange retained  components
rates profit of equity rates profit of equity
Chinese Renminbi 5% (13,849) 14,043 5% 65 9,840
(5%) 13,849 (14,043) (5%) (65) (9,840)
Hong Kong Dollars 5% 789 = 5% 9 —
(5%) (789) = (5%) (99) —
Singaporea Dollars 5% 51 4,957 5% 54 5,504
(5%) (51) (4,957) (5%) (54) (5,504)
Australian Dollars 5% 465 512 5% 21 540
(5%) (465) (512) (5%) (21) (540)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong into the Group's
presentation currency. The analysis has been performed on the same basis for 2012.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from trading securities (see note 24) and
available-for-sale securities (see note 21). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes,
all of these investments are listed.

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of
individual securities compared to that of the relevant index and other industry indicators, as well
as the Group's liquidity needs. Listed investments held in the available-for-sale portfolio have been
chosen based on their longer term growth potential and are monitored regularly for performance
against expectations.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long term strategic purposes. Their
performance is assessed at least bi-annually against performance of similar listed entities, based on
the limited information available to the Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to the
Group's long term strategic plans.

The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from the impact of changes in equity prices of
the Company and a subsidiary on the Group'’s convertible notes and warrants.

It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 10% in the fair value of the Group's investments in
listed securities at 31 March 2013, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group's profit after taxation and retained profits by approximately $21,240,000
(2012: $11,734,000), and the Group's other components of consolidated equity by approximately
$11,133,000 (2012: $12,284,000).

It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 10% in the equity prices of the Company and a subsidiary
at 31 March 2013, with all other variables held constant, would have resulted in remeasurements of
the Group’s convertible notes and warrants and increase/decrease the Group's profit after taxation
by approximately $29,782,000/$27,602,000 (2012: $2,678,000/$2,508,000), retained profits by
approximately $14,435,000/$12,771,000 (2012: $1,977,000/$1,862,000) and non-controlling
interests by $15,347,000/$14,831,000 (2012: $701,000/$646,000).

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after taxation and
retained profits and other components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the
changes in the fair value of equity securities had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group
to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that none of the Group’s
available-for-sale investments would be considered impaired as a result of the decrease in the fair
value of the equity securities and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis has been
performed on the same basis for 2012.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012/2013 159



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(f) Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of financial instruments measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial instrument
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

— Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments

—  Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data

— Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable market data
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair values (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued)

2013
The Group
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Available-for-sale
securities 21 109,384 = 1,950 111,334
Trading securities 24 212,402 — — 212,402
321,786 — 1,950 323,736
Liabilities
Convertible notes 32 — — 613,967 613,967
— — 613,967 613,967
2012 (Restated)
The Group
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Available-for-sale
securities 21 120,668 — 1,950 122,618
Trading securities 24 117,776 — — 117,776
238,444 — 1,950 240,394
Liabilities
Convertible notes 32 — — 341,717 341,717
— — 341,717 341,717
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair values (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued)

2013
The Company
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Convertible notes 18(a) — — 697,106 697,106
Trading securities 24 94,247 = = 94,247
94,247 — 697,106 791,353
Liabilities
Convertible notes 32 — — 53,202 53,202
Written put and
compensation
options 32 = = 75,561 75,561
— — 128,763 128,763
2012
The Company
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Liabilities
Convertible notes 32 — — 56,177 56,177
Written put and
compensation
options 32 — — 131,987 131,987
— — 188,164 188,164

During the years there was no transfer between instruments in Level 1 and Level 2.

Movement in the balance of Level 3 fair value measurements is discussed in note 32 (ii).
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(f) Fair values (continued)

(i)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as
at 31 March 2013 and 2012 except as follows:

(1) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries and associates of the Group and/or the Company are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms. Given these terms it is not
meaningful to disclose their fair values.

(2)  Unlisted equity securities of $368,695,000 (2012: $312,556,000) do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and therefore their fair values cannot be reliably
measured. They are held for strategic purposes and recognised at cost less impairment
losses at the end of the reporting period.

(g) Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of
the following financial instruments:

v

(i)

(i)

Securities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period without any
deduction of transaction costs.

Interest-bearing borrowings, finance lease liabilities and available-for-sale debt securities.

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the current
market interest rates for similar financial instruments.

Financial guarantees

The fair value of financial guarantees issued is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates
charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

(9) Estimation of fair values (continued)

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The estimate of the fair value of the convertible notes and warrants is measured using a
binomial lattice model with the following assumptions:
2013

Issued by the Issued by a
Company subsidiary

Share price $0.95 US$2.93
Expected volatility 36.36% 35.19%
Expected dividends 1.11% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.17% 0.77%
2012

Issued by the Issued by a

Company subsidiary

Share price $0.99 Us$1,783
Expected volatility 43.10% 34.04%
Expected dividends 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.35% 1.30%

The estimate of the fair value of the written put and compensation option is measured using a
binomial lattice model with the following assumptions:

2013 2012

Issued by the Issued by the

Company Company

Share price $8.14 $12.53
Expected volatility 53.59% 46.43%
Expected dividends 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 3.77% 2.84%

164 GOLDEN MEDITECH HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

39 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment outstanding at 31 March
2013 not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Restated
Contracted for 405,298 241,827

(b) As at 31 March 2013, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Restated

Within 1 year 29,398 25,661 8,421 5,667
After 1 year but within 5 years 28,309 38,967 16,140 —
After 5 years = 51,464 = —
57,707 116,092 24,561 5,667

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to five years, with an option to renew the leases upon expiry when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

Lease terms of properties of the Group situated on land held under operating leases are disclosed in
note 15(d).
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39 COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Other commitments

At 31 March 2013, the Group is committed to contribute a further US$6,101,000 (2012:
US$9,022,000), equivalent to $47,588,000 (2012: $70,372,000), as further investments in an
unlisted private equity fund classified as available-for-sale equity securities.

The Group entered into an agreement with an institution for the research and development of
medicines for treatments which make use of cord blood stem cells. Commitments as of 31 March
2013 under this agreement amount to RMB2,000,000 (2012: RMB2,000,000), equivalent to
$2,475,000 (2012: $2,467,000).

The Group entered several co-operation agreements with third-parties in relation to the operation
of cord blood banks. As at 31 March 2013, the total future minimum payments under co-operation
agreements are payable as follows:

The Group
2013 2012
$°000 $'000
Restated
Within 1 year 7,424 7,402
After 1 year but within 5 years 29,696 26,858
After 5 years 70,527 49,551
107,647 83,811

40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2012, the Company has guaranteed the obligations of a subsidiary under certain
convertible notes with a principal amount of $218,400,000 issued by the subsidiary (see note 32(b)(i)).
The convertible notes were acquired by the Company on 24 August 2012 and such guarantee became
obsolete.

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of the guarantees as their fair value
cannot be reliably measured and their transaction price was $nil.
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42

43

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

Since December 2001, the Company operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme™)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $20,000 (effective from 1 June 2012, such
monthly income cap has been revised to $25,000). Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to make
contributions at approximately 20% of the employees’ salaries and wages to defined contribution
retirement schemes organised by the local Social Security Bureau in respect of the retirement benefits for
the Group's employees in the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other significant obligation to make payments in respect of
retirement benefits of the employees.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with related companies

There were no material related party transactions during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel remuneration represents amounts paid to the Company's directors as
disclosed in note 9 and the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed
in note 35(d).
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44 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2013 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements.

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the Company’s and the Group’s financial statements.

45 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2013, the directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the
Group to be Bio Garden Inc., which is incorporated in British Virgin Islands. This entity does not produce
financial statements available for public use.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial information of the Group is set out below:

RESULTS
Year ended Year ended Yearended Yearended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Restated Restated Restated Restated
Turnover 497,756 580,763 721,178 895,869 1,079,062
Profit from operations 220,043 205,886 374,213 218,380 283,461
Finance costs (13,091) (10,756) (9,356) (9,987) (57,080)
Gain on deemed disposal of interests
in associates and joint ventures — — 14,713 — —
(Loss)/gain on disposal of
interest in associates — — (2,628) 41,436 8,527
Changes in fair value of financial
liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss — (102,357) 36,009 (32,506) (21,469)
Share of profits less losses of associates
and joint ventures (84,621) 57,354 65,968 105,759 85,292
Profit before taxation 122,331 150,127 478,919 323,082 298,731
Income tax (41,995) (50,846) (84,943) (44,922) (89,964)
Profit for the year 80,336 99,281 393,976 278,160 208,767
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company 57,089 74,321 311,252 152,877 135,660
Non-controlling interests 23,247 24,960 82,724 125,283 73,107
Profit for the year 80,336 99,281 393,976 278,160 208,767

Note 1:  As a result of the Group's early adoption of HKFRS 10, figures of the years 2009 to 2012 have been
restated. Please refer to note 2(c) to the financial statements for further details.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Restated Restated Restated Restated

Fixed assets 414,769 458,132 1,304,296 3,042,675 3,371,830
Intangible assets 84,079 902,156 1,007,967 1,009,224 975,354
Goodwill 67,169 494,287 513,689 569,844 571,222
Interest in associates 518,715 543,698 849,440 792,215 792,880
Interest in joint ventures 712,639 722,417 61,096 62,981 62,951
Available-for-sale securities 143,260 165,687 368,534 435,174 480,029
Inventories - 33,039 37,516 41,908 48,482
Trade and other receivables 944,346 768,709 1,256,661 315,923 571,645
Deferred tax assets 6,794 12,152 26,488 31,215 29,169

2,891,771 4,100,277 5,425,687 6,301,159 6,903,562

Current assets 1,222,081 1,455,658 1,987,168 2,313,829 2,797,898
Total assets 4,113,852 5,555,935 7,412,855 8,614,988 9,701,460
Current liabilities (128,508) (386,934) (620,214) (1,827,716) (1,490,510)
Total assets less current liabilities 3,985,344 5,169,001 6,792,641 6,787,272 8,210,950
Non-current liabilities (447,822) (1,021,871) (1,694,171) (927,156) (2,084,609)
Net assets 3,537,522 4,147,130 5,098,470 5,860,116 6,126,341
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 3,180,360 3,317,556 3,823,316 4,063,492 4,465,441

Non-controlling interests 357,162 829,574 1,275,154 1,796,624 1,660,900
Total equity 3,537,522 4,147,130 5,098,470 5,860,116 6,126,341
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